WLICH
HE o

J% Uy 8 9E Stock code:2338.HK

2019 | 4E )t

Annual Repori

——

z = {7 - =Y
;{E%Eﬂﬂﬂzlnﬁﬂogm




CONTENTS B &%

02

06

07

15

25

34

74

77

92

Corporate Information
AREHR

Financial Highlights
HMBEE

Chairman’s Statement
IERESE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENREDN

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
Ex EENEREEAE

Directors’ Report
ExaRs

Supervisory Committee’s Report
EEZgRE

Corporate Governance Report
TEEREE

Auditors’ Report
B ®mE

101 Consolidated Balance Sheet

AHEERER

104

106

108

110

112

113

115

118

402

Consolidated Income Statement
EHFEE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EHRREZSB X

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHBEERER

Company Balance Sheet
NREEEER

Company Income Statement
DA R ER

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREEEBR

Company Cash Flow Statement
RAREREX

Notes to Financial Statements
R ¥ EY

Supplemental Information on Financial Statem
MBHRERBEER ;

Financial Summary

PMBHE



NFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Xu Xinyu (Executive President)

Sun Shaojun (Executive President)

Yuan Hongming (Executive President)

Yan Jianbo (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors

Jiang Kui

Gordon Riske

Michael Martin Macht

Wang Yuepu (resigned on 26 March 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Zhang Zhong

Wang Gongyong

Ning Xiangdong

Li Hongwu

Wen Daocai

SUPERVISORS

Lu Wenwu
Ma Changhai
Wu Hongwei

COMPANY SECRETARY AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Kwong Kwan Tong (CPA, FCCA, ACMA)

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

Wang Li (appointed on 5 November 2019)
Hao Qinggui (resigned on 5 November 2019)

02 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. L@ NBRMNERLD

g5

HITES

B (EFRREEHNTE)
R ORBTTHEE)

R EBITAEE)
RALOE(HTTHRE)
RER(HITAE)

B (HITAEE)

FHITES

=

Gordon Riske

Michael Martin Macht
FTHERZZZZF=ZA=+BET)

BUFATES
OB
IEE
B[] R
FHR
BE A

BS

BXH
BEE
RAKE

No) k2 E 0I5 EeEs
BB 48 = (CPA, FCCA, ACMA)

ESSWS
IBR-F-AF+-AHE LD
MEEMR-T-—NAF+—ARARE)



CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

SECURITIES AFFAIR REPRESENTATIVE

Wu Di

197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street

High Technology Industrial Development Zone
Weifang

Shandong Province

The People’s Republic of China

Postal Code: 261061

Tel: (86) (536)-229 7056

Fax: (86) (536)-819 7073

Website: http://Awww.weichaipower.com

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Xu Xinyu
Kwong Kwan Tong

REGISTERED ADDRESS AND HEADQUARTERS
OF THE COMPANY

197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street

High Technology Industrial Development Zone
Weifang

Shandong Province

The People’s Republic of China

Postal Code: 261061

Tel: (86) (536)-229 7056

Fax: (86) (536)-819 7073

Website: http://www.weichaipower.com

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3407-3408

34/F Gloucester Tower
Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountant LLP
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NFORMATION (CONTINUED)

AuDIiT COMMITTEE

Wang Gongyong (Chairman)
Zhang Zhong

Ning Xiangdong

Li Hongwu

Wen Daocai
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COMMITTEE
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Michael Martin Macht (Vice-chairman)
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Yuan Hongming
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Zhang Zhong (Chairman)
Tan Xuguang
Wang Gongyong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Zhang Zhong (Chairman)
Xu Xinyu

Wang Gongyong

Li Hongwu
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) NBER (18)

HoNG KONG H-SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER SEBIREXZNBFPRE
OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited EEPREBLFELBRAA
Shops 1712-1716 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre a3
183 Queen’s Road East AT
Wanchai 2ERKEER1835
Hong Kong A M N17HE1712-17165% &
SHARE INFORMATION % 3 & il
Number of issued shares as at 7,933,873,895 Shares RZE—h&F 7,933,873,895 f%
31 December 2019: (5,990,833,895 A Shares, +-A=1+—HH (5,990,833,895 iR A %
and 1,943,040,000 H Shares) BEITRMNEE : %2.1,943,040,000 J% H %)
Board lot (H Shares) 1,000 H Shares R 5B A (HR) 1,000 % H A%
(A Shares) 100 A Shares (AR%) 100 & AR
Abbreviation of the Company’s share and Stock Codes AR E B R R SR
A Shares: Weichai Power (#4¢8) 1) 000338 AR 4 52 B) 7 (Weichai Power) 000338
H Shares: Weichai Power (#4248} 17) 2338 HA% : 4 42 &) 1) (Weichai Power) 2338
Stock Exchange Listings WS
A Shares: Shenzhen Stock Exchange AR RYNEHZ SR
H Shares: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited HER: BABMARXSMARRAA
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) 3 3 )]
INVESTORS AND MEDIA RELATIONS REETNGEREER
The Company: Capital Operation Department AT BEXRBER
Tel: (86) 536-229 7056 % 3 1 (86) 536-229 7056
Fax: (86) 536-819 7073 {55 : (86) 536-819 7073
Website: www.weichaipower.com #4E + www.weichaipower.com
Public Relations Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited REBEER BRMEREERAA
Consultant: Tel: (852) 2851 1038 B % &% 1 (852) 2851 1038
Fax: (852) 2598 1588 {5 & : (852) 2598 1588
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FTREHBREES

Dear Shareholders, ZAI MR

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results of RAANERERESFSEERARABLE=F—H

the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. F+ A=+ —HEBAENEFEE -

I. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS — K E DR
In 2019, the Chinese government insisted upon the general keynote of —E-NF HPERNBRREERIGET
making progress while maintaining stability, with firm commitment to FHRER BRHEAIERES BHUH
putting the philosophy of new development into practice and promoting KAEBEREAIR BEBREDRE
high-quality development through strengthening the supply-side BEER - ILEMOERE SR B
structural reform while ensuring stability in employment, finance, foreign SNEIBONE CIBIRE CBIEHIE
trade, foreign investment, investment and expectations. As a result, the REEBEETHREYIR EREEBRTRE
nationwide economic performance sustained a general trend of stability F-2FBEANEELABEBARBEOIEE
with steady improvement in development quality. In 2019, the national T RAEERE1% ZTEREZKREN

gross domestic product reached RMB99.1 trillion, representing a year-
on-year growth of 6.1%. Driven by the national investment in
infrastructure in the PRC, as well as benefiting from various factors such
as the imposition of more stringent emission regulations and anti-
overloading policies and structural adjustment in transportation industry,

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 %R 07
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AIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

the commercial vehicles and the construction machinery markets
maintained stable performance, while the heavy-duty trucks market
delivered sales of 1,174,000 units in total, representing a year-on-year
growth of 2.3%. The construction machinery industry (among which
forklift truck engines use internal combustion engines) delivered sales of
741,000 units, representing a year-on-year growth of 5.3%, among
which the sales volume of wheel loaders with a load capacity of 3
tonnes and above was 112,000 units, representing a year-on-year
growth of 5.6%.

During the reporting period, the Company’s revenue increased by 9.5%
compared with that in the corresponding period of 2018 to
approximately RMB174,361 million. The net profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB9,105 million,
representing an increase of 5.2% compared with that in the
corresponding period of 2018. The basic earnings per share was
RMB1.15, representing an increase of 6.0% compared with that in the
corresponding period of 2018.

During the reporting period, upholding a strategy driven by complete
vehicles and machineries, the Company sped up its technological
upgrade towards high-end product development to increase the
competitiveness of its products in the market. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited (BkFAEASE AR AR]), a controlling subsidiary of
the Company focused on advantageous resources and speeded up
marketing transformation to maintain its leading advantages in natural
gas tankers, port tractors, economic coal trucks, urban construction
muck trucks, oilfield trucks, and heavy duty trucks segment markets.
Also, the company accelerated the improvement of its research and
development capability and the application of cutting-edge and key
technologies, and completed the design and development of more than
20 models of China VI vehicles and the announcement and reporting of
the first batch of vehicles to be launched. In respect of smart driving,
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited was the first in the industry
to complete the testing of the L2 lane keeping aid system and achieved
its mass production. Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (BRPE =t AR E
f£AR]), a controlling subsidiary of the Company, persisted to drive
innovation and focused on strengthening product competitiveness with
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

core technologies; its speed reducers are widely compatible with various
types of vehicles including passenger vehicles, trucks and light-duty and
medium-duty trucks while its S-series gear boxes are compatible with
various China VI vehicles, becoming a dominant configuration in the
optimization of high-end heavy duty trucks; its self-adjusting clutch has
been put into mass production successfully and holds a leading position
in the world, further increasing the influence of its brand. Given the
advancement in smart manufacturing and information technology, high-
efficient, swift and smart logistics services continued to facilitate
industrial reform. KION Group AG, an overseas controlling subsidiary of
the Company, is the world’s No.2 and Europe’s No.1 provider of forklift
trucks and services, and the world’s No.1 provider of supply chain
solutions. Seizing the opportunities presented by the development of
global electronic commerce and supply chain services, KION Group AG
integrated automation and digitalization to provide holistic solutions of
intra-logistics, which could constantly enable our customers to build up
their competitive strengths.

During the reporting period, facing the complicated situation in the
macro economy and in the automobile industry at home and abroad,
the Company remained focused on developing its principal businesses.
Driven by innovation, we have been heading towards high-end
development and stably pushing ahead with various tasks, thereby
sustaining growth and achieving a historical height in results despite the
adversity. Firstly, we explored segment markets and optimized product
structure. We seized market opportunities with full understanding of
customers’ needs and organized production in a scientific manner.
Through engaging in a number of sales activities such as “Work hard for
the first half of the year to achieve sales target”, sales amount of
products under M-series, N-series and H-series increased rapidly,
achieving simultaneous growth in traditional products and emerging
strategic products. With significant increase in production and sales
volume, we solidified our leading position in the industry. Secondly, we
integrated global research and development resources and fully
expedited the pace of technological innovation. Leveraging the globally
coordinated research and development platform, we expedited our
efforts in achieving breakthroughs in core technologies. We have
completed the development of the full China VI series of engines, which
in turn will fully enhance our product competiveness of all series of high-
end power equipment. Through precise positioning of future
development directions of the industry and the market, we promoted
new technological development and application of new technologies in
areas such as new energy, electric control and smart network. To firmly
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AIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

press ahead with the major projects of the PRC regarding fuel cells, we
completed the development of a number of engines powered by
hydrogen-fueled electric cells, and made strenuous efforts in
constructing hydrogen refueling station and promoting the application
of vehicles powered by fuel cells, accumulating an aggregate operating
mileage of more than 1 million kilometres and contributing to the
launch of the first “green power for hydrogen energy city” project in
Shandong. In addition, through the strategic restructure of ARADEX AG,
a German company, we are able to master the core technology of motor
controllers. Thirdly, leveraging the “Belt and Road” initiative, we
achieved new breakthroughs with promising development prospects in
all overseas business. Businesses under brands of KION, Dematic, Linde
Hydraulics and Baudouin continued to grow and have strengthened the
synergy effect between domestic and overseas development. Localized
manufacturing projects of engines and gear boxes have been carried
out, laying a solid foundation for overseas products and market.
Fourthly, we strived to improve product quality in meeting the world-
class standard. The full implementation of PPM quality indicators system
together with all-staff innovation, technological breakthroughs and
intelligent upgrade, we have been moving ahead towards zero defects.
At the same time, we gradually introduced our quality management
standards to the entire industry chain and promoted the implementation
of WOS methodology, both enhancing product quality and maximizing
values for customers.

DiVIDENDS AND CAPITALISATION OF RESERVE

On 26 March 2020, the Company’s 2019 profit distribution proposal
was approved by the Company’s fifth meeting of the fifth session of the
Board. The Company proposed a distribution to all shareholders of a
cash dividend of RMB1.36 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based
on the 7,933,873,895 shares available for distribution as at 31
December 2019, without any capitalisation of reserve. Completion of the
proposal is subject to the consideration and approval by the 2019
Annual General Meeting. The expected payment date for the cash
dividend as well as the relevant record date on the entitlements to the
payment of the cash dividend will be determined by the Board and
announced no later than two months after the date of obtaining the
said shareholders’ approval.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

I11.

IV.

ACQUISITION AND CONSOLIDATION

We consolidated the high-quality resources of new energy and expedited
the replacement of “Old-power” with “New-power”. The completion of
the strategic acquisition of ARADEX AG, a German company, represents
another international strategic layout in the new energy sector, which
enabled us to master the core technology of electric control units
("ECU"), and successfully developed a new energy power system
integrating “cell+ motor+ ECU" providing a market advantage.

QUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

2020 will be the final year of the 13th Five-Year Plan for achieving the
central government’s goal of doubling the GDP and per capita income
as well as building a moderately prosperous society in all respects. Given
the complicated and volatile global environment, coupled with arduous
and challenging domestic tasks of reform and stable development,
macroeconomic conditions in China will be more difficult. From the
perspective of the international environment, there remains uncertainties
in the prospects of the global economy. Firstly, the international financial
market experienced significant fluctuations due to the spread of
COVID-19 and plunge in oil prices. Secondly, despite the temporary relief
of US-China trade tensions, material influence will still exist due to the
prevailing trade protectionism, resulting in impacts on market
expectation, export, and business production and operation. Thirdly,
uncertainties brought by the Brexit and conflicts among certain regions
have caused impacts on the global economy. From the perspective of
domestic environment, firstly while enterprises started to resume
operation and production as the COVID-19 was progressively brought
under control in the PRC, there will be a certain degree of rebound in
the economy. Secondly, China has to deal simultaneously with the
slowdown in economic growth, make difficult structural adjustments,
and absorb the effects of the previous economic stimulus policies, which
has caused downward pressure on its economy. Nevertheless, its
economy remains stable with moderate growth, and the basic long-term
positive trend remains unchanged. Thirdly, the possibility of reducing tax
and charges is low and marginal effects of the policy benefits will fade
out. In view of the international and domestic situations, we believe that
generally, China’s economy will face relatively high downward pressure
in 2020.
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AIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Company remains cautiously optimistic about the development of
the industry in which the Company operates. In 2020, it is estimated
that the heavy-duty truck market will remain steady, which will be
primarily driven by the following factors: as 2020 is the final year of the
Three-Year Action Plan for Winning the Blue Sky Defense Battle ( T
ERRBE =F178)51E) ), the policy requiring elimination of one
million China Il trucks must be implemented which, together with the
elimination of overloaded mixer trucks, dump trucks and large flatbed
trucks from the market by virtue of the stringent regulations on overload
and over-limit control, will bring forth replacement demand. Under the
impacts of the “5.21” incident, and the measures such as charging
highway tolls by axle and restrictions on overloaded vehicles, it is
expected that there will be demand in the replacement of certain
amount of light trucks by heavy trucks in the future. As the “Belt and
Road” initiative gains momentum, there will be greater room for the
overseas export business to grow.

In 2020, investment in domestic infrastructure will be stable with
moderate growth, which will drive an increase in demand of
construction machineries. Projects like urbanization and construction of
new villages according to the policy of “making up for shortfalls” will
drive the demand for compact excavators at a relatively large market
scale. The Ministry of Ecological Environment has issued the Notice on
Speeding up the Investigation and Coding Registration of Non-road
Mobile Machinery ( (BARA IR HEXE SEEEIZ BMIEE B EFRTE S5
T{EHI@E]) ) outlining emission control area in key districts. With strict
inspection on environmental protection, high emission products will be
eliminated gradually while the construction machinery industry will
operate on a high level. Demand for special vehicles for use in logistics,
urban delivery and sanitization will increase significantly. Leveraging the
synergy presented by its global research and development, the Company
strives to establish a high-end and cutting-edge platform for technology,
to seize and proactively respond to opportunities. At present, the
Company is the first in the industry to have completed the development
and marketing of road-going China VI engines, and has finished
preparatory works for non-road-going China Stage IV engines, in full
endorsement of the Blue Sky Defense Plan. The Board has full
confidence in the Company’s future development prospects.

2020 will be a critical year for the Company to achieve breakthroughs
and take lead in traditional businesses, as well as to expedite the
implementation of the “dual-million” strategy for engines. The Company
will focus on various key aspects such as market breakthroughs, product
innovation, replacement of “Old-power” with “New-power”, digital
transformation and enhancement of management and implement the
following:
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Firstly, focusing on the sales target of million units, we will formulate
precise marketing plans. On the basis of customers’ needs, we will
innovate our marketing strategies and push ahead with the
enhancement of marketing capability and creation of value for
customers during all processes, along the entire value chain and
throughout the lifecycle. We will strengthen marketing policy analysis
and market expansion, aiming at developing key customers and products
and achieving major breakthroughs in segment markets. Secondly,
driven by innovation, we strive to make breakthroughs and master a set
of core technologies. Leveraging the globally coordinated research and
development platform and a new “four-in-one” technological innovation
system consisting of “self-developed innovation+ open innovation+
professional innovation+ basic-research innovation”, we will speed up
the technological advancement to master critical and core technologies
in creating high-end products in full series and range, striving to reach
first-class in the world in terms of technology and innovation. Thirdly,
we will expand new industries and business formats, and create and
develop new engines. Fully capitalising on our strengths in complete
vehicles and machines industrial chain, we will push ahead to implement
and to promote the industrialization of major strategic and innovative
projects of new energy, hydraulics, smart driving and AMT, in order to
form advantages in technologies and scale and to take lead in the high-
quality transition from “Old-power” to “New-power”. Fourthly, we will
speed up the pace of digital transformation to develop into an intelligent
enterprise. With Concentric Cloud as a carrier, we will establish an
industrial internet platform supporting our outstanding operation and
digital innovation, and a flexible customer-centred operational structure.
We will also build an IT governance system in support of our digital
capabilities, and enhance all-round digital governance of human,
financial and material resources, as well as of production, supply and
sales. Fifthly, we will innovate systems and mechanisms, creating the
most excellent eco-system for innovation. Based on the Company’s
strategic goals, we will strengthen innovation in the management of
strategies, human resources and operation, implement measures like
pre-project and equity incentives, and open up promotion pathways,
with an aim to build the most competitive and innovative eco-system in
the industry, and to realize mutual growth and benefit-sharing with our
employees.
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ATEMENT (CONTINUED)

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care
and support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and

dedication in the past year!

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS SIBE5ismEniy

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of EEMARERAEEHE_ZT-—NAE+_A
the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 T+ B FERKEXEC EEENRED
(“the Year") as follows: FBET

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is a
leading company in the markets of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machines, hydraulic controlling parts and automotive electronics and
parts and components and is equipped with the most comprehensive
supply chain of engines, gear boxes and axles and offers related
aftersales market services. Meanwhile, with the Group's leading
advantages in intelligent logistics, it could provide the most
comprehensive logistics solutions to its customers.

1.  Commercial Vehicles and Construction Machinery
Industries
In 2019, the Chinese government insisted upon high-quality
development with a general keynote of making stable progress,
and successfully achieved six stabilities in terms of employment,
finance, foreign trade, foreign investment, investment and
expectations. China’s economic performance sustained a general
trend of stability. In the past year, the gross domestic product of
the PRC reached RMB99.1 trillion, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 6.1%.

Benefitting from the favourable factors such as government’s
infrastructure and investment, upgrade of emission standards and
more stringent control over overload and over-limit trucks, as well
as the rapid development of the domestic logistics industry,
commercial vehicles and construction machinery industries
operated on a high level. The heavy-duty truck market achieved
annual sales of approximately 1.174 million units, representing a
year-on-year growth of nearly 2.3%, whereas the construction
machinery industry, including internal combustion forklift trucks,
achieved annual sales of approximately 741,000 units,
representing a year-on-year growth of nearly 5.3%.
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AGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solutions Industry

During the Year, trade disputes among certain countries continued
and the economic growth momentum of China and India slowed
down, coupled with the adverse factors such as the uncertainty
brought by the Brexit and the reduction of U.S. tax benefits, the
global economic growth dropped to 2.9% from 3.6% in 2018.
With weakened demand in the global trade, orders for industrial
forklift trucks also slightly decreased to approximately 1,509,000
units from approximately 1,541,000 units in the previous year,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 2.1%. In
particular, North America, West Europe and East Europe saw a
relatively significant drop of 7.6%, 6.7% and 5.6%, respectively,
as compared with the corresponding period last year, while Asia
Pacific was the only region which recorded a positive growth. The
supply chain solutions industry has benefited from the continuous
development of e-commerce, boosting the demand for warehouse
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II. THE GROUP’S BUSINESS T REBZEW
An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in Note XIV.2 to AEBMEBSBZAIWERE G
the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of BEMT T -2 AEBTBEERZ
the operating conditions of the major products of the Group: AR B T
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Powertrain, Complete Vehicles and Machines and
Key Components

The Group has the most comprehensive powertrain system
covering engines, gear boxes and axles. With its continuous efforts
in research and development, the Company capitalized on the
synergy and advantages of the industry supply chain and
enhanced its core competitiveness on an ongoing basis. In 2019,
the Company sold a total of approximately 742,000 units of
engines and approximately 1,002,000 units of gear boxes,
representing a year-on-year increase of 10.1% and 10.2% as
compared with approximately 674,000 units and approximately
909,000 units, respectively, in the corresponding period of 2018.
The engines segment contributed RMB37,324 million to the
Group's sales revenue during the Year, representing a year-on-
year growth of 11.3%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Group sold 161,000 units of trucks,
representing a growth of approximately 5.2% as compared with
approximately 153,000 units for the same period in 2018. Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BRFEEESEAR AR, a
controlling subsidiary of the Group, fully took a leading role in
complete vehicles by constantly enhancing its research and
development capability and the application of cutting-edge key
technologies, thereby sustaining a leading position in a number of
product segment markets.

Intelligent Logistics

Due to the impacts of the demand for industrial forklift trucks,
global sales order for forklift trucks decreased slightly from
approximately 217,000 units in the corresponding period last year
to approximately 214,000 units during the Year, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.4%. Driven by the
increase in forklift truck orders with a higher value and the related
services, the total order amount increased by approximately 1.9%
from EUR6,211 million in the corresponding period last year to
EUR6,331 million, and the total order amount of supply chain
solutions recorded a year-on-year increase of approximately
14.3% to EUR2,771 million. Intelligent logistics services
contributed approximately RMB67,005 million to the Group'’s sales
revenue during the Year, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 11.1% from approximately RMB60,308 million in
the corresponding period last year.

Last year, the Company predicted that the sales revenue for 2019
would reach approximately RMB175.0 billion, representing a
growth of approximately 10%. The actual sales revenue amounted
to approximately RMB174.4 billion, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 9.5%. Facing the complicated situation
in the macro economy and in the automobile industry at home
and abroad during the Year, the Company remained its focus on
developing its principal businesses. Driven by innovation, the
Company has been heading towards high-end development,
exploring segment markets and optimizing product structure. The
Company also integrated global research and development
resources and strived to improve product quality in meeting the
world-class standard. All of these tasks have been stably pushed
ahead with, thereby sustaining growth and achieving a historical
height in results despite the adversity.
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AGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Looking ahead into 2020, given the complicated and volatile
global environment, there remains uncertainties in the prospects
of the global economy. The rising global trade protectionism, the
conflicts between the U.S. and Iran, the Brexit and the outbreak of
COVID-19 will bring impacts to the global economy and further
slow down its development. It is expected that the domestic
economy will face greater downward pressure. 2020 will be a
critical year for the Company to achieve breakthroughs and take
lead in traditional businesses, as well as to expedite the
implementation of the “dual-million” strategy for engines. The
Company will seek breakthroughs in segment markets, consolidate
its development strengths, and speed up the pace of digital
transformation by innovation to develop into an intelligent
enterprise, enabling the Company to achieve its goal towards
high-quality, stable and progressive growth. As at 31 December
2019, the Company’s order on hand amounted to approximately
RMB38.4 billion. The Company expects that its sales revenue in
2020 would increase by approximately 8% to approximately
RMB188.5 billion.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's Results of Operations

a. Revenue
In 2019, benefitting from the high-level operation of the
commercial vehicles and construction machinery industries
and the continuous development of the global e-commerce,
demand for warehouse automation increased rapidly. Driven
by innovation, the Company’s continually enhanced its core
competitiveness in terms of costs, technologies and quality
with strong operating performance. During the Year, all
business segments recorded growth in revenue. The revenue
increased by approximately RMB15,105 million or
approximately 9.5%, from approximately RMB159,256
million in 2018 to approximately RMB174,361 million for
the Year. In particular, revenue from principal operations
increased by approximately RMB15,465 million or
approximately 9.9%, from approximately RMB155,536
million in the previous year to approximately RMB171,001
million for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Year, the Group generated profit from principal
operations in the amount of approximately RMB37,609
million, an increase of 7.7% from approximately
RMB34,933 million recorded in the corresponding period in
2018. Profit from principal operations maintained at a high
level of 22.0%, primarily attributable to the increase in
revenue from principal operations and the leading
advantages of the Company’s products. The Group has
completed the development and certification for the full
China VI series of engines. Its controlling subsidiary, Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, has completed the
application for the design and development of more than
20 models of China VI vehicles and the launch the first
batch of vehicle models, gradually implementing precise
breakthroughs in various segment markets.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses increased by approximately
6.0% to approximately RMB11,254 million in the Year from
approximately RMB10,619 million in the corresponding
period of 2018. The increase of distribution and selling
expenses was primarily attributable to the increase in staff
costs, freight and packaging costs and marketing expenses
due to the increase in sales amount. However, the strict cost
control brought down the distribution and selling expenses
as a percentage of revenue slightly to approximately 6.5%
in the Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB640 million or approximately 10.2%
from approximately RMB6,260 million in the corresponding
period of 2018 to approximately RMB6,900 million in the
Year, which was mainly due to the increase in staff costs
and external support fees as KION Group AG (“KION")
actively promoted the “KION's 2027 Strategy”, including
the establishment of two new plants in Pune, India and
Xiamen, China and modernisation of the existing production
facilities in Hamburg, Germany. The general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue was
approximately 4.0% in the Year.
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GEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Year, the Group's EBIT increased by
approximately RMB576 million or 3.8% to approximately
RMB15,585 million from approximately RMB15,009 million
in the corresponding period in 2018. The increase was
primarily attributable to the improvement in economies of
scale which increased as sales increased, while the Company
increased its investment in research and development,
bringing down EBIT margin from approximately 9.4% in the
corresponding period of the previous year to approximately
8.9% this Year.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased by approximately 192.4% to
approximately RMB220 million in the Year from
approximately RMB75 million in the corresponding period of
2018. This was mainly attributable to the exchange losses
and the increase in interest expense recognised for lease
liabilities due to the adoption of the New Standard for
Lease.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses increased by
approximately 9.5% from approximately RMB2,233 million
in the corresponding period in 2018 to approximately
RMB2,445 million in the Year. The Group's average effective
tax rate remained at a stable level of approximately 17.0%.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit increased by approximately 2.4%
from approximately RMB11,626 million in the corresponding
period of 2018 to approximately RMB11,907 million in the
Year. During the Year, the net profit margin of the Group
was approximately 6.8%, representing a slight decrease of
approximately 0.5 percentage points. This was primarily
attributable to the increased investment in research and
development by the Company and the expansion of
production capacity and upgrade of production facilities by
KION, which resulted in an increase in upfront cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Year, the Group generated operating cashflows
of approximately RMB23,835 million. A portion of such
proceeds was applied to acquiring 55% equity interest of
Tianjin Tsintel Technology Company Limited* (K25 & R
ABMR/A7]) (at a total consideration of approximately
RMB660 million) and 80% equity interest of ARADEX AG (at
a total consideration of approximately EUR28 million),
repaying borrowings, paying interest and acquiring property,
plant and equipment for the expansion of the Group’s
business. As of 31 December 2019, the Group’s gearing
ratio (Net interest-bearing debts/(Shareholders’ equity + net
interest-bearing debts)) was 29.9% (31 December 2018:
32.9%).

2. Financial Position

a.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB236,832 million, of which approximately
RMB126,185 million were current assets. As at 31
December 2019, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB48,818 million (as at 31 December
2018: approximately RMB38,210 million). On the same
date, the Group’s total liabilities was approximately
RMB167,057 million, of which approximately RMB105,877
million were current liabilities. The current ratio was
approximately 1.19x (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately 1.22x).
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NAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB69,775 million, of which approximately
RMB45,224 million was attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the remaining balance was minority interests.
Interest attributable to minority interest holders includes the
perpetual capital securities in the principal amount of
US$775 million issued in September 2017. The borrowings
of the Group as at 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB29,770 million, which included bonds of
approximately R\MB13,082 million and bank borrowings of
approximately RMB 16,688 million. Borrowings repayable on
demand or within a period not exceeding one year were
approximately RMB5,315 million, borrowings repayable
within a period of more than one year but not exceeding
two years were approximately RMB2,091 million;
borrowings repayable within a period of more than two
years but not exceeding five years were approximately
RMB8&,888 million; and borrowings repayable within a
period of more than 5 years were approximately RMB394
million. The bank borrowings included approximately
RMB3,008 million of fixed interest rate bank borrowings
and approximately RMB13,680 million of floating interest
rate bank borrowings. Other than Euro-denominated
borrowings equivalent to approximately RMB12,877 million,
USD-denominated borrowings equivalent to approximately
RMB685 million and GBP-denominated borrowings
equivalent to approximately RMB254 million, the borrowings
are primarily Renminbi-denominated borrowings. The
revenue of the Group is mainly in Renminbi and Euro.
Contracts have been entered into with financial institutions
to swap the USD400 million USD-denominated bonds issued
in September 2015 and the USD775 million USD-
denominated perpetual capital securities issued in
September 2017 to Euro, and foreign-currency forward
contracts were employed by subsidiaries to hedge the
currency risk against US dollars and Pound sterlings,
therefore the Group does not consider the currency risk
facing its future general cash outflow significant. As a
policy, the Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debts and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits, notes receivable,
accounts receivable and receivable financing of
approximately RMB22,897 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB15,863 million) were pledged to banks
to secure the Group's notes payable, letter of guarantee,
acceptance bills and letter of credit, etc. issued by banks.
The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing bank interest
rates. The pledge will be released upon the settlement of
the relevant bank borrowings. The fair value of the bank
deposits as at the balance sheet date was approximately the
same as the carrying amount. Certain other assets were also
pledged by the Group to secure the Group's borrowings.

Contingencies

As at December 2019, the Group provided certain
distributors and agents bank guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB2,643 million (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB2,482 million) to secure their obtaining
and use of banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group provided guarantee for
joint liabilities in respect of failure of the lessee under
finance lease to settle instalment payments plus interest.
Risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for joint
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB2,734 million (as
at 31 December 2018: approximately RMB2,303 million).
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AGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB3,088 million (as at 31
December 2018: approximately RMB3,584 million),
principally for the capital expenditure for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. The capital expenditure will
be financed by internal resources.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no other
investment commitments (as at 31 December 2018: Nil).

3. Other Financial Information

a.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Employees

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately
80,200 employees (including approximately 34,600
employees of KION). During the Year, the Group paid
remuneration of approximately RMB25,758 million. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their
merits, qualifications and competence.

During the Year, upholding a strategic and problem-
oriented approach, the Group provided 1.479 million
training hours to 150,000 participants for the full year,
which translated to an average of 107.2 training hours per
person, incurring training expenses of approximately RMB51
million in total.

Material Investment, Major Acquisition and
Disposal

During the Year, the Group did not have any material
investment, major acquisition or disposal.

Subsequent Events

On 26 March 2020, the Company’s 2019 profit distribution
proposal was approved by the Company’s fifth meeting of
the fifth session of the Board. The Company proposed a
distribution to all shareholders of a cash dividend of
RMB1.36 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based on
the 7,933,873,895 shares available for distribution after
deducting treasury shares as at 31 December 2019, without
any capitalisation of reserve. Completion of the proposal is
subject to the consideration and approval by the 2019
Annual General Meeting. The expected payment date for
the cash dividend as well as the relevant record date on the
entitlements to the payment of the cash dividend will be
determined by the Board and announced no later than two
months after the date of obtaining the said shareholders’
approval.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(1) DIRECTORS

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 58, is the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman of Shandong Heavy Industry
Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (which
holds A Shares of the Company with details as set out below and is thus
interested in the shares of the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance) and chairman of China National Heavy Duty
Truck Group Co., Ltd.,. He is also the chairman of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited and Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., and the
supervisor of KION Group AG. Mr. Tan joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1977 and had held various positions including chairman and
general manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.,
general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Co., Ltd., director of Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. and chairman of
Shandong Communications Industry Group Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is
a senior engineer and holds a doctor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Tan
was appointed as a Representative of the Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth and
Thirteenth National People’s Congress of the PRC. He receives a special
government subsidy from the State Council and was honored “National
Labor Model”, "S#NfERBEEMNEXEIRSL " (the Gold Award of the
4th Yuan Baohua Enterprise Management), “Excellent Person Award” in
China Automobile Industry in celebration of the 40th anniversary of the
opening up of China, China Outstanding Quality Person, “Liu Yuan
Zhang Quality and Technology Contribution Award”, “Heart-touching
Person in Shandong” in celebration of the 40th anniversary of the
opening up of China, the “Leonardo Award” granted in Italy, Model of
Qilu Era (&85 ), Qilu Outstanding Talent Award (B &4 H A A
#%), “The Most Beautiful Fighter” in the 70th Anniversary of the
establishment of the New China, the Outstanding Entrepreneur in
Shandong Province, and Shandong Governor Quality Award.

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 56, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1986 and had held various positions including the
director of the quality control department and the marketing
department, general manager of marketing and general manager of the
sales and marketing company of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr.
Zhang is currently holding various positions including a director of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.,, XCMG Construction Machinery Co.,
Ltd., and Lovol Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist
and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering and an MBA degree.
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IRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

26

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 56, is an Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory
in 1986 and had held various positions including the deputy general
manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., deputy
general manager and executive deputy general manager of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd.,
chairman of Weichai Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of
Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology Development Co., Ltd., chairman
of Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd.,
chairman of Société International des Moteurs Baudouin and chairman
of Weichai America Corp. Mr. Xu is currently holding various positions
including a director of Weichai Group Holdings Limited, director of
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd.,
chairman of Weichai Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.a r.l. and director of
Ferretti International Holdings S.p.A. Mr. Xu is a senior economist and
holds a bachelor’s degree in science and an MBA degree.

Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 54, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1988 and had held various positions including a
supervisor of the engineering department, the chief engineer of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. and
director of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun is currently
holding various positions including a director of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited, chairman of the U.S.— based PSI Inc., chairman of Shandong
Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai (Weifang)
New Energy Technology Co., Ltd, and director of the Canada-based
Ballard Power Systems Inc., and a director of KAMAZ Weichai LLC. He is
a researcher in applied engineering technology, and holds a doctoral
degree in engineering. He is a candidate of "BIR B T& A4 L2"
(National Hundred and Ten Million Talents Project), receives a special
subsidy from the State Council and was appointed as “ LB & A RBFF
I EBERFIEEZK" (Taishan Mountain scholar specialist appointed by
Shandong People’s Government).

Mr. Yuan Hongming, Chinese, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager and chief engineer of Shaanxi
Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (BRPEREEBE AR E(TAR]), deputy
general manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BX7g
BEARAE AR /AR]) and general manager and chief accountant of
Shaanxi Automotive Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (PR EE1ZEE AR A
7). He is currently holding various positions including the chairman of
the board of directors of Shaanxi Automotive Holdings Group Co., Ltd.
(BRo AR E B AR A R]), the chairman of the board of directors
and director of Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (BRFE/REEE B[R
&1L/ 7)), and the general manager and director of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited (BRFEER! B AR /A F]). Mr. Yuan is a senior
engineer and a holder of a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Yuan
also obtained the qualification of a machinery senior professional

manager (##H T X PERRBELIEAN).

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Yan Jianbo, Chinese, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 8 June 2017 and as an Executive President
of the Company on 5 September 2017. He held various positions
including the deputy general manager of Shaanxi Auto Gear General
Works (BRFE)TE &% 42 M), deputy general manager and director of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd. (BRPELT4FEMARE(EAR]), and deputy
general manager, general manager and director of Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRPE A L4 AEEHEBERETA
&)). He is currently holding various positions including the secretary of
the party committee and the chairman of the board of directors of
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (BRI AT /AEE
FHEFEBREEAT), the general manager and a director of Shaanxi
Fast Gear Co. Ltd. (RFVALFEHEREEAR), and the party
committee secretary and the chairman of Qinchuan Machine Tool & Tool
(Group) Corp. Mr. Yan is a senior engineer and a holder of an executive
master of business administration degree.

Mr. Wang Yuepu, Chinese, aged 57, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 30 June 2014. Mr. Wang held various
positions including a division head of the investment division of Weifang
City Planning Commission (4 mat£lZ 8€), a deputy director of the
Weifang City Electric Power Construction Office (45 E /& A
%), a deputy general manager of Weifang Investment Company and the
party committee secretary, chairman and general manager of Weifang
Investment Company, a supervisor of Shandong International Trust Co.,
Ltd.. Mr. Wang is presently the party committee secretary, chairman and
general manager of Weifang Investment Group Company Limited, and a
director of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.. He is a senior
economist and holds a Master of Business Administration degree. Mr.
Wang resigned as a Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 26 March 2020.

Mr. Jiang Kui, Chinese, aged 55, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 29 June 2012. He had held various
positions including engineer and deputy general manager of assembly
department of Shandong Bulldozer General Factory (158 #1448 ),
deputy general manager of Shantui Import and Export Company (LLIH#E#
H A2 7)), deputy director, director of manufacturing department,
deputy general manager and director of Shantui Construction Machinery
Co., Ltd. (ILETIRHMAL D BIRAF]), deputy general manager of
Shandong Engineering Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (B T2 EEH
[R/A7]), executive deputy general manager and vice chairman of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, chairman of Shanzhong Jianji Co., Ltd.
and director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. He is currently
holding various positions including the general manager of Shandong
Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a director of Shantui Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd., a supervisor of KION Group AG, a director of the
U.S.— based PSI Inc., a director of Sinotruck (Hong Kong) Limited, a
director of the Canada-based Ballard Power Systems Inc., and the
chairman of Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy Technology Company
Limited. He is a senior engineer and holds an MBA degree.
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ECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Gordon Riske, American/German, aged 62, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 June 2013. He was the
chief executive officer of KUKA Roboter GmbH, chairman of the
executive board of directors of Deutz AG in Cologne, Germany, chief
executive officer of KION Material Handling GmbH and a member of the
board of directors of KION Holding 2 GmbH. He is currently the chief
executive officer of KION Group AG. He holds a degree in electronic
engineering and a bachelor’s degree in business administration.

Mr. Michael Martin Macht, German, aged 59, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously a researcher at the Fraunhofer Institute for Industrial
Engineering IAQ, a director of Porsche Consulting Co., Ltd., chairman of
the board of Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, a director of Porsche Holding
SE and a director of Volkswagen AG and a director of Ferrett. S.P.A. He
is currently a director of Endurance Capital AG, the chairman of the
supervisory committee of KION Group AG and a supervisor of MAHLE
GmbH. He holds an honorary doctorate degree granted by Universitat
Stuttgart.

Mr. Zhang Zhong, Chinese, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 30 June 2014. Mr. Zhang
held the positions of an independent director of Beijing Dalong Weiye
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (b R KRERE EEHERERMD AR
/A F]) and of Keda Group Co., Ltd. (RHEZEBE IR D AR A E]). At present,
Mr. Zhang is a lawyer and partner of Beijing Zhonglun Law Firm (db 5=
R imERIETSFT) and an independent director of Concord New Energy
Group Limited. He holds a Master Degree of Laws granted by the
Renmin University of China (/B A R K£2).

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wang Gongyong, Chinese, aged 47, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 30 June 2014.
Mr. Wang was an independent director of Sunvim Group Co., Ltd. (Z
HEEHDARRAGB), and is currently a partner of ShineWing
Certified Public Accountants. He is a certified public accountant of the
PRC, a certified asset valuer, a senior auditor, a senior accountant, and a
member of the Certified Public Accountant Industry Leader (Reserve)
Scheme. Mr. Wang holds a Master of Business Administration granted
by Shandong University (1Ll 5 K &8). He is a collaborative tutor for
graduate courses leading to professional degrees at Shandong University
and a fellow member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Ning Xiangdong, Chinese, aged 54, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 30 June 2014.
Mr. Ning held independent directorships in various listed companies,
such as Datang Telecom Technology Co., Ltd. (KEBERIERNHBREA
@), Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. (LU TI2#MWI D BIR A
7)), GoerTek Inc. (EBEEZR(HABFR/AR]), Hong Yuan Securities Co.,
Ltd. (BREHMDAR AT, Aerospace Hi-Tech Holding Group Co.,
Ltd. (MABHEEREERKD AR AT, China Southern Airlines
Company Limited (FEIEAMMZERHER AT, Sichuan Changhong
Electric Co., Ltd. (FUJIIRI EZEMH AR AF) and Yango Group Co.,
Ltd. FZHemERRM AR AR . Mr. Ning is currently a professor and
doctoral tutor of the School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua
University (BEAZ2LEEIRELT) and an independent director of
Appotronics Corporation Ltd. He holds a Doctor of Philosophy in
Economics granted by Tsinghua University.

Mr. Li Hongwu, Chinese, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 8 June 2017. He is currently
an associate professor at the Law School of Shandong University, a
solicitor at Shandong Wenhan Law Firm (LB S 8= /5FT), and an
independent director of Shandong lJinling Mining Co., Ltd. and of
Shandong Head Co., Ltd. Mr. Li holds a master of laws degree granted
by Shandong University.

Mr. Wen Daocai, Chinese, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 14 June 2018. He was
previously the chairman and general manager of the Yangzhou Silk
Group. Mr. Wen is an engineer and holds a degree in agricultural
machinery granted by Jiangsu University. He is a postgraduate from the
Central Party School of the Community Party of China.
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IRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(2) SUPERVISORS

30

Mr. Lu Wenwu, Chinese, aged 55, is the chairman of the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Lu joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
in 1982 and had held various positions at Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
including the deputy general manager of the 615 Factory and deputy
general manager of the mid-speed engine factory, deputy director of the
human resources department, and at Weichai Power Co., Ltd. as general
manager of the 615 Factory, general manager of No. 1 Factory and
director of the production department. He is now holding various
positions including the chairman of the Labor Union and a director of
the party committee working department of the Company, and a
director of staff career development centre of the Company. He is also
the chairman of supervisory committee of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited. Mr. Lu is a senior political engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree.

Mr. Wu Hongwei, Chinese, aged 53, was appointed as a supervisor of
the Company on 30 August 2017. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1991 and held various positions including the deputy manager
of the finance department of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co.,
Ltd, executive deputy director of the finance department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, chief accountant of Chongging Weichai Diesel
Engine Factory, director of the finance department of Weichai Power
Co., Ltd., and director of the finance department of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited. He is currently a director and chief financial officer of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, a director of Weichai Heavy-duty
Machinery Co., Ltd., and a director of Kama Co., Ltd. He is an
accountant and holds a Master of Business Administration degree.

Mr. Ma Changhai, Chinese, aged 45, is a supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Ma joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1997. He held various
positions including the deputy manager of administration department of
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., deputy administrative
officer, head of brand management department of Hong Kong office
the Company, and officer at the administrative office of external affairs
of the Company. He is currently holding various positions including the
deputy party committee secretary, board secretary, head of the
organisation department of the party committee of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited, party committee secretary and administrative officer of
the Company, deputy administrative officer at its Hong Kong office and
deputy officer of the office of the Board, a director of Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a director of Weichai
International (Hong Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd., and a director of
Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd.. He
is a senior political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(3) SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong, Chinese, aged 53, is the Chief Financial
Officer, Company Secretary and Authorised Representative of the
Company. He is currently a director of Weichai International (Hong
Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Kwong joined the Company in 2013.
Mr. Kwong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the Morrison Hill
Technical Institute in Hong Kong in 1987. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He has worked for companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has over 30
years' experience in the accounting and financial management fields.

Ms. Wang Li, Chinese, aged 35, is the secretary to the Board of the
Company. She joined the Company in 2011 and is currently the head of
the capital operation department. She is an economist, and holds a
master's degree of management and a bachelor’s degree of economics.

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 55, is a Vice President of the Company.
He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and held various
positions including the manager of technology service department and
executive deputy general manager of sales department of the head
office and executive deputy director of marketing management
department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory and deputy manager of
Weichai Power Co., Ltd.. He is a senior engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering. He is an awardee of the National May 1st Labor
Medal of China.

Mr. Tong Dehui, Chinese, aged 55, is a Vice President of the Company.
He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in 1985 and held various
positions including the supervisor of the technology centre of Weichai
Power and deputy chief engineer and deputy general manger of Weichai
Power. Mr. Tong is a researcher in applied engineering technology and
holds a doctor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Tong receives special subsidy
from the State Council. He was appointed as Taishan Mountain Industry
Leader granted by Shandong People’s Government. He was awarded a
Young and Middle-aged Expert with Outstanding Contribution of by
Shandong Province.
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IRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

32

Mr. Li Shaohua, Chinese, aged 54, is a Vice President of the Company.
Mr. Li joined the Company in 1987 and had held various positions
including the deputy general manager of the sales and marketing
company of Weichai Power, director of application engineering
department, the director of the marketing department and assistant to
the general manager and assistant to the president of Weichai Power.
He is a senior engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering.

Ms. Ren Bingbing, Chinese, aged 54, is a Vice President of the
Company. Ms. Ren joined the Company in 1987 and had held various
positions including the deputy general manager of procurement
management department and assistant to president of the Company.
She is currently holding various positions including the chairman of Linde
Hydraulics (China) Co., Ltd., the director of the Company’s Hangzhou R
& D Center and the general manager of the Company’s Hangzhou
branch. She is a senior economist and a postgraduate in economics.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 51, is a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990 and
had held various positions including deputy director of corporate
planning department and director of human resources department of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources and
corporate management department, the director, supervisor and
assistant to president of the operational management department and a
supervisor of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. He is currently holding
various positions including the general manager of the Company’s
Shanghai branch and a director of Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Ding is a senior economist and holds the qualification of senior
manager of corporate human resources, a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering and an MBA degree.

Mr. Hu Haoyan, American, aged 63, is the chief scientific technology
officer of the Company. Mr. Hu joined the Company in 2014. He held
various positions including an adjunct assistant professor at Ohio State
University, senior engineering manager at Jacobs Vehicle Systems, Inc.,
senior engineering manager at Detroit Diesel Corporation, an
engineering manager at Caterpillar, chief scientist at Eaton Corporation
plc, and a Vice President of the Company. He is currently holding various
positions including a director of Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy
Technology Company Limited and a director of the U.K.— based Ceres
Power Holdings PLC. He holds a doctoral degree granted by the
Department of Mechanical Engineering at Massachusetts Institute of
Technology (MIT) and is a post-doctoral researcher at the same
department. Mr. Hu is an expert of the National Thousand Talents
Program of China and he is also a Taishan Scholars Blue Industry Scheme
Expert. Mr. Hu Haoyan ceased to be the Company’s Vice President with
effect from 17 February 2020.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Zhang lJiyuan, Chinese, aged 55, is a Vice President and chief
designer of the Company. He joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory in
1990 and had held various positions including the deputy director and
chief designer of the technology centre and assistant to president of the
Company. He is a researcher in applied engineering technology and
holds a master’s degree in engineering. He receives special subsidy from
the State Council. Mr. Zhang is a Taishan Industry Leading Talent.

Mr. Liu Yuangiang, Chinese, aged 48, is a Vice President, chief
craftsman master of the Company. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1993, and held various positions including the manager of the
615 Factory, head of the technology re-engineering department, head of
manufacturing engineering, the director of the WOS lean management
office, chief director of quality, chief director of manufacturing and
president of the arts and crafts research institute. Mr. Liu is a senior
engineer. He holds a bachelor’s degree.

Ms. Cao Zhiyue, Chinese, aged 47, is a Vice President and director of
information of the Company. She joined the industry in 2001, and had
previously worked at the state-managed quality supervision and
examination center for the application of software products in the PRC.
She joined the Company in 2007, and held various positions including
the deputy head of the department of corporate management and
information development, deputy manager of the No. 2 Factory, deputy
director of information, and head of the department of corporate
management and information development. She is currently holding
various positions including an executive director and general manager of
Weichai Digital Technology Co., Ltd. Ms. Cao holds a doctoral degree in
cartography and geographic information system granted by the Chinese
Academy of Sciences and an EMBA degree granted by Missouri State
University. She is a researcher in engineering technology application, and
a Taishan Industry Leading Talent.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines, automobiles and other major automobile components, other
components, import and export services, and forklift trucks and supply chain
solution services. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the Year. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries and associates are set out in Note VIl to the financial statement.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, major risks, financial analysis and future prospects of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 7 to 14 and Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 15 to 24. The Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion
and Analysis form part of the Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 101 to 403. The Board recommended the
distribution to all shareholders of a cash dividend of RMB1.36 (including tax)
for every 10 shares held, based on the 7,933,873,895 shares available for
distribution as at 31 December 2019, without any capitalisation of reserve. This
recommendation has been disclosed as a subsequent event after the reporting
period on page 383 in the financial statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on
page 404. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company
and the Group during the Year are set out in Note V.17 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
Year are set out in Note V.16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in Note V.44 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Year are set out in Notes V.45 and 47 to 50 to the financial statements
and in the statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB31,243,457,814.25. As approved by the Board on 26 March 2020, the
Company proposed a distribution to all shareholders of a cash dividend of
RMB1.36 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based on the 7,933,873,895
shares available for distribution as at 31 December 2019, without any
capitalisation of reserve.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
approximately RMB27,061,800.
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REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Xu Xinyu (Executive President)

Sun Shaojun (Executive President)

Yuan Hongming (Executive President)

Yan Jianbo (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors

Jiang Kui

Gordon Riske

Michael Martin Macht

Wang Yuepu (resigned on 26 March 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Zhang Zhong

Wang Gongyong

Ning Xiangdong

Li Hongwu

Wen Daocai

SUPERVISORS

Lu Wenwu
Ma Changhai
Wu Hongwei

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of this report, the
Company still considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 25 to 33 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company and their relevant terms of office shall be from 14
June 2018 to the conclusion of the 2020 annual general meeting of the
Company, except that the terms of office of Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang
Gongyong and Mr. Ning Xiangdong, independent non-executive directors of
the Company, shall be from 14 June 2018 to 29 June 2020.

None of the above directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS® INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Gordon Riske holds interest in KION and was interested in contracts for
the sales of commodities, provision of product testing, casting, catering and
leasing services by Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG, a subsidiary of the
Group, to KION and its subsidiaries, in contracts for the provision of
information technology services, accounting, human resources, logistics
services etc. by KION and its subsidiaries to Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG
and in contracts for the sales of forklift trucks and provision of services by
KION and its subsidiaries to the Company. Save as disclosed above, no director,
supervisor or entity connected with a director or supervisor had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during or at the end of the
Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which
provides appropriate cover for the directors of the Group. At no time during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report, was or is
there any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
of the directors of the Group.

ESEHS (88

SEENSHEBASHNBE
ARREENAEESHEEABNBEF
BERFHRE25E33H °

ESNRESHRESR

ARBENTEE FNTEE BIFN
TEFREFERERARATIRBEAH
BREMA T \FAATHAR E=
ZoRFERRAFARERLE - BB
POTEFRDAE TEBAENEARS
EMERAE T \FAATHBERES
T-TFANA-thA-

PREEREEHERARRASLEETM TR
AFYEATATR-—FABARABAKE
CEEMERINM FRIENREAH -

EENESNEACHNNER
Gordon RiskeE £ FH AT HEBE R - KA
SEZHBRARAMEBRESZECENIHA
AIRENBARMERNR RHEERAIA -
FE EBRLAEERBMIFM AR REKE
ARIANERES B ERME(E SRR -
R ANER BYERBEONEOTHES
Ew o TRIBARRENBRARGRAR A
HEXERRERBNANTEESER - K
P BRI BEES EHiHEEER
EEBEBEACERAQR HERAR K
BRARIKRAEMB AR T RNKFLEL
HASEEBKBEANENALNPERENM
BEHBEERNEZ -

Esra@BIRX
ARATERBEFELCRR ALEEE
EREAERM -BE-_T-NF TR
ST-BLFER BEAREE  HEE
fA) 75 7K S (80 £ 0] 2 36 1) e 3T 7 9B B X A
e

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 43R 37




CTORS" REPORT (CONTINUED)

INTERESTS 1IN

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executives and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), were as follows:
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SKESNKMKEERKDH
m
—E-NF+-AZ+-8 EF B3R
EEABREFERADAREAMEECE
REHFRMEGENTESRAEEND)E
XVER M B - ARRB D KB - A RE
RERMEGIIEI2ERERATNARE
MERMARE BB LTARNEEENT
BEXINBETHN(RETANRECA
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M my

mr
Percentage of
the issued
Number of Number of share capital
Name of director Capacity “A" shares held "H" shares held of the Company
HAERT
Exps ¥ % FiEAREE FEHREAE ERTREAEIHL
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 58,842,596 (Note 1) - 0.74%
& 8 ¥ EnlEEA (KtzE1)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
iR R EnEAA (Kt7F1)
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
wEE EmEAA (Btzt1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.17%
BRALE EnlEEA (KtzE1)
Yuan Hongming Beneficial owner 1,000,440 - 0.013%
N EnEAA
Interest held by spouse 444 - 0.000006%
EEBRHE AR
1,000,884 0.013%
Yan Jianbo Beneficial owner 1,097,904 - 0.014%
B % 81 EmEAA
Wen Daocai Beneficial owner 21,940 - 0.0003%
EEA ExnlEAA

38 WEICHAI POWER Co.

, LT, X NRMERRT



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEEHRE(B)

Percentage of

the issued

Number of Number of share capital

Name of supervisor Capacity “A" shares held “H" shares held of the Company

EAR 2R

BEENS g % FIEARBE FEHREE ERTREAES L

Lu Wenwu Beneficial owner 600,000 - 0.0076%
B X R EmEAA

Wu Hongwei Beneficial owner 4,789,516 - 0.06%
RftE EnEA A

Notes: B at -

1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The 1. ZERDZOBARAAER -AERBAR
domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi Bl EITH AR  UARKSE FREBAR
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in #1.007T * AN REBIERBYEHXABRINBHEE -
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became A Shares of the Company ZERGREALNAAREFRNEFZZA LT
upon the A Share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. BB RNRZARR -

2. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position. 2. RGBT R IR I RBIFR -

3 The percentages disclosed in the above table were calculated based on the total number 3. LRI RENESHERREBEARAE—F—AN
of issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019, i.e. 7,933,873,895 shares FA+ZF=+—H#ETHR (748 £(7,933,873,895
(comprised of 5,990,833,895 A shares and 1,943,040,000 H shares). (£5,990,833,895 K A X J% 1,943,040,000 i H R ) 5
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CTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEEHRE(E)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations of the RAQNBHBEEERGDHVER

Company
Approximate
Class and percentage
number of interest in the
securities entire issued
interested or share capital
Name of associated deemed to be of associated
Name of director corporation Nature of interest interested corporation
BEERR 15 B E
HEARE 2B BT
ERENES R A B RE &
EERE HEBEEE BB EatE HrRHE BHED
Gordon Riske (Note) KION Group AG (“KION") Beneficial owner 144,060 0.12%
ordinary shares
Gordon Riske (fff 7#) EafEA A 144,060 1% & B8 X
Interest held by spouse 93,940 0.08%
ordinary shares
MEERE M ED 93,940 f& ¥ i A%
238,000 0.20%

ordinary shares
238,000 % & 38 %

Note: Gordon Riske, a non-executive Director, was the beneficial owner of 144,060 shares in Wt it - FE# 77 E F Gordon Riske /5 KION &7 144,060 /% A% 17

KION and he was also deemed to be interested in 93,940 shares in KION which were B Ewm A A 0 #55RAEZ FBenita Riske X
beneficially held by his wife, Ms. Benita Riske. + B 25 5 5 993,940 FRKION R 17 9 #5125 »

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, the B EXFHEEEIN R_ZE—NLF+=A

chief executives nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the =t+t—B HMEEE SESTBRABXES

shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its RARRSEFEMEREENRKR G 88K

associated corporations that was recorded in the register required to be kept mkEFTHEBREZESF LB EKD E352

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company R EASHERZGENLEEN EZMRA

pursuant to the Model Code. HERSOAE HBBEEFABEAGAR
AIM @S AR -
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DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND RSN EZRBISRIB N
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

() Changes in share capital N BREZEBER

1. Changes in share capital (as at 31 December 2019) 1. RAZEELIXR(BE=-F
—NE+=ZA=+—H)

Before the movement Increase/decrease in the movement (+,-) After the movement
FREDH KREaEy (+-) .Y¢ 4]

Transfer
No. of New shares of surplus No. of
shares Percentage issued ~ Bonus Issue to capital Others Sub-total shares Percentage
48 tH - BfHR R DESER it it L ]
(%) (%)
. Restricted circulating shares 1,746,994,773 21.84% - - - (1,162,503) (1,162503)  1,745,832,270 22.00%
BRERNR
1. State-owned shares - - - - - - - - -
BFHR
2. State-owned legal person shares 1,642,531,008 20.54% - - - - - 1,642,531,008 20.70%
BEEARR
3. Shares held by other domestic entities 104,463,765 130% - - - (1,162,503) (1,162503)  103301,282 1.30%
EfhERR
including: Shares held by domestic - - - - - - - - -
non-state-owned legal persons
B BhEREEAGR
Shares held by domestic natural 104,463,765 1.30% - - - (1,162,503) (1,162,503 103,301,262 1.30%
persons
BRERARR
4. Shares held by foreign entities - - - - - - - - -
ERR
including: Shares held by overseas - - - - - - - - -
legal persons
B VAR
Shares held by overseas natural - - - - - - - - -
persons

ENARARR

I Non-estricted circulating shares 6,250,43,783 78.16% - - - (62,202,158) (62,202,158 6,188,041,625 78.00%

ERERAR

1. RMB ordinary shares 4,307,203,783 53.86% - - - (62,202,158) (62,202,158 4,245,001,625 5351%
NRH LR

2. Domestic listed foreign shares - - - - - - - - -
SR EmEANER

3. Overseasisted foreign shares 1,943,040,000 2430% - - - - - 1,943,040,000 2.49%
BN AR

4. Others - - - - - - - - -
it

Il Total number of shares 7.997,238,556 100% - - - (63364661)  (63364661)  7,933873895 100%
Rires




EEEHRS (88

(I Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as at 31 mn FERRERBER(R=_Z—-—NF

December 2019) +=ZB=+—8H)
Total number of Shareholders  The number of shareholders is BREBAEH 1609598 H PARK =
160,959 among which 160,705 are 160,705 + HER X 3R 254 = o

shareholders of “A” shares and
254 are shareholders of “H”

shares.
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders Bl 105 IR 1= IR 187
Total
number of
shares held as Number of
Approximate  at the end of Number of shares
percentage of  the reporting restricted pledged or
Name of shareholder Type of Shareholder shares held period shares held frozen
55
BEBR  AREHKH ERARE
BRRERB BRR#HE FRL G FREE Hho#E &R
(%)
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 24.43%  1,938,400,396 - -
EERREERBABRAT MEBRE
Weichai Group Holdings Limited State-owned legal person 17.72%  1,406,100,000  1,345,905,600 -
HERKREEFERAA BAEA
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Overseas legal person 5.09% 403,601,246 - -
Company Limited (Note) BAINEA
EROREEERDAGE)
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited  State-owned legal person 3.74% 296,625,408 296,625,408 -
RGTREEEERAR BAEA
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited ~ Domestic non-state-owned 2.06% 163,608,906 - -
REESERBRHERAA legal person
BAEEEEA
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Overseas legal person 1.53% 121,208,700 - -
Gesellschaft m.b.H. BINEA
BFIVMB A A EBRER DA
Central Huijin Assets Management State-owned legal person 1.37% 108,492,800 - -
Company Limited BEA
HRESEEEREREMERA
Shandong Enterprise Trust Operation Domestic non-state-owned 0.85% 67,282,960 - -
Company Limited legal person
IRECERERERNDERAA BREEEEA
Tan Xuguang Domestic natural person 0.74% 58,842,596 44,131,947 -
BBk BRERA
Hu Zhongxiang Domestic natural person 0.72% 57,307,825 - -
kiR BERERA
Note: Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited holds 403,601,246 A Shares on it BEFREEBIRLAFFF403,601,246 RAKR 73
behalf of shareholders under the Shenzhen — Hong Kong Stock Connect FEBREIFA -
mechanism.
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Note:

Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

N

ESEHS (88

BI10% HE R E MR IR RIF IR 157

umber of the

non-restricted

shares held as

at the end of

the reporting

Name of shareholder period Types of shares
®REHR
FREERE

IR R & B HREROEE IR 1 & 58
HKSCC Nominees Limited 1,938,400,396 Overseas listed foreign shares
EERREEREABGRLDA TN L NE R
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 403,601,246 RMB ordinary shares
BEAPREEZBERAF NI ill e
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited 163,608,906 RMB ordinary shares
PEESSEKRNDBRLQT AR L E R
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. 121,208,700 RMB ordinary shares
B RIVM BT 75 SR ARt A B BR 2 F) AR EE R
Central Huijin Assets Management Company Limited 108,492,800 RMB ordinary shares
PRESEEEREAREELA NI ill
Shandong Enterprise Trust Operation Company Limited 67,282,960 RMB ordinary shares
IWRECERELERNDERRDA AR L m R
Weichai Group Holdings Limited 60,194,400 RMB ordinary shares
LT REEER DA AR EE R
Hu Zhongxiang 57,307,825 RMB ordinary shares
HA A NI ill e
Macao Monetary Authority — Internal Funds 34,549,907 RMB ordinary shares
R ERER-BAEES AR L E R
China Asset Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — 33,002,800 RMB ordinary shares

China Asset CSI Financial Asset Management Plan AR L @R

FEAS RERT-FEETEIREETEI

Among the aforesaid shareholders, Mr. Tan Xuguang is the chairman of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited. It is not certain whether there is any connected relationship among
other top ten shareholders and the other top ten non-restricted shareholders, or
whether there is any acting in concert relationship among them.

Among the top ten shareholders of the Company, Mr. Hu Zhongxiang holds 57,307,825
shares through the client credit trading guarantee securities account of China Galaxy
Securities Co., Ltd.

Ff &t -

1. U R BB SE A SR IR 5 B IR
RABFER  ARXFARMEMF +HRRREAE
A+ EERERTRRZECEFER B
o BAMEREBER —HTBAL -

2 RAMFERER G EBES DEAES
ROERAATFEAZSRREFELHE
57,307,825/ »
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) shows that as at 31 December 2019, the following persons (other
than directors, chief executives and supervisors) had the following interests and
short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company:

EEEHRS (88

FEBRR
ARAREES RAE GO E336 457 E 0
TERREBRM(BERE B LM S BRN

TIHAL(EE SREEABRESKRIN)
EARARABRORAEROTES TSR

ma(nA) :

Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital ~ Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short  Number of only  Number of only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares H shares H shares capital
AR R HEEF
#e/ B& R& REag
L gt RE Bl HER &R Bk Bk
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Long 23.47% - - 17.72%
BEAEREEERAA EREAA e
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. Interest of corporation controlled Long 23.47% - - 17.712%
(Note 1) by you e
WRETEEFRARHH1) REEHNZENER
Brandes Investment Partners, LP (Note 3) Investment manager Long - - 78,578,612 16.18% 3.96%
(Wi3) RELE #e
Lazard Asset Management LLC (Note 2) Investment manager Long - - 245891812 2531% 6.15%
(Hit2) RELRE 2
Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio Investment manager Long - - 23,707,500 5.86% 1.43%
(Note 4) (f724) RELE #e
Barclays PLC (Note 3) (73) Person having a security interest Long - - 525,552 0.11% 0.03%
in shares 59
BERBORTERHA
Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 25,453,050 5.24% 1.28%
by you e
fRAESREENER
25,978,602 5.35% 131%
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Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short  Number of only  Number of only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares A shares H shares H shares capital
EAR ftHR  #BEf
#e/ R%E g RE&H
L L RE AR#ER Bl HER &R ol Bl
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 24,102,475 4.96% 1.22%
by you wE
AN EENER
Morgan Stanley (Note 2) (##2) Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 49335508 5.08% 124%
by you e
AR EENER
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 42,078 545 4.33% 1.06%
by you KE
REEHNZENER
BlackRock Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 174437170 8.98% 2.20%
by you e
ARG EENER
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 7,471,000 0.38% 0.09%
by you KE
RAEREENER
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 328,810,940 16.92% 4.14%
RELRE e
Citigroup Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 5326277 0.27% 0.07%
by you 59
AR EENER
Approved lending agent Long - - 134453711 6.92% 1.69%
RERHREA e
139,779,988 7.19% 1.76%




EPORT (CONTINUED) BEESRE (8)

Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short  Number of only  Number of only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares A shares H shares H shares capital
AR EHER  HERF
#e/ k& &S REay
L L *E AR#E Aol HE & A Bl Bl
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 3,091,000 0.16% 0.04%
by you *E
fRAERNEENER
The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation ~ Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 69,361,256 357% 0.88%
by you e
RAEREENER
Approved lending agent Long - - 62,834,080 3.23% 0.79%
BRBHREA e
132,195,336 6.80% 1.67%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 66,671,656 343% 0.84%
by you e
fRAEsREE MRS
State Street Bank and Trust Company Approved lending agent Long - - 98867348 5.09% 1.25%

XBEERT BEBHREA )
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Notes:

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province, held the entire share
capital of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine
Works).

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017
as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change
in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 20 August
2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO
where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

The number of H shares reported above held by the relevant substantial shareholder
does not take into consideration the Company’s bonus share issuance on 17 August
2012, 20 August 2015 and 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation
under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2019.

ESEHS (88

it

BEXEEEY

WREHFEEEEERZ R R AN E AL
RETEBFRAAFGEREERERERA
A (5T 78 73 3 ¥ 5% e 08 %) ) 2 BB AR 7K -

L2 EERTFF A CHRE A A&
FRARAR-FE—tFLA -+ —HEAR
IRBETTE WA RRIEESZRAEGES 15 E
BERRZREB DI EZE)  RI DR E R -

L ZHZIEHEFERRIFAZHRE B
FRARAR=ZF—AFNA=ZF+AR=FT
—tFEELAZF—HMARKRETE Wi H
RIBEFESRBEGED MEERRZBRES
DA EEE R B AR E#E

L B2IEEFERRIFE ZHKEA I &
FRARNAR-_ZFE—Z—ZFNA++tH —F
—AFNA=-F+AR-_FE—+tFLHA=-+—H
AL R R B 7T B W T3 7 R IR 15 3% 35 K B K 1%
Bl 1HEERRZREB S EEE - AIDAE
WE# o

CRZE-AF+T A

S+t BARARLEREENELRRREELT
AR T EmARERSIORE -




CTORS" REPORT (CONTINUED) EEB8RE(E)

ES - ES - SRERBASHME
AR IR IR

DETAILS OF THE APPOINTMENT OR RESIGNATION
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

At the Board meeting convened on 5 November 2019, the Board
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Hao Qinggui as the
secretary to the Board and approved the appointment of Ms. Wang Li as
the secretary to the Board of the Company.

RZE-—NF+—AAEBETHES
Rt EEeEaMERESE LA
BHAEAAAEFeRENREEART
Bt AARREETWE-

2. At the Board meeting convened on 6 January 2020, the Board 754‘: T_EF-ARNBEINESFS
considered and approved the appointment of Mr. Cheng Guangxu as a mL EFQCERMLE AEBMERE
vice president of the Company and Ms. Wu Di as a securities affair BEREERAARBBHMR AL L
representative of the Company. REARNAEFEHRE -

3. At the Board meeting convened on 17 February 2020, the Board RZZE_ZEF_A+LHBINESR
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Hu Haoran as a vice ERL EXSCERIREREALLE
president of the Company and approved the appointment of Mr. Chen B (£ AN 1 B Bl 42 £ AR 2B PR XX #
Wenmiao, Mr. Wang Zhijian, Mr. Sun Jian and Mr. Hu Haihua as vice TE EEBAELE BREXENHEE
presidents of the Company. EHERARRERE -

4. At the Board Meeting convened on 26 March 2020, the Board RZZB_ZEF=A-_TRAETNE
considered and approved the resignation of Mr. Wang Yuepu as a non- e u#J: % FELERWLETEHER
executive Director and a member of the strategic development and FE-F-_FTF=-A-_tTABEEE
investment committee of the Company with effect from 26 March 2020 ARARFFATEETURBRER K
and the nomination of Mr. Zhang Liangfu as a non-executive director of BEZEERENBEERRELELERA
the Company, with effect from the date of approval by the shareholders REIFHTEE BAEARAKRRR-F
of the Company at the 2019 Annual General Meeting and until the —NFRRBFREMLEE BRER
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company for the year BEEAEEFELHRARAEE
ending 31 December 2020, which is the expiration of the term of the CE_EF+ A=+t -HBLEFERR
current session of the Board. BFEREERKHIE-
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company and the Group had
the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

List of Connected Persons who had transactions and the

relationship with the Group

ESEHS (88

ME-Z-AF+-A=+—ALFE &
DEESS RSB T PR
RHHETHECRELDRUEUAZH
BB -

BASBETEHERANBERSN
BEALTZBE

Relationship between the Connected

Name of Connected Persons Abbreviation Persons and the Group
BEALERE 4 78 BEATRASE2BERRZ
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Automotive Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
RAAEEEERETERQA pr T 5 E Company Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.
PRAE TR AEESEE

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.
WRETIEEHBERAF

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
MEEREERR QA

Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Limited
EEARBEYOREBERRR

Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.
IWRALEL N BER QA

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.

HRTEBHERDINERRA

Fast Transmission

EIREE

Shandong Finance

W E B %5

Weichai Holdings

HES R IR

Chongging Weichai
BEE R

Weichai Import and Export
S O

Weichai Westport
AR

Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhonggqi”)
BEARRZMBARIRAERFE
ERAF(RAESR])A9%E e

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
Company, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (“SFGC")
BEARBZMBARREEZTHER
BERAR(RAEELFER]49%# 5

Shandong Heavy Industry,

a substantial shareholder of the Company,
indirectly held a 37.50% interest

in Shandong Finance

KRRz FERRLURETIMEERESR
1y 2 Bf %537.50% 1 &

Held a 17.72% interest in the Company, one of
the Promoters of the Company
BAEARATNTT2% %
RARERAZ—

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
HEER 2 2ENB QA

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
HEERZ2EWE R A

Weichai Holdings held a 51% interest
in Weichai Westport
SR IR B PO B HT AR5 1% R =
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%% ¥E¢(m§)

Relationship between the Connected

Name of Connected Persons Abbreviation Persons and the Group
HEATHB % 78 BEATHASEZBERR
Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd. Yangzhou Yaxing Indirectly held as to 51% by Weichai Holdings
BMNGERERNHERAR mMEE MEEREZEERSMNEESI%ES
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Weichai Heavy Machinery Weichai Holdings held a 30.59% interest
HESEENDERAA ML E in Weichai Heavy Machinery
Y SC 1 I R B M SE EE H30.59% 1 &
Weichai Electrical Equipment Co., Ltd. Weichai Electrical Equipment Wholly-owned by Weichai Heavy Machinery
HRENBRBEERA HRENRME HERER I 2ENBRA

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had continuing
connected transactions entered into in accordance with the following
agreements.

A. Provision of general services and labour services by A.

Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and
its subsidiaries

Pursuant to (i) the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 30 August 2016, collectively, the “Weichai Holdings
General Services Agreement”) and (i) the general services agreement
entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai on 17
November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 30 August
2016, collectively, the “Chongging Weichai General Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings and Chongqging Weichai and their
respective associates have agreed to provide certain labour services and
general services (namely, environmental protection, security, fire
protection, repair, maintenance and other general services and the
payment of certain town land use right tax in relation to the property
occupied and/or used by the Company, its Chongging office branch and/
or other members of the Group) to the Company, Weichai Power
(Weifang) Casting and Forging Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Casting”, a subsidiary
of the Company), Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. (“Huadong
Casting”, a subsidiary of the Company), Weichai Power (Weifang)
Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Logistics”, a subsidiary of the
Company), the Company’s Chongging branch office (the “Chongging
Branch”) and/or other members of the Group for a period of three years
ended 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of which the parties may
extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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The fees payable by the Company (and its Chongging Branch) and/or its
subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their
respective associates) with respect to the provision of the said services
are determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) and
apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of the relevant
property occupied and/or used by the Company, the Chongging Branch
and/or the Company’s subsidiaries plus a service charge representing not
more than 20% of such costs (save that the town land use right tax paid
by Chongging Weichai (and its associates) on behalf of the Chongging
Branch and/or other members of the Group will not be subject to the
said 20% service charge) and settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Holdings
General Services Agreement and the Chongging Weichai General
Services Agreement dated 2 August 2019, Weichai Holdings (and its
associates) (as the case may be) shall provide the said general services
and labour services in respect of utilities to the Company, Weichai
Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other members of
the Group on the same terms and for a period of three years ending 31
December 2022.

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai
Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

Pursuant to (i) the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018) and (i) the utility services agreement
entered into between the Company and Chongging Weichai on 17
November 2003 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and their respective associates
have agreed to provide the connection of certain utility and energy
services (namely, water, electricity, gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen,
compressed air, waste water treatment and supply of treated waste
water, etc.), to the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Power (Weifang)
Reproduction Company Limited (“Weichai Reproduction”, a subsidiary
of the Company), Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, the Chongging
Branch and/or other subsidiaries of the Company for a period of three
years ending 31 December 2020, upon the expiry of which the parties
may extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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The fees payable by the Company and/or its subsidiaries to Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates)
with respect to the provision of the said services are determined based
on the actual usage of the Company, its Chongging branch office and/
or its subsidiaries and by reference to the market prices of such utilities,
or, if it is not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated according to the
respective sales of Chongging Weichai and the Company’s Chongging
branch office and/or other members of the Group and by reference to
the market prices of such utilities. If only government published rates are
available with respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be
determined by reference to the government published rates plus the
wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings
and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in relation
thereto. If no market price or government published rates with respect
to the above utilities and energy services are available, the Company
and/or its subsidiaries will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai
Holdings and/or Chongging Weichai (and their respective associates) in
relation to the provision of such utilities and energy services plus a
service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs. The fees
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas,
scrap metals, materials, diesel engine and related
products and processing services by the Company and its
subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 30 August
2016, collectively, the “Weichai Purchase and Processing Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai and Weichai Import
and Export (and other associates of Weichai Holdings) have agreed to
provide parts and components of diesel engines, gas, scrap metals,
materials, diesel engines and related products and relevant processing
services to the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction,
Huadong Casting, Weichai Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“Weichai Singapore”),
Shandong Heavy Industry India Private Limited (“Shandong India”, a
subsidiary of the Company), Weichai Middle East FZE (“Weichai Middle
East”, a subsidiary of the Company) and/or other subsidiaries of the
Company for a period of three years ended 31 December 2019, upon
the expiry of which the parties may extend the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis. The said purchases and processing
services are transacted at market prices and are settled by the parties on
a monthly basis.
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Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Purchase
and Processing Services Agreement dated 2 August 2019, Weichai
Holdings, Chongging Weichai, Weichai Import and Export and/or other
associates of Weichai Holdings shall provide the said parts and
components of diesel engines, gas and scrap metals etc., materials,
diesel engines and related products and the said processing services and
import and export agency services to the Company (and its Chongging
branch office), Weichai Singapore, Weichai Middle East, Société
International des Moteurs Baudouin (a subsidiary of the Company), Maz-
Weichai Limited Liability Company (a subsidiary of the Company) and
Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy Technology Company Limited (a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other members of the Group at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term of three years

ending 31 December 2022.

D. Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and
components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic
products and related products and provision of
processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries

to Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the sale and processing services agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Power (Weifang) After-sales Service
Co., Ltd. (“Weichai After-sales Services”, a subsidiary of the Company,
formally known as Weichai Power Reserves and Resources Company) as
suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as customers
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
the Company (and its Chongging branch office), Weichai After-sales
Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Logistics and
other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to (i) sell certain diesel
engines, diesel engine parts and components, materials, semi-finished
products and related products, and (ii) provide certain processing services
in relation to the production of diesel engines to Weichai Holdings,
Weichai Import and Export, Chongging Weichai, Yangzhou Shengda
Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Shengda”), Dezhou Degong
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Dezhong Degong”) and other associates of
Weichai Holdings and other associates of Weichai Holdings at market

prices. The transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.
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Sale of diesel engines and related products by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its associates

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17 November 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy
Machinery pursuant to the supplemental framework agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August
2015.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
the Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Yangzhou"”, a subsidiary of the Company)
and Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd. (“Baudouin China”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and/or other subsidiaries of the Company
have agreed to sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical
Equipment and/or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery certain
diesel engines and related products, at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis for a term ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components,
materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and
related products and processing and labour services by
the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 November 2008 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13
July 2018), the Company (and its Chongging branch office), Weichai
After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong
Casting, Weichai Logistics, Baudouin China and/or other members of the
Group have agreed to purchase from Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai
Electrical Equipment and/or other associates of Weichai Heavy Machinery
certain diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel and scrap
metal etc., diesel engines and related products and processing and
labour services, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis.
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Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel
engine parts components, reserve parts and related
products and provision of labour services by the
Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery
and its associates

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished diesel
engine parts supply agreement on 17 November 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The rights and
obligations of Weichai Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were
assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to the supplemental
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 August 2015.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 13 July 2018),
the Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other
subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to sell certain semi-finished
diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts
and related products and to provide the said labour services to Weichai
Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or its associates at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis for a period of three years
ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties may
renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018), SFGC has agreed to sell to Fast
Transmission certain parts and components of transmissions, namely,
gearboxes, and related products at market prices and settled every two
to three months, for a term of three years ending 31 December 2021,
upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an option to extend the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 13 July 2018), SFGC has agreed to purchase from Fast
Transmission certain parts and components of transmissions and gears,
namely, power take off assemblies and castings, and related products at
market prices and settled every two to three months, for a term of three
years ending 31 December 2021, upon the expiry of which the parties
shall have an option to extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw
materials and related products and provision of the
relevant services by Shaanxi Zhonggi and its subsidiaries
and Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology Co., Ltd.
("Weichai Freshen Air”, a subsidiary of the Company) to
Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials sale
and heat processing services agreement entered into between Shaanxi
Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers (the
“Shaanxi Suppliers”) and Shaanxi Automotive and its associates as
customers (the “Shaanxi Customers”) on 1 August 2007 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements including the
agreement dated 30 August 2016, collectively, the “Shaanxi Zhongqi
Sale Agreement”), the Shaanxi Suppliers and Weichai Freshen Air have
agreed to sell certain vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw
materials and related products, and provide the relevant services to the
Shaanxi Customers, at market prices and settled by the parties generally
every one to three months, for a term of three years ended 31
December 2019, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Shaanxi Zhonggqi
Sale Agreement dated 2 August 2019, the Company, Shaanxi Zhonggqi
and their respective subsidiaries shall sell certain vehicles, parts and
components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and provide
the relevant services to Shaanxi Automotive and its associates on the
same terms for a term of three years ending 31 December 2022.
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Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap
steel and related products and labour services by
Shaanxi Zhongqi and its subsidiaries and Weichai
Freshen Air from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates
Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers (the “Shaanxi Buyers”) and
Shaanxi Automotive and certain of its associates as sellers (the “Shaanxi
Sellers”) on 1 August 2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements including the agreement dated 30 August 2016, collectively,
the “Shaanxi Zhongqi Purchase Agreement”), the Shaanxi Buyers have
agreed to purchase certain parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel
and related products and labour services from the Shaanxi Sellers, at
market prices and settled by the parties every one to three months, for a
term of three years ended 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of which
the parties shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Shaanxi Zhonggqi
Purchase Agreement dated 2 August 2019, the Company, Shaanxi
Zhonggi and their respective subsidiaries shall purchase certain parts and
components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour
services from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates on the same terms
for a term of three years ending 31 December 2022.

Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries

The diesel engines supply framework agreement entered into between
the Company and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements, including the
agreement dated 28 March 2018) sets out the general terms and
conditions for the sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing
and its subsidiaries for a period of three years ending 31 December
2020. The said engines, new energy powertrain and related products
shall be sold by the Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time with reference to market
prices and/or price agreed according to the principle of fairness and
reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis. The transactions shall be
subject to normal commercial terms and terms no less favourable to the
Group than those available to the Group from independent third parties.
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Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and
its subsidiaries

The transmissions supply framework agreement entered into between
SFGC and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements, including the agreement dated 28
March 2018) sets out the general terms and conditions for the sale of
transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a
period of three years ending 31 December 2020. The said transmissions
shall be sold by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time
to time with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to
the principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly
basis. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms and
terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group
from independent third parties.

Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (“Hande
Axle"”, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries

The axles supply framework agreement entered into between Hande
Axle and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplementary agreements, including the agreement dated 28
March 2018) sets out the general terms and conditions for the sales of
axles by Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for a period
of three years ending 31 December 2020. The said axles shall be sold by
Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time
with reference to market prices and/or price agreed according to the
principle of fairness and reasonableness and with a payment term of two
months. The transactions shall be subject to normal commercial terms
and terms no less favourable to the Group than those available to the
Group from independent third parties.
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Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and
labour services, technology development services and
related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and associates to Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework supply agreement entered into between the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreements dated 8 December 2014
and 14 July 2017), each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Freshen Air and other associates of the
Company has agreed to supply certain base engines, gas engine parts,
utility and labour services, technology development services and related
products and services to Weichai Westport, at market prices and/or
prices agreed according to the principle of fairness and reasonableness
and settled on a monthly basis for a term from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2020, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the
term for three years on a mutually agreed basis.

Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour
services and related products and services by the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates from
Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework purchase agreement entered into between
the Company, Weichai Reproduction and Weichai After-sales Services
and Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreements dated 8 December 2014
and 14 July 2017), each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Reproduction, Weichai Freshen Air and other associates of the
Company has agreed to purchase certain gas engines, gas engine parts,
labour services and related products and services from Weichai
Westport, at market prices and/or prices agreed according to the
principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis
for a term from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020, upon the expiry
of which the parties may extend the term for three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

ESEHS (88

AABREMEB(EBE) A7 QA
BHERMEERAER IEHKE
R MEE e B R
B %% K MEHEEE M KR
BEARAAG  AEBRERAELEETS
REEABSHERR_T——_4F+=
AZT+HRABFHEERHBZ) (K=
Z-NMFE+-_ANBER=ZZFE—tF+t
ATMBEIUME R HHRE RFER)
ARAR - HEETISRS A BRE .
MR F KRR 2 H bt B (EH
BIARISERBEUMBEER,HUQ
FEEEARRGE R B[ S
RS T REBMAE 4 =RHE
e HA RMHAERBLEEEED
LR BEAEBR&EE — X H&
FHHE_ZET-NF-—A—ARRE_Z
ZEFF+_A=+—RHIE -RERERE
FAEEREERE A =F-

RAABRKREKWE(BEE) AR DA
BHERRBREE REKE
e EZEBREBEERKRS

BIBARE HLEFRE HEETS
RBHEAERERR_T—ZF+=
AZT+HRBFEBER DR (K=
T—NNE+_ANBERZZE—tFt
A+HBIYHEREHRBET MR
KNAT  HEETBIRKG  HEBERE -
MR ERFAREARA B Z H K B
BIARISEAREBEUMBEER, HURQ
FABRABRAGIEMNERBABFER
RESTREH [EBEREG B
BREBERERE 557 &8ALE
BE—X maeHa - N\F—A—
HREZ_TTEF+A=+—AH1"
RERBETRIEEE WS A=
ﬂzo

AL REPORT 2019 R 59




60

RS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Provision financial services to the Company and its
subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Pursuant to the financial services agreement entered into between the
Company and Shandong Finance on 30 March 2016 (and the new
financial services agreement between the same parties dated 25 March
2019), Shandong Finance has agreed to provide, inter alia, certain
deposit services to the Company and its subsidiaries for a period ending
29 June 2022, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the term
on a mutually agreed basis.

Pursuant to the said financial services agreements, Shandong Finance
shall provide certain deposit services to the Group, the principal terms of
which are as follows:

(@  the interest rate for the deposit of the Group’s funds with
Shandong Finance shall, subject to the compliance of the relevant
requirements of the People’s Bank of China, be no less than the
highest interest rate for the same type of deposit offered by the
major commercial banks in the PRC for the same period; and

(b)  the maximum daily balance (including interests) of the Group's
deposit with Shandong Finance shall not exceed RMB17 billion
from 30 June 2016 to 29 June 2017, RMB19 billion from 30 June
2017 to 29 June 2018, RMB20 billion from 30 June 2018 to 29
June 2019, RMB24.5 billion from 30 June 2019 to 29 June 2020,
RMB28 billion from 30 June 2020 to 29 June 2021 and RMB33
billion from 30 June 2021 to 29 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEEHRE(B)

Details of the annual cap and the actual transaction amount for the year hEREREXFIEE T -—NEFE+=A

ended 31 December 2019 in respect of these continuing connected T+ BUEFEZFELREEERRSESE
transactions are as follows: EA-RUNNE

2019

—E-hE

RMB’000

AR TR

A. Provision of general services and labour services by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

A HRERREWNEFEBLATIAAXARENBLAARHEEBRBEREBRYE

Cap Actual
ER B

Provide general services and labour services by G 1 Ry K2 HOBA B8 (RA B ) A )
Weichai Holdings and its associates RMHEERB RSB RS 94,000 45,532

B.  Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and its subsidiaries

B. MNEBRREMNBEEBATAAXARMBATMER REXKBERY

Cap Actual
LR BB

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai ML IR R H B () & 7
Holdings and its associates HER LB ERS 740,000 406,248

C.  Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas, scrap metals, materials, diesel engine and related products and
processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings and its associates

C ZRAREMBARAEKRERIEMNBEB)ADRBEERERG EIARESBES FEH4H KoKk

BERRNIRE
Cap Actual
L BR S
Purchase products and services from Weichai I A S 2R R R EL BT /B (RA BE) A )
Holdings and its associates K EDMRB 1,100,000 1,039,852

D. Sale of diesel engines, diesel engines parts and components, materials, semi-finished products, hydraulic products
and related products and provision of processing services by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings
and its associates

D. FAAFAREMBARMAMBRERREANB(BEE ARNEEN G RAKER4F EM4 ¥R REBEER M

BERREEMNIERS
Cap Actual
LR B
Provide diesel engines and related products and I A S 2 AR N HL BT /B (RA Bt) A /)
services to Weichai Holdings and its associates EHE B REEE KRS 3,475,000 1,753,889
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2019
ZE-hF
RMB’000
ARMTF T
E. Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its
associates
E. AXARARHEHWEBARMBEXEARIAMNBEEEB AREERARREBER
Cap Actual
L£R B 5
Provide diesel engines and related products to m) A S 5 0 R T B (RA BsE) 1 &)
Weichai Heavy Machinery and its associates RS h K R A E R 570,000 427,151
F. Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel and scrap metal etc., diesel engines and related
products and processing and labour services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy Machinery and
its associates
F AXARREMBARAOBEXREMRANEGEBE AR RBEAKLERG Eas - EAMREBESRESE  KLaBRMA
BESNMMIRYBR%E
Cap Actual
£ R B R
Purchase diesel engines and related materials and 7] % &€ 5 # & = K &8 (BE B¢ ) A &)
services from Weichai Heavy Machinery and its FEHE S B R AR e AR 75
associates 630,000 412,740
G. Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts components, reserve parts and related products and
provision of labour services by the Company its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its associates
G ALAREMBARMOBRNCERRAWE(EBR ARMELMEERNAEL KRS ESF BHEREBERN
RRMEEIRE
Cap Actual
ER S
Provide diesel engines related materials and services [A] # 5¢ & # K H M & (B8 B ) 2 7
to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its associates RS h AR E m R RS 150,000 89,175
H. Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission
H BREZIHEBHEZIHEEHEEHSRHRERER
Cap Actual
£ R B 5
Provide parts and components of transmissions REZETRERESESH TG
and related products by SFGC MAB R E @ 3,850,000 2,016,927
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2019
—E-NE
RMB’000
AR TR
. Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission
. BAZTREREOEIHEEEBEITIHREBER
Cap Actual
£ BR B R
Purchase of parts and components of transmissions PR P& T tm SR E S T B4
and related products by SFGC 12 ¥ B8 EE 7,100,000 4,924,417
J. Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and provision of the relevant

services by Shaanxi Zhongqi and its subsidiaries and Weichai Freshen Air to Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

J BRAEARHHNEBAR HBXZRFLARAKERENBEBQIAHEENE RETHHF EMHAREERE

AR AR BA AR X
Cap Actual
L PR 25
Provide vehicles, raw materials and related products A Bt 75 5 @ & E K & (B8 Bt ) A &)
and services to Shaanxi Automotive and its RERE - BEVMEREHEE®R
associates AR 7% 5,030,000 2,618,649

K.  Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related products and labour services by Shaanxi
Zhonggi and its subsidiaries and Weichai Freshen Air from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates

K BRAEAREMEBAR #EZRFLORSEEREMNE (BB ARNKBREZNHG BEH HEERREH
BR %%

Cap Actual
LR 4
Purchase parts and components of vehicles, scrap & Bk /3 & B & H i & (BF B ) 2 7
steel and related products and labour services EBAETHMG - BBl EE
from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates Eom kB E RS 9,100,000 8,837,512

L. Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related products by the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries

L ZF2FAENCEREMNBAREERDR HEFRDIARRERER

Cap Actual
£ BR B 5

Provide new energy powertrain and related mMimMEEREWEB QT RHE
products to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries ¥ 8 )R &) 1 48 5k & 48 B B 579,906




IRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED) EESWHE(B)

2019
—E-NE
RMB’000
AR®T T
M. Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries
M BRALZIHEGOBNIERANEARHEESES
Cap Actual
L£R B 5
Provide transmissions to Yangzhou Yaxing and it [A1 % M 28 2 & E K B A 7 f2 i
subsidiaries R4S 76,000 26,022
N. Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (“Hande Axle”, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou Yaxing
and its subsidiaries
N BRAEREERERARA(EZEER] RAERAZHEBARIOENEEREMNBLARHEEER
Cap Actual
LR 25
Provide axles to Yangzhou Yaxing and its mMizMEE RENEB QG RHE
subsidiaries BHiE 88,000 59,230
O. Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and labour services, technology development services and related
products and services by the Company and its subsidiaries and associates to Weichai Westport
0. FRARHEHMEB(FEE)ARMAEBMERMELIEE SERES RUBDEESE RMTHRZRERAEABESR
X PR 7%
Cap Actual
£ R B 5
Provide base engines, gas engine parts and related 7] 79 /% ¥7 6 )R i fE A BB 1% - R 48
products and services to Weichai Westport i RBEEDRRS 3,000,000 1,147,911
P.  Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and associates from Weichai Westport
P. ZLARREMB(EBLARAOEENERRBEIREE SERESt ESLEBREBERRERYE
Cap Actual
ER B
Purchase gas engines, gas engine parts and related  [5] 78 /& ¥7 85 JR 5 B8 ROEL #% - R
products and services from Weichai Westport i R E S RRS 6,300,000 2,826,831
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ESEHS (88

2019
—E-NEF

RMB’000
ARBT T

Q. Provision of financial services to the Company and its subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Q WRHBEAFAQAARENELIRRESHERK

From 1 January 2019
to 29 June 2019
—E-hF-HA-BEZE
ZE-AFEXRA=ZTARB

Cap Actual
FR s
The maximum daily balance (including interests) WA AR REKBRQ R
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHENTFFREESEASZSEX
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries EREE (B R B) 20,000,000 19,958,366

From 30 June 2019

to 31 December 2019
—E-hEXA=Z+HZE
—E-AFE+Z=ZA=t+-—8H

Cap Actual
LR S
The maximum daily balance (including interests) IWE A ARR REKBRA A
on the deposit services provided by Shandong RHOTFFREESESZSEX
Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries EREE (B R B) 24,500,000 24,434,464

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
internal control procedures put in place by the Company and the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that the internal
control procedures were adequate and effective, and these continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and (i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information,” and with
reference to Practice Note 740, “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules,” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
above continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.
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A8 A HCE T % B B %€ B113000 (818 5T)) [
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2B HEE 74090 [BI R & AL A B
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ENFEHERXS ZEMEDER EmRA
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In the letter the auditors have confirmed and stated that:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company’s board of directors.

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d.  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as approved by
the Company.

A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Except for the transactions with associates, all the transactions of goods and
services with related parties, leasing with related parties and transfer of assets
with related parties as disclosed in Note X.5(1) to (3) to the financial
statements also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with relevant requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Acknowledging the importance of shareholders’ interest and return, the
Company has always adopted a policy of stable dividend distribution. Prior to
proposing dividend distribution, the Board considers a multitude of factors
including the Company’s financial performance, distributable reserve, capital
expenditure, expected financial performance, expected working capital
requirement and such other factors as the Board may consider relevant.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements that enabled the directors or supervisors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

A total number of 63,364,661 A shares were repurchased by the Company on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 8 October 2018 to 28 December 2018 at
an aggregate consideration of RMB499,911,217.21. All of these repurchased
A shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company on 7 January 2019.

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

INCOME TAX FOR H SHAREHOLDERS

According to the regulations in the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Implementation Regulations on Enterprise Income Tax Law
of People’s Republic of China which came into effect in 2008 and the Notice
of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to the Withholding
and Remittance of Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends Paid by Chinese
Resident Enterprises to Overseas Non-resident Enterprises which hold H Shares
(Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897) KEARX B EREEMBEIIHEIEER &
R R B AR B MRS PRSI A B R 638 ) (B B k[2008]897
§%)) issued by China’s State Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008
(collectively, the “Tax Law"”), any domestic enterprise of the PRC which pays
dividends to non-resident enterprise shareholders (as defined in the Tax Law)
for the year of 2008 and thereafter shall withhold and remit enterprise income
tax with the payer as withholding agent. After receiving dividends, non-
resident enterprise shareholders may, where applicable, apply for tax refund
pursuant to relevant requirements under tax treaty (arrangement).
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RECTORS ™ REPORT (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the Tax Law, the Company is obliged to withhold and remit
enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident
enterprise holders of H Shares whose names appear on the register of
members for H Shares of the Company on the Record Date when distributing
dividends to them. For holders of H Shares who are registered in the name of
non-natural person registered shareholders (including HKSCC (Nominees)
Limited, other corporate nominees, trustees, or other organisations or groups
which are all treated as “non-resident enterprise” shareholders) on the register
of members for H Shares of the Company on the Record Date, the Company
will distribute the cash dividends, after withholding for payment of 10%
enterprise income tax.

Pursuant to the Notice on the Tax Policies Concerning the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (M EBREMIHEX H E 5 5 @
M A B A BB WE R A BA), for mainland corporate investors that
invest in a company via the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, corporate
income tax will be levied according to the law. In particular, for any dividend
to be distributed to resident enterprises in the mainland China which hold H
shares for more than 12 consecutive months, corporate income tax may be
exempted according to the law. Such mainland enterprises shall declare and
pay taxes by themselves in respect of such dividends, which will not be
withheld by such H share company.

According to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Certain Policies Regarding Individual Income Tax
(Cai Shui Zi [1994] No. 20) KB B &0 - B R BB AR BN EAMBE R E T
BERBENBA) (FHF [1994]1%205%)), foreign individual resident
shareholders are exempt from personal income tax in respect of the dividends
or bonus received from domestic foreign invested enterprises for now. As the
Company is a foreign invested enterprise, for all natural person shareholders
whose names are registered on the register of members for H Shares of the
Company on the Record Date, the Company does not need to withhold
personal income tax. The Company shall obtain latest updates by consulting
relevant tax authorities in the PRC in due course.

In respect of dividends for the H shares of a company invested in by mainland
individual investors and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, the H share company shall apply to
China Securities Depository and Clearing Co., Ltd., which will then provide the
H share company with the register of mainland individual investors. The H
share company shall withhold an individual income tax at the rate of 20% on
such dividends.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

For dividends received by investors (including enterprise and individual
investors) in the Hong Kong market from investing in A shares listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and before Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited is able to furnish China Securities Depository and Clearing
Co., Ltd. with the identity, holding period and other detailed data of the
investors in the Hong Kong market, the differentiated tax treatment based on
the holding period of shares will not be implemented temporarily. Listed
companies shall withhold income tax at the rate of 10% and make
withholding filings with the relevant tax authorities. For those investors who
are tax residents of other countries and the tax rate applicable to dividends is
lower than 10% under the tax treaty between China and the relevant
countries, such investors may, by themselves or request the withholding agent
to act on their behalf to, apply to the relevant tax authorities in respect of the
listed company for the preferential relevant treatment under the relevant
treaties. Upon the verification of the relevant tax authorities, the amount being
the difference between the tax withheld and the tax calculated at the rate as
prescribed under the corresponding tax treaty shall be refunded.

If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the register of
members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or
trustees. The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax
for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in accordance with the
relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of
members on the Record Date.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year did a director, a
supervisor, an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company, which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital, have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 26 March 2020, the Company’'s 2019 profit distribution proposal was
approved by the Company’s fifth meeting of the fifth session of the Board. The
Company proposed a distribution to all shareholders of a cash dividend of
RMB1.36 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based on the 7,933,873,895
shares available for distribution as at 31 December 2019, without any
capitalisation of reserve. Completion of the proposal is subject to the
consideration and approval by the 2019 Annual General Meeting. The
expected payment date for the cash dividend as well as the relevant record
date on the entitlements to the payment of the cash dividend will be
determined by the Board and announced no later than two months after the
date of obtaining the said shareholders’ approval.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant environmental laws and regulations as applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. Meanwhile, all-round and comprehensive internal
management system and rules are in place to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant policies and regulations.

During the Year, the Group passed the audit of the environmental
management system. During the course of production, hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are also disposed of in a safe and efficient manner, without
polluting the environment. Pollutants so produced are in compliance with
national or local emission standards. The Group has never been included in any
list of highly-polluting enterprises by environmental authorities, nor has it been
penalized by any environmental authorities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant laws and regulations as applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
During the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable relevant laws and
regulations in the respective jurisdictions in all material respects.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

MAJOR RELATIONSHIPS INVOLVING THE GROUP

(1

(2)

3)

(4)

Employees

In compliance with relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Company firmly upholds the human resources management philosophy
of “taking up the responsibility for forming order, to allocate suitable
people to suitable posts, encourage staff members to work hard on a
long-term basis, and serve the overall development goal of the
enterprise”. In strict adherence to the strategy of “Talents Come First”,
a safe and good working environment and experience as well a sound
system of remuneration and benefits is provided to employees to attract,
retain and motivate the employees. The management team and staff
team of the Group have been stable. During the Year, the Group
considered that the relationship with its employees and the turnover rate
were acceptable In 2019, the Company was honoured a “National
Model of Harmonious Enterprise with Good Labour Relations (2 B#E &
BENRRTRERE) .

Suppliers

With mergers and reorganisation on a global basis and overseas market
expansion, the Group owns production factories in many nations and
regions and its suppliers are all over the world. Currently, the Group is in
the course of forming its global supply chain system. All major suppliers
have close and long-term relationship with the Group. During the Year,
the Group considered that the relationship with suppliers was sound and
stable.

Customers

Insisting on “Aiming for customer satisfaction”, the Group steadfastly
implements the key quality requirements of “goal assessment, effective
system, strict compliance, and responsibility performance” in pursuit of
high quality development. During the Year, our chairman, Mr. Tan
Xuguang, was granted the “Shandong Provincial Governor’s Quality
Award — Individual Award ((LE&E+HEEREEHEEALE) " and the
Company was granted “40th Anniversary of Promoting Total Quality
Management— Outstanding Enterprise (2 H'E 2 B IR #EA0F F A
#EB7) ". The Group considered that the relationship with assembling
factories and users was sound and stable.

Society

With the notion of “Developing economy and service the community”,
the Group goes beyond achieving its own growth to actively perform its
social responsibilities to contribute to society, spread its positive energy
as a corporation and strives to achieve win-win development vis-a-vis
society, gaining recognition from different sectors of society.
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RECTORS ™ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AuDIiT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises all
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Wang Gongyong, an independent non-executive
director. Mr. Wang has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, for the purpose of this appointment. Throughout the Year, the
Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the
financial results and internal control matters of the Company. In accordance
with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year.

CoMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
IN APPENDIX 14 TO THE LISTING RULES

During the Year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan”) and directors not
being able to attend all annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings due to other important work-related affairs, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
Company considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company'’s strategies which will enable the Group to
grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers
that through the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive
directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeEL CODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard set out in
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PuBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

For the purpose of good corporate governance and enhancing the
independence of external audit of the Company, Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
("EY") which had been engaged as the auditors of the Company for the past
11 years, was not re-appointed as the auditors of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly, EY ceased to be the
auditors of the Company from the conclusion of the 2019 annual general
meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2019.

The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP ({2 E)ZE kK S 5T M0 F % (S %k E i@ & (L)) as the
Company’s auditors on 20 June 2019 in place of EY. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP will retire and a resolution for the
their reappointment as auditors of the Company for the year of 2020 will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year were approved by
the Board on 26 March 2020.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE
WEBSITES OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE
AND THE COMPANY

The 2019 annual report of the Company will be despatched to the
shareholders as well as made available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.weichaipower.com in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong,
26 March 2020
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ISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2019, in accordance with relevant requirements including the Company
Law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory
Committee, in compliance with the principle of integrity, all members of the
Supervisory Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (the
“Supervisory Committee”) performed their duties of supervision by exercising
effective supervision and examination, in a lawful manner, of the Company’s
procedures of making operational decisions, its state of operation, its financial
conditions and its acquisition and disposal of assets and material connected
transactions, thereby providing strong support to the Company’s regulated
operations and healthy development, and protecting the legitimate interests of
the Company and its investors.

I. DETAILS OF CONVENING MEETINGS OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In this year, the Company held four meetings of the Supervisory

Committee.

1. On 25 March 2019, the third meeting of the fifth session of the
Supervisory Committee was convened, during which the
Supervisory Committee considered and approved the full text and
summary of the 2018 annual report of the Company, the work
report of the Supervisory Committee for 2018, the financial report
and auditors’ report for 2018, the final financial report for 2018,
the financial budget report 2019, profit distribution proposal for
2018, as well as the re-appointment of Shandong Hexin
Accountants LLP as the internal control auditors of the Company
for the year 2019, the internal control self-evaluation report for
2018 and the internal audit report for 2018, the change in
accounting policies.

2. On 26 April 2019, the first provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in 2019 was convened, during which
the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the 2019
first quarterly report of the Company and the appointment of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP as the
auditors of the Company for year 2019. The contents of the first
quarterly report gave a true, accurate and complete view of the
actual situation of the Company and do not contain false
statements, misleading representations or material omissions.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B8RS (8|

On 29 August 2019, the fourth meeting of the fifth session of the 3. 2019 8A29H ' AFIAHAREMN
Supervisory Committee of the Company was convened, during REEE SZEZRBTAA
which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the 09F £ FEMEEEBE
full text and summary of the 2019 interim report of the Company, N Al E {20194 B A0 o B -
the implementation of the 2019 interim profit distribution BRRXEENZR - FFER
proposal by the Company and the change in accounting policies. ERNBEE B TEMIERT
The contents of the interim report gave a true, accurate and I ARMEBREBERL ~THFEME
complete view of the actual situation of the Company and do not MERLH REERMKES
contain false statements, misleading representations or material KER-
omissions.
On 30 October 2019, the second provisional meeting of the 4. 20194 10H30H A 7 A #2019
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2019 was convened, FE-_ABBESTS @ HFEH
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved BRATRAB09FE=FTEHE
the 2019 third quarterly report of the Company and the change in EHHRRETFNZER - E=FE
accounting policies. The contents of the third quarterly report gave BRERNTEE EMHE - TEM B
a true, accurate and complete view of the actual situation of the TRARMEBRBER THEEEM
Company and do not contain false statements, misleading EREH REMERMzEEKXR
representations or material omissions. B

II. OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON C ESESHNRSHAEEBSAN

SUPERVISED MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN THE =8

REPORTING PERIOD

Compliance of the Company’s operations with legal
requirements

During the reporting period, pursuant to the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association, the Supervisory
Committee duly supervised the convening procedures and
resolutions of general meetings of Shareholders and meetings of
the Board, the Board's execution of resolutions approved at
general meetings of shareholders, the performance of duties by
the senior management of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee was of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company performed their duties with
integrity and diligence, made decisions in a scientific approach,
maintained sound production and operation. The Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would result in a
breach of laws or regulations or the Articles of Association or
would damage the interests of the Company and investors in the
Company.
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ERVISORY COMMITTEE S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B8RS (88

Financial position of the Company 2 DA BEER
During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee further REBHRN RAEEEMNE 78
enhanced its internal control, especially the examination of the AESE - R Z B ERR
financial system. The Company has established a sound system on E RAEHIINEE BEEE.
external investment, asset transfer and connected transactions, BHZTSEFTEHELT ERRE
etc. In its operation, the Company observed the relevant laws and EHEIE - EEEBEF  HER
regulations of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the China BREBEER - EZRLTPBRES
Securities Regulatory Commission. On the control of the EEREELZESNBEBERTHIT
movement of funds and administrative expenses, the Company EEcRAE TEEBANZES L
strictly controlled on each grade which ensured the normal DMIEHE BRETARLERE
operation of the Company and avoided financial risk. & NIRRT R -
The Supervisory Committee was of the view that the procedures EEERR EETORENESR
adopted by the Board in preparing and considering the annual N FEVBERENRERERFTAEE
financial report of the Company are in compliance with the laws, B ITBRZERAERFBHBESHR
administrative regulations and stipulations of the CSRC. The T OHRERNBTEET EWHE-  TEi
contents of the report gave a true, accurate and complete view of EBTARMNEREBEL ~FE
the actual situation of the listed company and do not contain false fE o] B 50 & RRE PR al gk &
statements, misleading representations or material omissions. BRER-
There was no use of proceeds this year. 3 AEEEEEESFEABR
Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company 4 REAKRBREEEESR
During the reporting period, the Company’s acquisitions and RMEHAR RAIZEHRE - HE
disposals of assets were conducted in such a way where the BETR BEHMEREE R5E
approval procedures were lawful, at reasonable considerations, BER - RFAER BN TAAK
and under effective decision-making, benefiting the integration of BRES FHAELATINEEERKE -
resources of the Company and aligning with the Company's AEENEBRRANBERS BER
development strategies. No insider dealing or other actions which REGMEXNEERENIBR
would damage the interests of the shareholders or cause any asset
loss occurred or emerged.
Material connected transactions 5 BEREBXZEE
During the reporting period, the connected transactions of the HEMBAN - QR EE RS E B
Company were conducted under the principle of fairness and the REHEBRTHEAFHRE
procedures of the transactions were in compliance with laws and TEHERRFAEFE AR ABHREBE
regulations. The Supervisory Committee was not aware of any AR EABREFNZ BB R -
action which would damage the interests of the Company and the
shareholders.
In conclusion, the Supervisory Committee has no disagreement on PR EEEHREFAN
the matters supervised during the reporting period. EBEEHERE -
Lu Wenwu BX R
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee EFeFE
Weifang, Shandong Province IR &

26 March 2020

76

—E-EF=ZA=+H

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an excellent,
solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top priority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules other than Code A.2.1, which requires that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be two separate roles and should not be
performed by the same individual, and that certain directors of the Company
did not attend all of the Company’s annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting in 2019 as required under code provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code due to other important work-related affairs.
Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") serves as the Chairman as well as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Despite such deviation, the directors
believe that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through
the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive directors, there
is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors and
certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. In respect of the following
areas, our internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than
the Corporate Governance Code:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the Strategic
Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Wang Gongyong, the Chairman of the
committee, holds the relevant professional qualification or professional
knowledge related to accounting or financial management.
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RPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating
the Company’s overall strategies and corporate governance policies, setting
management targets, regulating internal controls and financial management,
and supervising the management’s performance, while the day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the executives of
the Company.

The Board currently comprises 14 directors, whose details are set out on pages
25 to 29 of this annual report. The Board currently includes six executive
directors, three non-executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan Hongming and Mr. Yan Jianbo as
Executive Directors; Mr. Jiang Kui, Mr. Gordon Riske and Mr. Michael Martin
Macht as Non-executive Directors; and Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang
Gongyong, Mr. Ning Xiangdong, Mr. Li Hongwu and Mr. Wen Daocai as
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company has formulated and implemented a “Diversity Policy regarding
Members of the Board of Directors” to support the attainment of strategic
goals and the needs for sustainable development. The composition of the
Board of Directors will be based on a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. Final decisions
will be made based upon the merits of the individuals and his or her
contributions to be made to the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance that
they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the period as
stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors confirmed that
they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business or
family relationship or any relationship in other material aspects with each
other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has any personal
and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material contracts entered
into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The terms of office of Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang Gongyong and Mr. Ning
Xiangdong, independent non-executive directors of the Company, shall be
from 14 June 2018 to 29 June 2020. The terms of office of other executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shall be from 14 June 2018 to the conclusion of the 2020 annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Company attached great importance to the continuous professional
development of the directors and company secretary and paid close attention
to and actively organized relevant trainings for them. Each of the directors of
the Company actively participated in various special trainings in respect to
corporate governance and directors’ responsibilities in full compliance with
Code A.6.5 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Hong Kong Listing Rules and regulatory requirements of the PRC. The
company secretary of the Company completed relevant trainings as required
under Rule 3.29 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

In 2019, the Board reviewed and revised, where necessary, the corporate
governance policies and practice of the Company, reviewed and supervised the
training and continuing professional development attended by the directors
and senior management, reviewed and supervised the Company’s policies and
practice in its compliance with laws and regulations, reviewed and supervised
the code of conduct of employees and directors, and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

In 2019, the Company held seven Board meetings. The principal activities of
the Board in 2019 were as follows:

o Review of the annual and interim results of the Company;
o Review of the auditors’ report, internal control audit report, final
financial report, financial budget report and corporate social

responsibilities report of the Company;

o Review of the annual profit distribution, interim dividend and the 2018
final dividend distribution proposal;

o Consideration and approval of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions;

o Consideration and approval of the Company’s banking facilities;

o Consideration and approval of the amendments to the Articles of
Association;

o Consideration and approval of the provision of financial guarantee to
subsidiaries;

o Consideration and approval of the dealings in derivatives by subsidiaries;

o Consideration and approval of the change in accounting policies of the

Company;

PHREBHRS (&)

AARBIUYFATEZTRELRE TEERX
A -BRREENTHAE T - N\FXA
+THBERE-_ZE-_FTFXA-_t+hhHIL-H
HMERTES FRTESTNBILIERTE
EMTIHE T - NFAATHNBREARRD
AIZZE-_ZFREAFRGLERZAL-

ARAIEEENMRANENKEZRER
MTYREERAGLM2MEENEN - AR
AR EE2HRREE LR RN &+ (e
XERTADAGSARAMEETNER  EiE
SMTURAAEEE EFEBRAFTRTIE
BWZREBRN ARBRAMECERE
B ETAR RIS 329168 2K TR IR o

EXxgEE T -NAFEARS REFT(
AB)ARBAMEEERARRERFTR BRI K
EREENSRERAENBIIRSERE
BR BRAREERAAEETEEREER
ENENBRERER BILEREERE
EMRTEAME S ARENKEEERTAD
GNP

ARRAR-_F-NFRETELREFEEH-
EEg T -NFENIEIEMOT:

ERARBFERPHES:

c BHARABHBE AHBHEHR
S B BRERE  HIBEEBE M

TEERS

e EHFEMNBIE FHERER-F
—NERBEEIKE TR

s FHHEXFHIEHEUNBIRS:

e EHUALFAPWERTREED:

o EREFKRRER):

e FEURFLAMERMER:




RPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The total remuneration of the directors in 2019, including the basic salary,
performance-linked salary, incentive salary and discretionary bonus, amounted
to approximately RMB8.27 million. Independent non-executive directors were
only entitled to receive director’s fees but not other salary or remuneration. For
details of the remuneration of directors, please refer to Note X.5(5) to the
financial statements of the Company.

AupiT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee has been established by the Board.

The Audit Committee is principally responsible for supervising the Company’s
internal audit system and its implementation, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control policies and systems
as well as material connected transactions and proposing the engagement or
removal of external auditors. It is also responsible for the communications
between the internal auditors and the external auditors as well as review of
financial information of the Company and the disclosure thereof.

The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive directors of
the Company, currently including Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang Gongyong, Mr.
Ning Xiangdong, Mr. Li Hongwu and Mr. Wen Daocai. As Mr. Wang
Gongyong has the appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
financial matters, he acts as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the recommendations
set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

In 2019, the Company held five meetings of the Audit Committee.

1. On 20 March 2019, the second meeting of the Audit Committee of the
fifth session of the Board of Directors was convened by way of
concurrent phone conference and on-site meeting. The meeting
considered and approved resolutions regarding the financial report and
auditors’ report for 2018, the re-appointment of Shandong Hexin
Accountants LLP as the Company's internal control auditors for the year
2019, the internal control self-evaluation report for 2018, the internal
audit report for 2018 and the change in accounting policies, and
resolved to submit the same resolutions to the Board for consideration
and approval. The meeting also considered and approved the Company’s
internal audit work plan for 2019.
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2. On 23 April 2019, the first provisional meeting in 2019 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolution regarding the review of the 2019 first
quarterly report of the Company and appointment of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP as the auditors of the
Company for the year 2019, and resolved to submit the same resolution
to the Board for consideration and approval.

3. On 23 July 2019, the second provisional meeting in 2019 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the determination of the
auditors’ fee for the year 2019 and the engagement in the trading of
derivative products by a controlling subsidiary of the Company, Weichai
Power (Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., and resolved to
submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

4. On 26 August 2019, the third meeting of the Audit Committee of the
fifth session of the Board of Directors was convened by way of
concurrent phone conference and on-site meeting. The meeting
considered and approved resolutions regarding the Company’s 2019
interim financial report, review report issued by the accountant and the
change in accounting policies of the Company, and resolved to submit
the same resolution to the Board for consideration and approval.

5. On 25 October 2019, the third provisional meeting in 2019 of the Audit
Committee was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered
and approved the resolutions regarding the review of the 2019 third
quarterly report of the Company and the change in accounting policies
of the Company, and resolved to submit the same resolution to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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In addition, in the course of audit of the financial report 2019 of the
Company, the Audit Committee performed the following tasks on the principle
of diligence in strict compliance with relevant requirements of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission and Shenzhen Stock Exchange as well as the
Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee under the Board of Directors and
the Protocol of Work Procedures of the Audit Committee under the Board of
Directors:

(1) It carefully reviewed the Company’s approval work plan for 2019 and
relevant materials, and fixed the time arrangement for the audit work
for year 2019 after discussion with CPA firm in charge of audit for the
Company;

(2) Before the CPA firm commenced its audit work, the Audit Committee
had reviewed the first draft of the financial statements 2019 of the
Company and considered that the Company’s preparation of the
financial statements essentially reflected the financial conditions and
operating results of the Company, and agreed that the audit work for
2019 can be commenced based on such financial statements;

(3)  After the issue of preliminary audit opinion by the CPA firm, the Audit
Committee reviewed the financial report after the issue of the
preliminary audit opinion, and considered that the financial report 2019
of the Company gave a true, accurate and complete view of the overall
operating conditions and financial position of the Company in 2019, and
agreed that the annual report 2019 and summary thereof can be
prepared based on such financial report;

(4)  After the supply of the preliminary audit outcome for year 2019 by the
CPA firm, the Audit Committee convened a meeting on 23 March 2020,
on which it concluded on the audit work for year 2019, and considered
and approved resolutions regarding the financial report and auditors’
report for the year 2019, internal control self-evaluation report and audit
report as well as re-appointment of the auditors of the Company for the
year 2020.

Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and the
effectiveness of financial control, internal audit, internal control and risk
management system of the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The auditors of the Company have audited the financial statements and have
issued an unqualified auditors’ report.
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STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC”) has been
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the Company’s
strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic planning, and
facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies and governance
structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and of
the SDIC), Mr. Michael Martin Macht (Vice Chairman of the SDIC), Mr. Zhang
Quan, Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Yuan Hongming, Mr. Yan Jianbo
and Mr. Ning Xiangdong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration packages and terms of employment of directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company. The Committee also
determines the relevant remuneration policy for directors, supervisors and
senior management of the Company and matters relating to their participation
in incentive schemes operated by the Company. For details of the
remuneration policy of the Company, please refer to page 66 of this annual
report.

During the reporting period, the Company held three meetings of the
Remuneration Committee.

1. On 18 March 2019, the first meeting in 2019 of the Remuneration
Committee under the Board of Directors was convened by way of
facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the resolutions
regarding the implementation of incentive scheme in 2018 vis-a-vis
senior management and core members of the Company and
implementation of performance evaluation on the senior management
of the Company, and resolved to submit the same resolution to the
Board of Directors for consideration and approval.

2. On 20 May 2019, the second meeting of the Remuneration Committee
of the Board of Directors in 2019 was convened by way of facsimile. The
meeting considered and approved the resolution regarding the
adjustments to the standards of subsidies applicable to directors in the
fifth session of the Company.
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3. On 24 July 2019, the third meeting of the Remuneration Committee of
the Board of Directors in 2019 was convened by way of facsimile. The
meeting considered and approved the resolution regarding the
adjustments to the incentive scheme applicable to scientific technological
person of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive director and
two independent non-executive directors, being Mr. Zhang Zhong (chairman
of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tan Xuguang and Mr. Wang Gongyong.

During the review period, in the course of performing its duties, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of
the Company, assessed the performance of executive directors and senior
management members, and approved the service contracts of the respective
directors, supervisors and senior management members.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board.

During the reporting period, the Company held one meeting of the
Nomination Committee.

On 31 October 2019, the first meeting in 2019 of the Nomination Committee
was convened by way of facsimile. The meeting considered and approved the
resolution regarding the nomination of the secretary of the Board, and
resolved to submit the same resolution to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one executive director, including Mr. Zhang Zhong
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Wang Gongyong
and Mr. Li Hongwu. The meetings of the Nomination Committee were
arranged and held on an as-needed basis. The Nomination Committee will
identify qualified candidates to fill the Board’s membership whenever such
vacancy arises based on relevant policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, academic qualification,
professional experience and skills. It will also nominate such candidates for the
Board to consider, regularly review the composition of the Board and make
suggestions as to any change in the membership of the Board that may be
required.

84 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD

PHREBGHRS (&)

3. 2019%F7A24B  RalABEAREH

Tmmi”*ﬁ%%ﬁ%w == RV/N

CHEZBBTHARATHBEA
ﬁA; THREBNZER

FMEZEEXKBEMBR - E2RTESERM
HBUFATES BRESEEFMHEZE
EXFE) BRAEERTIEBELRL-

REEHRRN FHEZEERTEBRE &

HERRFHBE FTEATESRERE
BABRBMUEEHES EERERE
BABRBELD -
REZES
EFECHUREREAE -

$¢ SR ARKBH - KRRAEER

2019F10A31B AR UBEARXNEHT
WWIOFE-—REFTSREZTES AREH
EFBRTHERESEA T%%Awim—
WRES LMFEREXRAGIEETEEH -

REZEERERNER=ZRBIINTE
ER—BHTESE BRERSEEREZE
I BEEELE FEEELERTHR
RE-REZBEECRATFTEMLRHELE
T-BEEFELATR REZEERE
PREBBRDEREBRAZRBREETRRY
MR F& XEREEER BKR 2BE-

BEXEBRNMRES T EHESEZR ZZEQ
NEeERAAEBHEZSEZE AFEHRTE
=ENEE EFRERUETNEFSHEE
BEftEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and the senior
management of the Company, so as to prevent them from abusing their
authorities and infringing the interests of the Company, its shareholders and
staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory Committee are in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC. The Supervisory Committee held four meetings during the Year to carry
out its supervision on behalf of the shareholders in respect of the Company’s
financial matters and the lawfulness and compliance in respect of the
discharge of duties by the directors and senior management of the Company.
The members of the Supervisory Committee attended the Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company and diligently performed their supervisory
duties.

Attendances at meetings of the Shareholders, Board, Supervisory Committee
and special committees (attendance in person/number of meetings) during the
Year are as follows:
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General Supervisory Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee

Name ®E BREXE Exg EZe® ENZEE FMZEE REZEE

Executive Directors HTEES

Tan Xuguang ERk 7 33

Zhang Quan KR 22 77

Xu Xinyu BT 12 6/70 1N

Sun Shaojun BLE 12 77

Yuan Hongming BN 12 6/70

Yan Jianbo BRER 5/7¢

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Jiang Kui 1% 6/70

Gordon Riske Gordon Riske 10”2 6/70

Michael Martin Macht Michael Martin Macht 7

Wang Yuepu (resigned on TRE(R-Z=FF

26 March 2020) SR TREER) n
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General Supervisory Audit Remuneration ~Nomination
Meeting Board Committee  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
Name #& BRRAE Ezg EZe ENZEE FMZEEE R¥ZEE
Independent Non-executive BIFHTES
Directors
Zhang Zhong KA 12 6/70 5/5 33 17N
Wang Gongyong TEE 12 1 5/5 33 1N
Ning Xiangdong ERR 12 6/7 5/5
Li Hongwu FHR 212 6/7% 5/5 1n
Wen Daoca BiEs 11 7 5/5
Supervisors Ex
Lu Wenwu BEXH 12 4/4
Ma Changhai 5% 1 24
Wu Hongwei Rt 22 44

According to the requirements under Code I(d) of the Corporate Governance ER(EEBEATADEIDKRRAE BRES
Code, the attendance of alternate directors shall not be included in the MHERE ARG ABHEESOLERE -
attendance of the relevant directors.

Notes: Bt

(1) In addition, the director also appointed another director as his representative to attend (1) W ZEEFZMLES —EE2ERAREL A
and vote at one meeting of the board on his behalf. HE-—REFEEAIRELRE-

(2)  In addition, the director also appointed another director as his representative to attend 2 W ZEEFZMLS -—EEZERARL AE
and vote at two meetings of the board on his behalf. HE-—REFEEAIRELRE-
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GENERAL MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ general meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
providing an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound
relationship between the Board and the shareholders of the Company.
Therefore, the Company places great attention to such meetings. In 2019, the
Company convened two general meetings. Matters reviewed and approved at
the said meetings include the following:

I. 2018 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HELD oN 20
JUNE 2019

1. To consider and approve the full text and summary of the Annual Report
of the Company for year 2018

2. To consider and approve the Report of the Board of Directors of the
Company for year 2018

3. To consider and approve the Report of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company for year 2018

4. To consider and approve the financial report of the Company and the
Auditors’ Report for year 2018

5. To consider and approve the Bf &R &R

Company for year 2018

(final financial report) of the

6.  To consider and approve the B #FE&E %R+ (financial budget report) of
the Company for year 2019

7. To consider and approve the distribution of profit of the Company for
year 2018

8.  To consider and approve the granting of a mandate to the Board of
Directors for payment of interim dividend to the shareholders of the
Company for year 2019

9. To consider and approve the amendments to the Articles of Association
of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
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To consider and approve the re-appointment of || & 115 & 51 &M & 7§
BT (45 % & B & #) (Shandong Hexin Accountants LLP) as the internal
control auditors of the Company for year 2019

To consider and approve the resolution in relation to the connected
transaction between the Company and Shantui Construction Machinery
Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the resolution in relation to the connected
transaction between the Company and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Finance Co., Ltd.

To consider and approve the appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP as the auditors of the Company for year
2019 and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration

FIRST EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
2019 HeELD oN 24 SEPTEMBER 2019

To consider and approve the grant of the guarantees by the Company
for the benefit of an overseas wholly-owned subsidiary in respect of
certain loans and the relevant interest rate swap transactions.

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of the
provision of general services and labour services by Weichai Holdings
Group Co., Ltd (and its subsidiaries and/or associates) to the Company
and its subsidiaries.

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of the
purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and scrap metals
etc., materials, diesel engines and related products, processing services
and import and export agency services by the Company and its
subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings Group Co., Ltd (and its subsidiaries
and/or associates).

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of the
purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and related
products and labour services by the Company and its subsidiaries from
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (and its subsidiaries
and/or associates).

To consider and approve the connected transactions in respect of the
sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and
related products and provision of the relevant services by the Company
and its subsidiaries to Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co.,
Ltd. (and its subsidiaries and/or associates).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders of the Company holding more than 10% of the shares of the
Company either individually or collectively requesting the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting shall proceed in accordance
with the procedures set forth in Article 104 of the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to Article 74 of the Articles of Association, shareholders of the
Company who hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the
Company’s shares shall have the right to propose a motion to the Company
for consideration at the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the Company’s shares may
propose a provisional motion in writing to the Board of Directors 10 business
days prior to the general meeting. Within two days upon the receipt of the
proposed motion, the Board of Directors shall issue a supplementary notice of
the general meeting to announce the content of the provisional motion.

Shareholders of the Company are welcome to send their enquiries to the
Board via our Capital Operation Department, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to the requirement of the Articles of Association, any shareholder
who, by itself or jointly, holding shares representing more than 3% of the
voting rights of the Company shall have the right to nominate candidates for
directorship. The number of shares directly or indirectly held by each
shareholder cannot be further subdivided in order to propose a motion by
himself or jointly with other persons.

The period for service of notices in writing by shareholders to the Company of
the intention to propose a candidate for election as a director in accordance
with the Articles of Association and of such candidate’s consent to be elected
shall be at least 7 days, which shall commence from the day following the
dispatch of the notice convening the general meeting for the election of
directors and shall end on the date which is no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.
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RPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory documents such as
the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, Rules Governing the
Listing of Shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Administration of the Buyback
by Listed Companies of Their Public Shares Procedures (Trial Implementation),
Supplementary Provisions on the Share Repurchase by Listed Companies by
Means of Centralized Bidding and Guidelines of Shenzhen Stock Exchange for
the Share Repurchase via Central Bidding by Listed Companies, and the
mandate granted at the Company’s 2018 first extraordinary general meeting
and 2018 first class meeting of holders of A Shares upon approval of the
Board at the 2019 first extraordinary board meeting held on 10 January 2019,
in view of the repurchase and cancellation of A shares, corresponding
amendments were made to the articles of association of the Company,
including provisions on the total number of shares.

Pursuant to the recent amendments to the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Guidelines for the Articles of Association of Listed
Companies (2018 revision), and taking into consideration the actual
circumstances and operation development needs of the Company, upon
approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 2018 annual general
meeting held on 20 June 2019, certain amendments were made to the articles
of association of the Company, including provisions on repurchase of shares
and election procedures of supervisors.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The purpose
of such system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material mis-statement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Company has an internal audit function. The management maintains and
monitors the system of controls on an ongoing basis. The Audit Committee,
which was delegated by the Board, reviews the Group’s risk management and
internal control policies and system at least once a year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Year, based on the evaluations made by the management, the
Audit Committee reviewed and was satisfied that nothing had come to its
attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the system of risk
management and internal control covering financial, operational, compliance
and all other material controls of the Group was inadequate, and there is an
ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the
Group. The Audit Committee considered that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and adequate.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeL CoODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code").
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure that financial statements of the Group are
issued in a timely manner so that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the periods of three months and two months, respectively,
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the external
auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP. The
directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. They are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast doubt
upon the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP as the auditors of the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2019, an amount of RMB8.8 million was paid/payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP for their audit service.
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Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619
To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Power"), which comprise the consolidated
and the Company’s balance sheets as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated and the Company’s income statements, the consolidated
and Company’s cash flow statement and the consolidated and the
Company’s statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the abovementioned financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and the Company’s
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated and
the Company’s financial performance and the consolidated and the
Company’s cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“ASBEs”).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on
Auditing (“CSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of Weichai Power
in accordance with China Code of Ethics for Certified Public Accountants
(the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
determine that the following matters as key audit matters are required to
be communicated in the audit report.
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AubpiToRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

(I) Assessment for impairment of goodwill and
trademark rights with an indefinite useful life

1.

Description

As stated in Notes V.22 and 20 to the financial statements,
as at 31 December 2019, included in the consolidated
financial statements were goodwill of gross carrying
amount of RMB22,055,781,119.44, which were calculated
by consolidating KION GROUP AG (“KION"), Egemin
Automation Inc., Retrotech Inc. and Dematic Group, and
trademark rights with an indefinite useful life of gross
carrying amount of RMB7,345,014,715.50, which were
owned by KION in intangible assets, which is qualitative
significant to consolidated financial statements. As stated
in Notes Il.20 and 21 to the financial statements, goodwill
and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life shall be
tested for impairment every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired.
The test for impairment of goodwill and trademark rights
with an indefinite useful life involves significant accounting
estimates and judgments of the management. We therefore
identified impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with
an indefinite useful life as a key audit matter.
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ITORS" REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

2. Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

M

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of assessment for impairment of goodwill
and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life.

Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
adopted by management in determining the
recoverable amounts of asset groups or groups of asset
groups of the relevant asset. This evaluation is based
on the availability of the recoverable amounts of asset
groups or groups of asset groups of goodwill and
trademark rights with an indefinite useful life.

Reviewing and evaluating the appropriateness of
the key assumptions and judgments adopted by
management in the process of performing impairment
tests using the model of the present value of expected
future cash flows based on the Company’s relevant
historical records and our understanding of the
Company’s business and the industry in which the
Company operates; reviewing the basis of expected
cash flows and its reasonableness by combining actual
operation of asset groups or groups of asset groups
and market analysis;

Checking the basis of determining fair values of
recoverable amounts of groups of asset groups and
expected disposal fees, performing recalculation
and verifying the accuracy of the results from the
assessment for impairment of goodwill;

Reviewing the appropriateness of model of discounted
future cash flows used by the management and the
reasonableness of the discounted rate used by making
use of the work performed by our internal valuation
experts;

Checking the disclosures on information related to the
assessment for impairment of goodwill and trademark
rights with an indefinite useful life in the financial
statements.
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AubpiToRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

(I)  Accounting treatment for business of leasing of
forklift trucks

1.

Description

As stated in Notes Il1.16, 29 and 34 to the financial
statements, leasing of forklift trucks is a principal business
segment of KION, a subsidiary of Weichai Power, which
includes 3 categories of business: direct leasing, sale and
leaseback subleases and indirect leasing. Weichai Power
is required to recognize classification, measurement
and disclosures on various leasing business contracts in
accordance with the requirements of ASBEs. Various types
of leasing business involves different accounting treatments
and requires the use of significant accounting judgments
with higher degree of complication. We therefore identified
accounting treatment for business of leasing of forklift trucks
as a key audit matter.

Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1) Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
the audit of accounting treatment for business of
leasing of forklift trucks, including the engagement
of information technology specialists for testing the
internal control of the system of forklift trucks leasing
business;

(2)  Reviewing various leasing business contracts, checking
and evaluating relevant financial accounting handbook,
automatic accounting treatment categorization, and
whether the rules of classification for leasing contracts
is consistent with the requirements of ASBEs;

(3)  Checking the supportive evidence of inputs from the
system of forklift trucks leasing business on a sampling
basis to evaluate the accuracy and the completeness
of inputs;

(4)  Performing confirmation procedures to third parties to
evaluate the completeness of contracts recorded in the
system of forklift trucks leasing business.
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Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

(1) Recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions
services

1.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Description

As stated in Note V.52 to the financial statements, revenue
from supply chain solutions services for the year of 2019
of Weichai Power amounted to RMB18,341,103,742.64,
which was material to the overall financial statements. As
stated in Notes IIl.26 and 34 to the financial statements,
the performance costs actually incurred on a cumulative
basis as a percentage of estimated total costs is used by
Weichai Power to ascertain progress of performance of
supply chain solution services contracts. The management is
required to make reasonable judgments for expected total
cost and corresponding progress of performance obligations
in relation to supply chain solutions services contracts, and
to perform continuous assessment and revisions in the
process of performance of the contracts. These assessments
and revisions involve significant accounting estimates and
judgments of the management. We therefore identified
recognition of revenue from supply chain solutions services as
a key audit matter.

Audit Response
Our main audit procedures for this key audit matter include:

(1)  Testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of the key internal controls relevant to
revenue from supply chain solutions services;

(2)  Obtaining supply chain solutions services contracts on
a sampling basis based on their risk characteristics,
and evaluating whether these business types fulfilled
the requirements of revenue recognition based on
progress of performance obligations within a certain
period in accordance with agreed actual situation of
the contracts;

Reviewing the appropriateness of progress of
performance obligations on a sampling basis in
accordance with cost budget information, report
of cost actually incurred and calculation tables of
progress of performance obligations;
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Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

(3) Selecting projects to interview those who were
responsible for relevant businesses on a sampling
basis, to understand the performance obligations
and progress of projects, the adjustments between
the initial estimation and budgeted cost and reasons
of adjustment, and whether there existed any other
events which is out of expectation and checking
further supportive evidence when necessary;

(4)  Selecting projects as to its reasonableness and
accuracy of budgeted cost to perform retrospective
reviewing procedure;

(5) Selecting projects to check the progress of
performance obligations of projects on site when
necessary.

IV. OTHER INFORMATION

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the 2019 annual report of Weichai Power, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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ITORS" REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Management of Weichai Power is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with ASBEs,
and for designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control
as the Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management is responsible
for assessing Weichai Power’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Management either
intends to liquidate Weichai Power or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Weichai
Power's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
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AubpiToRS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(2)  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control.

(3)  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Management.

(4)  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Weichai
Power’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause Weichai Power to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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DITORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

Deloitte Shi Bao (Shen) Zi (20) No. P00619

(5)  Evaluate the overall presentation, including the disclosures,
structure and content of the financial statements, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(6)  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within Weichai
Power to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the benefits of
public interest for such communication.
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Chinese Certified Public Accountant: AR ETRD
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET BEHEEEBRER

31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2019F 12A31HARS T
Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item BH BisE 2019 12831H 20184124318
Current assets MEEAE
Cash and cash equivalents L& VA1 48,817,622,206.26 38,209,952,558.31
Financial assets held for trading RHUEHEE VA2 4,451,059,463.07 4,115,199,600.23
Notes receivable ERER VA3 15,920,141,988.31 18,056,440,277.52
Accounts receivable FEUER X VH4 14,285,262,297.09 13,155,363,494.20
Receivable financing [ENGRIARYE VES 10,537,909,983.71 6,936,224,398.10
Prepayments BRFIA V6 996,710,182.20 1,109,227,313.17
Other receivables H A FEUR Va7 681,601,186.05 1,087,148,524.03
Inventories BE VES 24,717,700,810.03 20,674,287,133.47
Contract assets BREE VA9 1,174,036,594.50 935,892,539.90
Assets held for sale HEGEEE 24,237,289.50 5,525,306.60
Non-current assets due within one year —FERIENERDEE VA0 2,658,043,734.50 2,127,858,173.40
Other current assets Hiv R & E VEN 1,920,759,332.58 1,692,343,618.45
Total current assets MEVEEART 126,185,085,067.80 108,105,462,937.38
Non-current assets FERBEE
Long-term receivables RHEKZ V12 8,447,617,640.00 6,483,298,008.60
Long-term equity investments RERERE VH13 4,711,144,533.01 4,463,591,313.13
Investment in other equity instruments HipgEsm TARE VH14 2,103,129,675.18 1,315,633,672.96
Other non-current financial assets HipIEREemEE VA5 636,502,629.08 192,949,412.40
Investment property REMFEE VH16 537,298,133.13 593,459,307.58
Fixed assets EEEE VH17 26,318,667,724.94 29,454,072,247.73
Construction in progress FEIR VH18 5,408,666,017.06 2,848,101,239.62
Right-of-use assets BREEE V19 9,109,528,185.30 -
Intangible assets BYAE V20 23,435,580,132.59 23,299,455,749.37
Development expenditure kg VAa21 139,500,519.38 440,148,223.16
Goodwill B V22 23,822,520,317.99 23,037,386,296.04
Long-term prepaid expenses ROGHER V23 254,367,462.55 228,459,134.85
Deferred tax assets EEFEHEE V24 5,034,346,014.96 4,458,451,001.33
Other non-current assets HpIEREEE VE25 687,720,493.20 355,896,630.03
Total non-current assets ERBEES:T 110,646,589,478.37 97,170,902,236.80
Total assets BAEL 236,831,674,546.17  205,276,365,174.18
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OLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED) BHEEEBER(E)
31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2019F 12A31HAR KT
Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item HH BisE 20195128311 20184512 A31H
Current liabilities REEE
Short-term loans KA VA26 2,014,692,401.39 5,472,765,901.24
Financial liabilities held for trading Ro5UeMEE VH27 131,920,754.38 213,435,765.47
Notes payable APES VA28 22,446,404,536.58 15,925,016,265.08
Accounts payable FERTIRFR V29 36,748,503,682.85 30,869,354,934.85
Contract liabilities ARaE VE30 10,654,453,360.19 8,722,443,043.80
Payroll payable T 1<F B TS5 V31 5,588,996,060.47 5,184,666,613.19
Taxes payable [EXFE VAa32 2,064,584,764.70 2,506,794,642.37
Other payables HA R VF33 6,511,002,642.85 6,502,173,092.72
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRESEHERBEE V34 12,998,360,887.57 6,898,699,368.61
Other current liabilities Hunsas VF35 6,717,853,612.80 6,121,799,350.16
Total current liabilities wEBEAE 105,876,772,703.78 88,417,148,977.49
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term borrowings REIER V36 11,373,657,990.58 10,908,512,233.85
Bonds payable ERESH V37 10,295,279,995.18 12,265,020,075.27
Lease liabilities HEaRE VF38 8,943,580,095.61 -
Long-term payables RHEERR V39 4,658,205,937.06 9,895,419,535.20
Long-term payroll payable = HAPE TR T A V40 11,667,005,084.73 9,580,057,732.13
Accruals and provisions EHAE V41 315,667,957.84 364,979,471.20
Deferred income EE V42 4,608,566,796.01 3,256,007,618.70
Deferred tax liabilities EEMEHAaR VE24 5,406,314,269.55 5,772,705,450.50
Other non-current liabilities HibIEmEas V43 3,911,898,285.35 2,557,186,306.15
Total non-current liabilities EnEaEss 61,180,176,411.91 54,599,888,423.00
Total liabilities BEEE 167,056,949,115.69 143,017,037,400.49
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

SHEEERBR(E)
2019F 12A31HARS T

31 December 2018
2018%12A31H

Note 31 December 2019
Item EH it 2019%12H318
Shareholders’ equity R i
Share capital &N Vh44 7,933,873,895.00
Capital reserve EVAVNT V45 118,896,726.65
Less: Treasury shares o EER V46 -
Other comprehensive income Hkra e VHA47 (1,278,030,636.58)
Special reserve HIAE VA48 193,099,471.45
Surplus reserve BN VA49 973,728,220.76
Retained earnings ROECHE VH50 37,282,373,385.43

7,997,238,556.00
113,699,432.76
499,911,217.21
(1,570,594,557.01)
155,056,854.10
674,283,390.61
32,443,962,374.77

Total equity attributable to the shareholders of BN ATIRE A

the parent 45,223,941,062.71 39,313,734,834.02
Minority interests DEIR R R VES51 24,550,784,367.77 22,945,592,939.67
Total shareholders’ equity R EREE 69,774,725,430.48 62,259,327,773.69

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

B EMBCRAE S A

236,831,674,546.17

205,276,365,174.18

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative

EERERA

Tan Xuguang
FIEN

Principal in charge of accounting

TEGHIEEEA

Kwong Kwan Tong
BRI =

B R AR B T SRR O AR R RE

MEHmEAATIABEARSE

Head of accounting department

SHHRBREREA

Li Xia

=
E2

RT
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LIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

B HFmiE%

2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
the year previous year
Item EH KERER FERERE
. Revenue — HERA VE52 174,360,892,512.86  159,255,832,286.92
Less: Cost of sales L BERR VH52 136,353,235,434.32  123,686,413,712.22
Taxes and surcharges i KMt V53 663,961,091.30 723,216,029.13
Distribution and selling expenses HEEM V54 11,254,073,577.96 10,619,172,364.29
General and administrative expenses EEEMR VA55 6,900,199,388.90 6,259,505,543.37
Research & development expenses s A VT56 5,227,973,550.12 4,320,202,297.54
Finance expenses B17% % VE57 220,333,776.74 75,343,939.85
Incl: Interest expenses B : FIEEH VES57 1,233,361,936.01 1,150,950,408.70
Interest income FIEHA V57 1,067,326,294.25 1,059,722,329.53
Add: Other income o Hiblas VA58 318,138,370.04 232,190,063.55
Investment income BE Wz VAS59 694,686,304.10 464,812,907.17

Incl: investment income from associates Heb - HEEPEM

and joint ventures BEBEL
REW 244,231,790.47 173,768,638.90
Profit or loss on change of fair value AhBELZSHIER VE60 71,259,465.16 177,062,305.75
Impairment loss of credit ERREEX V61 (266,894,905.54) (210,300,037.17)
Impairment loss of assets BERERERX VEG62 (469,192,133.29) (633,519,321.29)
Gain on disposal of assets BERS W 66,779,887.80 1,501,183.76
. Operating profit = BEFE 14,155,892,681.79  13,603,725,502.29
Add: Non-operating income M EEIMEA V63 289,768,143.18 307,054,979.29
Less: Non-operating expenses W BEINT VE64 94,010,683.92 52,496,406.05
ll. Total profit = ME4EEE 14,351,650,141.05 13,858,284,075.53
Less: Income tax expenses B TSR E R VH65 2,444,643,048.56 2,232,550,533.06
IV. Net profit =il 11,907,007,092.49 11,625,733,542.47

() Breakdown by continuity of operations (DB ERHEES R
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. BB E B 11,907,007,092.49 11,625,733,542.47
(I Breakdown by attributable interests (D)RFTBEESENSE

1. Net profit attributable to shareholders of 1. BBRIARRE

the parent opelVe: 9,104,955,354.35 8,657,527,308.21

2. Minority interests

2. LEBRR A

2,802,051,738.14

2,968,206,234.26

104

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

AR NBRMNERAT



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Afﬁ :ﬁl.l Ira %E ( mE )
2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item HE BizE RERER FEEEE
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax HEMgEaBESHiiEEE 88,221,996.27 57,050,287.90
Net other comprehensive income attributable BENTARIRENEA
to shareholders of the parent after tax ?%éﬂﬂlﬁ?&é’ﬂﬁ?é??%ﬁ VHA47 305,975,740.86 (36,596,730.76)
()  Those other comprehensive income not to ()T REEDBERTED
be reclassified into profit or loss ﬁE Sl
1. Changes arising from re-measuring of 1B ERER A
defined benefit plan FTEI2E)E (594,361,674.17) 9,319,184.93
2. Other comprehensive income not to be 2. ﬁéﬁﬁ/{FT\ R
reclassified into profit or loss using the B EMZERE
equity method (132,262.02) 3,130,071.69
3. Change in fair value of investment in 3 EMERTARE
other equity instruments AR BEZS 619,944,039.01 (242,977,232.68)
() Those other comprehensive income to be (D)BEDEEBZN
reclassified into profit or loss Hinfra W
1. Other comprehensive income to be 1A T A EER
reclassified into profit or loss using the B R féRa e
equity method (996,322.81) 1,037,935.29
2. Cashflow hedging reserve 2L HEREENRE 51,461,808.71 (11,148,493.39)
3. Exchange differences on foreign 3NEMBHRERNE
currency translation =7 230,060,152.14 204,041,803.40
Net other comprehensive income BER L EIR R
attributable to minority interests HAR A Wamn
after tax & E5E (217,753,744.59) 93,647,018.66
VI. Total comprehensive income N AN EE 11,995,229,088.76 11,682,783,830.37
Total comprehensive income attributable to the BENTATIRERN
shareholders of the parent ,ﬁu?éllﬂzi??%i@ L 9,410,931,095.21 8,620,930,577.45
Total comprehensive income attributable to %‘ ROER R
minority interests TR A 2,584,297,993.55 3,061,853,252.92
VII. Earnings per share + Bl V66
() Basic earnings per share (=) EXER Y RMB1.157C RMB1.087C
(Il)  Diluted eamnings per share (Z)mEER N RMB1.157¢ RMB1.087T

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuiTy ABHRBRIREREEI}E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2019F 12 H31 HIFFEARE T

Incurred during the year
AEREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent

Share Capital Less:  comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital reserve  Treasury shares income reserve reserve earnings Subtotal interests Total equity
Item EB i3 Rx LN | i ERR Eftgahz Eud N | RARAE i HERRER BREEAH
I, Atend of previous year - EEREE 7,997,238,556.00 113,69943276  499.911,217.21  (1,570,504,557.01) 15505685410  674,283390.61 3244396237477 3931373483400 22,945592,939.67  62,259,327,773.69
Add: Change in accounting policies n:&HRRE l1=35 - - - (13.411,82043) - - (118987,18248)  (132,399,002.91)  (161,772,20136)  (294,171,204.27)
Il At beginning of year . REEYRE 7,997,238,556.00 11369943276 499.911,217.21  (1,584,006377.44) 15505685410 67428339061 32,324,07519229 39,181335,831.11 22,783,820,738.31  61,965,156,569.42
II. Movements in currnt year = REERE
) Total comprefensive income (=) Ak - - - 305,975,740.86 - - 910495535435  9,410,931,095.21  2,584,297,99355  11,995,229,088.76
(1) Injection and reduction (2) RERAMRDER
1. Cepialinjecion fiom 1. RERARL
shareholders - - - - - - - - M3BIN 22233393239
2. Acquisition of subsiciaries Wit - - - - - - - - 22,266589.11  272,266,589.11
3. Amount of share-based
payment taken to owners' RREENEE
equity Nt= - 3,171,41636 - - - - - 317141636 3,876,175.56 7,047,591.92
4. Acquistion of minoriy 4 BEFREER
interests in subsidiares Rk - (380,970.35) - - - - - (380,970.35) 11163450 (269,335.85)
5. Repurchase and ransfer of 5. FRAEEREE
its shares by subsidiaries R - 2,406,847.88 - - - - - 2,406,847.88 2,941,702.97 5,348,550.85
6. Cancelltion of treasury 6. iHEEEN
shares repurchased EER Viid6 (63,364,661.00) (499911,217.21) - - (436,546,556.21) - - - -
(1) Profit appropriation (Z) HiEAE
1. Appropriation o surplus 1. REBHAE
Teserve V49 - - - - - 73599138636 (735991,386.36) - - -
2. Distribution to shareholders 2 HRRNAR VES0 - - - - - - (3411565,774.85)  (3,411,565,774.85)  (1,129,490,549.00) (4,541,056,323.85)
3. Distibution to holders of 3 HFARER
other equity instruments of BRIRRAE
subsidiaries Iy - - - - - - - - (20175063151 (201,750,631.51)
(V) Spec reserve (1) EBEE
1. Appropriation during the year 1. KRR V48 - - - - 89,931,037.01 - - 89,931,037.01 4731149809 137,242,535.10
2. Used during the year ) KEER VR48 - - - - (51,888,419.66) - - (51,888419.60)  (34934716.20)  (86,823,135.86)
V. Atend of year B REEFHE 793387389500 118,896,726.65 - (1278030636.58) 19309947145 97372822076 37,282,373385.43 4522394106271  24,550,784,367.77  69,774,725,43048
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuiTy (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

BHBRREDREINEK(E)
2019F12A31HIFFEARE T

Incurred in previous year

EREE
Equiy attrbutable to shareholders of the parent
SENELATRRER
Other
Share Capital Less: comprehensive Spedil Surplus Retained Minority
Note capitel reserie  Treasury shares income Teserve resere eamings Subtotal Interess Total equity
ftem A8 i3 e ERDE i ERR Aisade SERE BHLE FARHE gt DYREER Rigasi
I. At beginning of year - TERNEE 7997238556.00  135898,75499 - (149992165203 11835589738 616811,881.87 28,107,682,748.63  35476,066,186.84  21,115348,617.01  56,591,414,803.85
Il Movements in current year o REEERHLE
() Total comprehensive income (-) elsiE - - - (365%,73076) - - 865752130821 BENFNSTTAS 30618532529 11,682,78383037
(1) Injction and reducton (2) BB &R
1. Capitalinjecton from 1. RERARR
shareholders - 6,045,559.92 - - - - - 6,045559.92 21397852471 220,024,084.63
2. Acquiston of additional 2. E5ETRARA
shares in subsidiaries - (255988714 - - - (61681188187 (23825845860) (88066322761  (23644316353) (1,117,106,391.14)
3. Amount of share-based 3. RAZFEA
payment taken to owners REEanLE
equity Xt— - 339356491 - - - - - 3,393,564.91 4,147,690.39 7,541,255.30
4. Disposal of subsidaries 4 REFLA - - - - (40462483) - - (40462483 (3571815258 (56,122,777.21)
5. Repurchase of shares n 5. FRERREE
subsidiaries - 6,045,559.92) - - - - (6,111,06800)  (12,156,627.92)  (15530,65261)  (27,687,280.53)
6. Repurchase ofsheres 6. EERR - - 49991121721 - - - - (99911.217.21) - (99911,21721)
7. Others 1 Ef - - - - - - - - (1478390053 (14,783,900.53)
(1) Profit appropriation (2) HiEsR
1. Appropriaton to suplus 1. RRRHNE
Teserve - - - - - 67428339061 (674,283,390561) - - -
2. Distrbution to shareholders ) HERASR VES0 - - - - - - (3436670939.08) (3436670939.08)  (958,335,392.12)  (4,395,006,331.20)
3. Distbution to holders of 3 H10FEH
other equity nstruments of ERIAREE
subsidiares 0AR - - - - - - - - (19166647759 (191,666,477.59)
(V) Internal transfer of owners' (1) FEehgse
equity
1. Other comprehensive 1. Ehfraha
income transfer to retained HERENE
eamings - - (34,076,17422) - - 34,076,174.22 - - -
V) Special resene (7) §BkE
1. Appropriation during the 1. FERR
year Vhd8 - - - - 8369164041 - - 83,691,64041 5247247909 136,164,119.50
2. Used during the year ) KEER VR48 - - - - (46,586,059.06) - - (46586059000 (2972988549 (7631594455
Il At end of year = REERHE 799723855600 11369943276 49991121721 (1570594557.01)  155056,854.10 67428339061 3244396237477 3931373483400  22945592,93967  62,259,327,773.69

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Item

IDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HH

SHFRERER

2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from sales of goods or
rendering of services

RELPELNRDNE
HERMm - USRI
MRE

Incurred during

the year
FERER

159,679,904,126.12

Incurred in
previous year

LEHRLE

143,893,896,451.25

Refunds of taxes W FBRE 555,856,616.80 467,342,670.18
Other cash received relating to operating U B E A AT T B
activities BRANEE V68 1,857,751,874.97 1,815,341,147.17
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating BT S RANGT
activities 162,093,512,617.89 146,176,580,268.60
Cash paid for goods and services BEMD  BEXABIN
Eopren 95,448,046,061.76 80,094,653,898.82
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees SRGEBTARABT
XNRE 24,853,983,466.96 23,468,421,972.75
Cash paid for all types of taxes YR EIBHE 7,328,820,583.76 7,656,796,881.42
Other cash paid relating to operating activities S E A GRS
BRANHEE VF68 10,627,969,222.75 12,695,078,782.36
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating MRS ENTE S/ NE
activities 138,258,819,335.23 123,914,951,535.35
Net cash flows from operating activities KETEBIEAR
REREFE V69 23,834,693,282.66 22,261,628,733.25
Il CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES =« REZBELNHRELTE
Cash received from sale of investments eI EWE RS 18,497,596,585.00 11,860,810,752.16
Cash received from return on investments MERENEKEINE e 381,796,817.72 324,204,188.68
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, EREETEE  BFEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets FEMREEEREH
ReER 42,558,130.71 63,112,831.87
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BETA AR MEMEE
and other business units BAIE RS TR - 108,601,950.68
Other cash received relating to investing W B Ho At B B EED
activities BEMRE 57,417,402.78 9,715,290.23
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing BB EEIR S TN
activities 18,979,368,936.21 12,366,445,013.62
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, ERETEE EBFEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets FEMRBEEZ TR
Be 5,393,918,354.54 3,683,603,315.61
Cash paid for acquisition of investments RELAHNES 21,094,588,167.54 15,814,013,079.57
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries BETFARREMEE
and other business units BAUSNRREFE V169 875,563,528.97 12,739,088.60
Other cash paid relating to investing activities S EMEREEE)
@RS 6,153,392.00 37,053,486.40
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing BEFHRESRE
activities 27,370,223,443.05 19,547,408,970.18
Net cash flows from investing activities REEBELEN
Reng e (8,390,854,506.84) (7,180,963,956.56)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

éf#IEﬁ}lll;%(ms)

2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item BHE BizE RERLEH FERERE
. CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES =+ S£&EHEANHEELHE
Cash received from capital contributions R E KR AR S 194,348,219.39 252,524,084.63
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Hep - FRERYDE
contributions of minority shareholders REREUF
okkn 194,348,219.39 252,524,084.63
Cash received from borrowings BEERKEIRNE S 33,534,744,764.88 18,462,276,990.98
Other cash received relating to financing WEIE fh B E )R
activities BEMES 1,430,726.00 119,120,223.32
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing FEEHRSMANE
activities 33,730,523,710.27 18,833,921,298.93
Cash repayments of borrowings BEEBIHRSE 34,858,450,737.61 18,798,295,792.82
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or SECRA - FE
profits and for interest expenses ERMEXZMNHIRE 5,407,836,779.10 5,281,737,986.40
Incl Cash paid to minority shareholders for Er : FRAZIT#HELE
distribution of dividends or profits by REAIRF] -
subsidiaries FIH 1,338,505,931.18 1,088,640,123.31
Other cash paid relating to financing activities SNEMEEEES
BHENRS VF68 1,031,466,536.03 1,734,182,913.57
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing SREDHRESMI G
activities 41,297,754,052.74 25,814,216,692.79
Net cash flows from financing activities SEEDELN
REnEFE (7.567,230,342.47) (6,980,295,393.86)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE [0« BEXEHHEL T
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HeEEBYHTE 29,038,216.40 24,978,636.47
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH I ReRReEEWF
EQUIVALENTS #NEE 7,905,646,649.75 8,125,348,019.30
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m:FBReRE
of year ZEMHEE 34,379,938,275.41 26,254,590,256.11
VI. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF 75+ FXRIREREEE
YEAR B VA69 42,285,584,925.16 34,379,938,275.41

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Y BALANCE SHEET

371 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

I\ =

AN

sE8E%

2019F 12A31HAR KT

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Item 1HH 201912 A31H 2018%12A31H
Current assets MBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BHES 27,276,378,348.59 19,192,409,975.78
Notes receivable eSS Xv+H1 19,031,065,273.37 21,026,407,121.15
Accounts receivable e AR R XV+H2 961,224,481.20 1,069,759,568.00
Prepayments BNE 252,912,459.06 385,395,385.93
Other receivables H UK XV+H3 495,183,938.26 501,826,716.43
Inventories P 3,442,624,138.43 1,971,178,990.99
Other current assets HEtRehEE 320,293,618.85 164,194,933.94
Total current assets REBEES 51,779,682,257.76 44,311,172,692.22
Non-current assets FERBEE
Long-term equity investments RERIERE XV+Ah4  15,588,308,928.23  14,531,123,322.77
Investment in other equity instruments HingEm TARE 191,620,200.00 170,082,200.00
Other non-current financial assets HEtIEmsemBiE 48,744,000.00 -
Investment property 1S E M EHE 1,098,873,377.18 1,372,826,553.46
Fixed assets EEEE 3,006,064,048.78 2,561,908,781.20
Construction in progress EREIR 2,277,083,525.08 922,996,632.68
Intangible assets BILEE 512,203,369.80 447,349,640.19
Goodwill [EES 341,073,643.76 341,073,643.76
Deferred tax assets EEMEHEE 910,637,045.17 949,075,808.16
Other non-current assets HiIEREEE 2,484,556,774.12 2,266,184,774.12
Total non-current assets EREBEEALT 26,459,164,912.12 23,562,621,356.34
Total assets BERE 78,238,847,169.88 67,873,794,048.56
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

roEEBEXR(E)

31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2019F 12A31HARS T
Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item EH BizE 2019512H318 20184124318
Current liabilities mEAaRE
Notes payable e 13,815,739,112.99 11,756,416,668.11
Accounts payable FERTIR 12,497,803,183.14 9,543,570,906.39
Contract liabilities AEEE 2,571,680,421.94 1,481,303,661.91
Payroll payable B < BBk T 5 B 985,532,575.51 916,685,488.49
Taxes payable ERXTHE 155,032,778.30 569,997,419.03
Other payables HA R 2,147,054,763.30 1,783,055,862.95
Other current liabilities Hibm#aE 1,674,274,867.54 1,681,702,830.61
Total current liabilities nBEEEE 33,847,117,702.72 27,732,732,837.49
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term payables REENAK 5,513,797.98 5,515,822.60
Long term payroll payable REAER T 5 M 24,734,049.15 13,444,746.89
Deferred income BN 906,196,708.93 803,454,411.80
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEA 936,444,556.06 822,414,981.29
Total liabilities A BB 34,783,562,258.78 28,555,147,818.78
Shareholders’ equity IR
Share capital %N 7,933,873,895.00 7,997,238,556.00
Capital reserve BARNTE 695,679,231.81 1,084,612,950.62
Less: Treasury shares W EER - 499,911,217.21
Other comprehensive income Hkra e (119,983,030.10) (47,258,130.00)
Special reserve HIE#E 94,899,845.80 74,867,864.57
Surplus reserve BN 3,607,357,154.34 2,811,115,722.19
Retained earnings KOEFE 31,243,457,814.25 27,897,980,483.61
Total shareholders' equity R EREE 43,455,284,911.10 39,318,646,229.78
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BENRRER G 78,238,847,169.88 67,873,794,048.56

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Y INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

railidx

2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
the year previous year
Item HE FERER EFEES
|. Revenue — BERA XV+H5 45,757,042,584.64 39,893,048,205.03
Less: Cost of sales L AR XV+H5 34,079,232,491.87 28,946,245,242 44
Taxes and surcharges i KB 234,748,928.63 306,411,463.18
Distribution and selling expenses HEER 1,375,838,410.81 1,276,464,299.55
General and administrative expenses ERER 1,025,771,136.68 1,107,952,484.34
Research & development expenses == 2,142,705,356.67 1,952,681,747.66
Finance expenses HBER (261,833,737.83) (182,620,590.84)
Incl- Interest expenses Heb : FEEH 18,735,546.18 -
Interest income FIEIA 283,571,744.85 222,103,675.51
Add: Other income e Bl 158,237,927.72 107,910,016.33
Investment income RE WS XV+H6 1,264,600,396.91 1,155,318,040.93
Incl: In vestment income from associates E: H & EN
and joint ventures BEBRFEL
RE Wz 109,875,033.76 88,197,647.06
Impairment loss of credit ERREERX 34,059,926.00 53,016,548.71
Impairment loss of assets BERBEERX (351,958,827.88) (212,114,306.07)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets BERBWZ(1BX) (3,447,181.83) 1,501,577.25
Il Operating profit — - EERHE 8,262,072,238.73 7,591,545,435.85
Add: Non-operating income - EEINRA 23,462,632.83 6,472,950.52
Less: Non-operating expenses B BEINT 24,087,846.95 12,913,841.38
lll. Total profit = FEeEsE 8,261,447,024.61 7,585,104,544.99
Less: Income tax expenses B S HE R 901,533,161.01 842,270,638.94
IV. Net profit /g~ EF)E 7,359,913,863.60 6,742,833,906.05
() Breakdown by continuity of operations (DB
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. BT T A 7,359,913,863.60 6,742,833,906.05
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax - EthirA ammBie 8 (72,724,900.10) (72,749,630.00)
() Those other comprehensive income not to ()T REEDBEEREM
be reclassified into profit or loss Hibsr AU
1. Change in fair value of investment in 1 EMER T ERE
other equity instruments NABEES (72,724,900.10) (72,749,630.00)
VI. Total comprehensive income N ERe e 7,287,188,963.50 6,670,084,276.05

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES INEQUITY ~2~oRFEREI}E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2019F 12 H31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during the year
KERER
Other
Less:  comprehensive Retained
Note Share capital  Capital reserve  Treasury shares income  Special reserve  Surplus reserve earnings Total equity
Item iR s A& BALE W ERR EfsakE EERE BHOR RAEAR RRER&H
I Atbeginning of year - FEETBE 7,997,238556.00  1,084,612,950.62 499,911.217.11 (47,258,130.00) 7486786457  2,811,115722.19  27,897,980483.61  39,318,646,229.78
I. Movementsincurrentyear = REEHEHLE
() Total comprehensive (-) GAkaEE
income - - - (72,724,900.10) - - 7359913.863.60  7,287,188,963.50
(I) Injection and reductionof (=) BERRATRS
hare capital AX
1. Acouistion of 1. Rhak
subsidiaries by way A7
of absorption - 47,612,837.40 - - - 60,250,045.79 133,120,628.25 240,983,511.44
2. Cancellaton of 2 HHEEE
treasury shares #h
repurchased (63,364,661.000  (436,546,556.21)  (499.911,217.21) - - - - -
(1) Proft appropriation (2) fEnE
1. Appropriation to 1. ERERLE
Surplus reserve - - - - - 73599138636 (735,991,386.36) -
2. Distrioution to 2 HERNAR
shareholders VS0 - - - - - - (3,411,565,774.85)  (3,411,565,774.85)
(V) Special resenve () 25RE
1. Aporopriation during 1. RERD
the year - - - - 27,744,064.10 - - 27,744,064.10
2. Used during the year 2 ERE - - - - (7.712,082.81) - - (1.112,08287)
Il Atend of ear = REERRE 793387389500 695,679,231.81 - (119983030.00) 9489984580 360735715434 314345781425  43455,284,911.10
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MENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITY (CONTINUED) NOBREZESI]NEK(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20191231 HILFEEAREE T

Incurred in previous year

HERES
Other
Less: comprefiensive Retained
Note Share capital Capital reserve Treasury shares income Special reserve Surplus reserve eamings Total equity
fiem R i3 i ERLE Wi ERR Esals LERG BiLE FARHE Rikaa;
I Atbeginning of year - FEENHE 7973855600 108031337462 S DBAYSI0 5998053 LI6ENINS 1526610000725 3656593560798
I Movementsincurentyear = AEEFEHAE
() Total comprehensive (-) GAkzER
income - - - (72,749,630.00) - - 674283390005  6,670,084,276.05
(1) Injction and reduction (2) BEBATED
EX
1. Acquistion of 1. RhAk
subsidiaries by way F27
of absorption - 4,299,576.00 - - - - - 4,299,576.00
2. Repurchase of shares 2. MERD - - 49991121721 - - - - (499911.217.1)
(1) Profit appropriation (2) HEsE
1. Appropriation to 1. RIRBLE
surplus reserve - - - - - 674,283,390.61 (674,283,390.61) -
2. Distrbution to 2 HRENAR
sharefolders 150 - - - - - - (3436670939.08)  (3436,670939.08)
(V) Special resenve (m) 2Eik
1. Appropriation during 1. RERR
the year - - - - 25,839,156.10 - - 25,839,156.10
2. Used during the year 2 TEER - - - - 10,930,230.06) - - (10,930,230.06)
Il Atend of year = FEERBE 7,997,238556.00  1,084,612,950.62 499911, 217.1 (47,258,130.00) 7486786457 281111572219 27,897,98048361  39,318,646,229.78
The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. P 5T B TS SRR MO AR EB
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

raREREXR

2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item 1HA BisE RERLEH EEFRERE
. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — » & ZBEANEERE
Cash received from sales of goods or HEMM - RIS
rendering of services WEIEE S 52,067,007,166.52 46,284,166,495.26
Refunds of taxes WEINF B RE 1,825,190.82 -
Other cash received relating to operating Ui B A ER 4 2R B
activities BHENRE 942,149,815.48 884,553,280.43
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating
activities FETBHHERANDE 53,010,982,172.82 47,168,719,775.69
Cash paid for goods and services EERL  BEXBK
XMHRE 33,796,626,079.22 28,736,008,707.85
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees SRGBRIARART
XMRE 1,962,354,573.92 1,724,647,121.08
Cash paid for all types of taxes YRHEIBHE 3,000,858,592.88 3,359,382,765.33
Other cash paid relating to operating activities SR GRS
BRANHE 1,363,417,506.19 1,277,103,671.90
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating BT EIR SR NEt
activities 40,123,256,752.21 35,097,142,266.16
Net cash flows from operating activities BEEEEAR
RenEFaE XV+H7 12,887,725,420.61 12,071,577,509.53
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Item

HH

naBEeREXRE)

2019F12A31HIFFEARE T

Note

.
=
B

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return on investments

RERPELNRDNE
BEEERE MRS
BREHRE RaRE R e

Incurred during
the year

FERLER

876,585.00
1,145,594,951.25

Incurred in
previous year

LEHREE

252,059,352.16
872,544,148.84

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REETEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets BIEEM
HinREIEE
W ml IR &% 8,655,114.00 96,245.71
Other cash received relating to investing W B E A B48 & E B
activities B@ENES 241,783,376.18 180,422.79
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing
activities REEERERANET 1,396,910,026.43 1,124,880,169.50
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, BRETEE
intangible assets and other long-term assets EREEMEAM
EHEELMNRS 2,056,360,496.82 775,354,076.09
Cash paid for acquisition of investments REINHES 1,304,838,470.66 2,034,544,580.00
Other cash paid relating to investing S HEAD BRI E R
activities BHENRE 218,372,000.00 1,447,585,755.23
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing
activities WEEBIR SNt 3,579,570,967.48 4,257,484,411.32

Net cash flows from investing activities

RERHEEN
ReneFaR

(2,182,660,941.05)

(3,132,604,241.82)
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CoMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

RBARERER(1E)
2019F 12A31HIFFEARKE T

Incurred during Incurred in
Note the year previous year
Item BHE FisE REBER EFEEE
ll.  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = « &&EHELAELTE
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DECREA] ~ MR E R
profits and for interest expenses MELHHRE 3,374,917,166.39 3,503,047,597.73
Other cash paid relating to financing activities T EAM RS R
@AM - 499,911,217.21
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing BEFHRSML NG
activities 3,374,917,166.39 4,002,958,814.94
Net cash flows from financing activities EEEHELN
BemEFE (3,374,917,166.39) (4,002,958,814.94)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE 14« [EXREEHHHE K
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B4 ZEYHSE (13,811.63) 44,368.54
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH T ReERRSEEWFEMN
EQUIVALENTS 7,330,133,501.54 4,936,058,821.31
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning m:FIBRE R
of year ReFEBYHE 19,074,554,698.78 14,138,495,877.47
VI. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF X+ #XBE2RRLZEY
YEAR g% 26,404,688,200.32 19,074,554,698.78

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2019F 12 A31HIEFE

TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

I. CORPORATE BACKGROUND —~ NEENER

118

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company
limited by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December
2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic
valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting and casting
products of hydraulic components, internal combustion engines, new
energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical consultation
and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses; sale of steel;
business management service; forklift trucks production, warehousing
technology and supply chain solution services. For the aforesaid scope
of operation, operating permit(s) should be held for those operations
requiring administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate
holding company of the Group respectively.

These company and consolidated financial statements of the Company
were approved by the board of directors of the Company on 26 March
2020.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes
this period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

II. PREPARATION BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL — - B EHRTROVEREER

STATEMENTS

Preparation basis

The Group has adopted the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and relevant provisions promulgated by the MOF. In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with Compilation Rules No. 15 for Information Disclosure by Companies
Offering Securities to the Public — General Requirements for Financial
Reporting (2014 Revision), the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Continuing operations

The Group carried out assessment on the going concern for the 12
months’ period commencing from 31 December 2019, and did not
recognize any matters and situation leading to material doubt on the
continuity of operation. Therefore, these financial statements have been
prepared based on the going-concern assumption.

Basis of Book-Keeping and Principle of Measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. Disposal group held-
to-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding
provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount
expected to be paid.
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REERTH EREPBEHO R ES R RIA
BRE o AN AEEEIERCAREITE
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AREBEGHRZEUERE LS RO IRER -
BRRLD R TR » AR SRR AE LA
ERFTEER - REGENREMD - RRER
EEEEAABERELEEREROFERN
EFI3R - EEMRIERE - AIRRAERER
FERTIRARE AR E SR -

EESERAFET @ BERRBRBER NN
ResEReSBYMNSRLE AN HNY
EBHRABEMNE - BERREARERRESE
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P AEERERPFENNRERER
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S TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B PSRBT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

II. PREPARATION BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL - UIEHRROGRRER(E)

120

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Basis of Book-Keeping and Principle of Measurement
(Continued)

The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties
engaged to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell
their assets or transfer their liabilities. WWhether the fair value is observable
or measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of
the fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technigue
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals to the
transaction price.

Fair value measurements are categorized into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND — - B2 EHBRN G5
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of

receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,

AEBERBERLTELEBHGIE T ARE
SAREME A TERRAEHEENH
B - BAFORERBRERNRE BEE
ENBERNEMLE  BREENRHGHE

classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and FREY D AR SH AT -
estimation of amortization.
Statement of compliance with Accounting Standards 1. BELHESTTEANZER

for Business Enterprises

The financial statements present, fairly and fully, the company and
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the
company and consolidated results of operations and the cash flows
for year 2019 of the Company in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises.

Accounting year
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

Business cycle

Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realization of cash and cash equivalents. The
business cycle of the Company is twelve months.

Functional currency

Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based
on the currency used in the major economic environment in
which they operate the business. In preparation of these financial
statements, the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.
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5.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations not involving enterprises
under common control

Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations not
involving enterprises under common control.

Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the combination, and that control is not
transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business combination
shall be measured at the carrying amounts on the financial
statements of the acquiree as at the combination date. The
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained
by the acquirer and the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or the aggregate face value of shares
issued as consideration) shall be adjusted to share premium under
capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the
difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are charged
to profit or loss when incurred.

Business combinations not involving enterprises
under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the same party or
parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid, liabilities
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the acquirer
for acquiring control of the acquiree. For business combinations of
enterprises not under common control achieved in stages through
multiple transactions, the combination cost shall be the sum of the
consideration paid on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as
at the date of acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree
held prior to the date of acquisition.
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5.

The accounting treatment of business combinations
involving enterprises under common control and
business combinations not involving enterprises
under common control (Continued)

Business combinations not involving enterprises
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative expenses
incurred by the acquirer for the business combination are charged
to profit or loss for the current period when incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition. When the business combination
contract provides that, upon the occurrence of multiple future
contingencies, the acquirer shall require the return of consideration
paid for the business combination, such contingent consideration
as set out in the contract shall be recognised as an asset by the
Group as a part of the aggregate consideration transferred in the
business combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve months
after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration needs to be
adjusted as new or further evidences are obtained in respect of
circumstances existed as of the date of acquisition, the amount
previously included in the goodwill shall be adjusted. A change
in or adjustment to the contingent consideration under other
circumstances shall be measured in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or
adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

5. The accounting treatment of business combinations B — =% T MR — =B T o2
involving enterprises under common control and OIS SHIRES A (&)
business combinations not involving enterprises
under common control (Continued)
Business combinations not involving enterprises FE[E]—EEF T RIS IR BE
under common control and goodwill (Continued) (&
Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of fair value BORARRAHPIISHRBET
of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the business ARRFEEAABENENEZRE
combination, the difference is recognized as goodwill as an asset, ER—REERRRBELIRKALE
and initially measured at cost. For those with combination cost THIAETE - AHFRA/NRE G ER
lower than the portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of SORBE A NRIEEARER
acquiree acquired in the business combination, re-verification DEEH > HAYRESHREERE A
is first carried out on the measurement of the fair value of all AAREE  BERIBEENAR
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the BEAREHRANG EETER
combination cost. For those with combination cost lower than the BRREA R/ NRE FHhEIGH
portion of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired WHEE A FEEARBENE
in the business combination after re-verification, they are charged B ETAE BB
to profit or loss for the current period.
Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be recognized AEEAHTROEEEA TR
separately in the consolidated financial statements and measured KA EBHR - WIKRK AR RET
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. WEEEENSRET S o

6. Basis for preparation of consolidated financial O RERRES &

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements
that define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not
involving enterprises under common control, the operating results
and cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the
control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.
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6.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group’s
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow
statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods
adopted by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform
accounting policies and accounting periods set out by the
Company.

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated
financial statements is eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated income statement below the “net
profit” line item.

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated
against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is
adjusted against retained earnings.
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7.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting

treatments for joint operations

Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
in joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 14.3.2 Long-term equity
investment calculated by equity method

The following items should be recognized by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to
specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
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7.

Classification of joint arrangements and accounting
treatments for joint operations (Continued)

If the Company invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation
(except when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to
other participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss
due to the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are
sold to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group
recognizes the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognizes the losses to the extent
of its share.

Recognition criteria for cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term
(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),
highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

9. Foreign currency operations and foreign currency 9.
translation

9.1 Foreign currency operations

NS INERRITE
9.1 SMEE

128

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of
initial recognition or the previous balance sheet date are
taken to profit or loss in the current period except for the
following: (1) The exchange difference in respect of special
borrowings denominated in foreign currencies that meet
the criteria for capitalization are capitalized during the
capitalization period as a cost under the relevant assets; (2)
The exchange difference in respect of hedging instruments
used for hedging for avoiding foreign exchange rate risks
is accounted for using hedge accounting; (3) For monetary
items classified as at fair value through other comprehensive
income, exchange difference arising from the change in
other gross carrying amounts other than amortized costs is
taken to other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognized as other
comprehensive income.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

9. Foreign currency operations and foreign currency 9. IMEEBMINEHRRKITE (&)
translation (Continued)

9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements

9.2 INEEIEIRAITE

To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the
financial statements denominated in foreign currency of
a foreign operation are translated to RMB in compliance
with the following requirements: all assets and liabilities
on the balance sheet are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date; all equity items
are translated at the spot exchange rates at the dates on
which such items arose; income and expenses and profit
appropriation items in the income statement are translated
at the spot exchange rate at the date of transaction; all
exchange differences of assets, liabilities and shareholders’
equity resulting from the translation are recognized as other
comprehensive income and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in
the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year and prior year’s figures
are presented according to the translated amounts of the
financial statements of the prior year/period.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all
transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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9.

10.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency

translation (Continued)

9.2 Translation of foreign currency financial
statements (Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the
foreign operation.

Financial instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognized on
the date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognized on the
date of transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognized
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognized amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at
transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income
or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected cash
flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial assets
or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and
similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the
amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different
types of financial assets at amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or
loss.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows,
the Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial
asset measured at amortized cost. Such financial assets
mainly include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable,
accounts receivable, other receivables and long-term
receivables, etc.
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S TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B PSRBT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

10. €I E(E)
10.1 2AEER 7 IHLq 5 (&)

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell
such financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial
asset into a financial asset at fair value through other

ERAEENERIFTREERE
RHIELAMNRSREERHAE
FARENA S SR AERAF]
BHXA - BARKEEEZ SR
BEMNEBEABAKERA FR
SRERBBEXALEZEME
ESBEN  RIZeREENE

comprehensive income. Such financial assets primarily RUARREEAEEREZE A
include receivable financing. Hitfr e WammEmEE « 1|

SHMEEFEORERBFIER
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified UNAnBETEBEZHTAE

HEENEREERENERINA
ArBEFEEEEH AL
BERNTHMEEMEERARA

as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are
presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over
one year and expected to be held for over one year since

the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current BEEEHZBTAZHER
financial assets. WEeREE  JITHR SR

BE - BEEREXRARBSB—
FHHBRYREBE—FR
SIRREMIERB CREE -

e A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria o THADBEA/NEMRKA
for a financial asset classified as being measured at AEMEREE  LAR
amortized cost or a financial asset at fair value through BEFEEEEHTAL
other comprehensive income shall be classified as a fh 4R & U 7 & BB B IR
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. HEREES D ERIA

AR EETEEEZE:H
AEHERERMEE

e At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably o TEVIRHERE - AERRK
designate a financial asset as measured at fair value BERIVEHIER &A%
through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or | AT DA & mb & 2 AT
significantly reduces accounting mismatch. HMIEERA R R BE

SHHEZFHHAEHPER
HEREE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) ISR R (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE
III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - SR EHBERKBEHEEH ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. ®@THE(E)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial 10.1 TFAEZER T2 (F)
assets (Continued)
On initial recognition, the Group may, based on a individual aTERR - NEBE A BIES
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading BB ERER - TRIREEMEIE
equity instrument investment which is non-contingent [l — 425 TR A G R
consideration and recognized in business combination not HBEHBUIIIERZ S RERT
involving enterprises under common control as financial asset BERERERUARBEER
measured at FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as HE# AR iR el e
investment in other equity instruments. BE o WESREEEREME

BT RKREFR

The Group’s purpose of holding the financial assets is for SREEM R TGz —H
trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied: RAREEBEZCREENE
R 5] :

e The Group's purpose of holding the relevant financial e HMEHBASMEERNH

assets is primarily for recent sale. B EERATHEBN
& .

. The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition, o  HHECREELEVIRER
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial R BR P EIRR P IR
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates ERMITEBEHN—I
that short-term profit model exists in the near future. BEREBEBRRANTHEE

REZesbib Zill S

e The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments. o (HHeRMEEBRITAET
However, derivatives that meet the definition of B - BEHMBERER
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as ERNITE T AN RIE
effective hedging instruments are excluded. ERANERTANITE

TERRHN -




TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B PSRBT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.1 Classification and measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

10. €I E(E)
10.1 2AEER 7 IHLq 5 (&)
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measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,

1011 Financial assets at amortised cost 1011 LA AT ERI T B
BE
The financial asset at amortized cost is subsequently BT ENERE

ERRERNEL - 1w
BRAETTRERE - &

impairment or amortization is recognized in profit or ERMER S P ERES
loss. MFERBE - FFAEH
fi=Ei

The Group recognizes interest income on financial
assets measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The Group calculates interest income
based on the gross carrying amount of financial
assets multiplied by the actual interest rate, unless the
financial assets become credit-impaired financial assets
in subsequent reporting period. For those financial
assets, the Group shall apply the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset in subsequent reporting period. If the
financial assets no longer has credit impairment during
the follow-up period as a result of an improvement
in its credit risk, and this improvement may be linked
to an event that occurred after the application of
the above regulations, the Group calculates interest
income based on the gross carrying amount of
financial assets multiplied by the actual interest rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

10.1.2 Financial assets classified as at FVTOC!

10. €I E(E)
10.1 2AEER 7 IHL 5 (&)

1012 U EEFEAE

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset
classified as at FVTOCI and the interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and
exchange gains and losses shall be recognized in
profit or loss. Except for them, changes in fair value
of such financial assets shall be recognized in other
comprehensive income. The amount of such financial
asset recognized in profit or loss of each period
is equal to the amount deemed as measured at
amortized cost all the time and recognized in profit
or loss of each period. When the financial asset is
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit
or loss.

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognized
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income
to retained earnings. During the period that the
Group holds these non-trading equity instrument
investments, the Group has established the right of
collecting dividends, whose economic benefit will
probably flow into the Group, and the amount of the
dividends can be reliably measured, then the Group
will recognize dividend income in profit or loss.
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INANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ISR R PIE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE
ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND — - B2 EHHRNS G5 (&)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. €T E(E)
10.1 Classification and measurement of financial 10.1 2HEEH S 12 ()
assets (Continued)
1013 Financial assets at fair value through profit or 1013 AR 1EEFEAR
loss BB A BB R
Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently NAnBEFERREED
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change ATAEHERNEREE
in fair value and dividends and interest income related A EE#EITEER
to such financial assets shall be recognized in profit or B ARBEEITKEN
loss. IS8R LA M BiR% & Bt

B E AR AR A AN AR UL
AFHAE RS

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 @ T AR AMEE BiE
items
The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected REEH ABMRKATEN SR
credit losses on financial assets at amortized cost, financial BE  nEAURAREEFZA
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets HEeEt AR iR e Rammn e m
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as BE  HERKK  AaREEMN
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. RARRBEFEBEEEHTA

EHERNS BB AR
RERAERERBRSERE
TTREETREIEY ERBRE

1o
The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of R BB AZERIREHRZ HHEK
expected credit losses during the whole life of the receivables BEWRRIR - A REE KA
and contract assets arising from transactions adopting ¥ ERE21R -HE)RE
Standard on Revenue and the lease receivables arising from B SR EEYGR - K&
transactions adopting Accounting Standards for Business BN BEFERANTE
Enterprises No. 21 — Leases. HERBRSEEBREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. EMIE(E)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 @ TARAMEE BiE

items (Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of
the above financial instruments has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance
based on the amount of expected credit losses during the
whole lifetime; if credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group recognises loss allowance based on 12-month ECL
of the financial instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit
loss allowance is included in profit or loss as loss/gain on
impairment. Except financial assets classified as at fair value
through other comprehensive income, allowance for credit
losses decreases the carrying amount of the financial assets.
For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group recognises credit
loss allowance in other comprehensive income and does not
decrease the carrying amount of such financial assets in the
balance sheet.

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime ECL
of the financial instruments in the previous accounting
period. However, at the balance sheet date, for the above
financial instruments, if significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition no longer applies, the Group measures
loss allowance for the financial instrument at 12-month ECL
at the balance sheet date for the current period. Relevant
reversal of loss allowance is included in profit or loss for the
current period as gain on impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. €T E(E)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 £/ T AREMIEH HBiE
items (Continued) (%)

1021 Significant increases in credit risk 1021 {5 /R R AEZ SN
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The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each
balance sheet date. While determining whether the
credit risk has significantly increased since initial
recognition, the Group takes into account the
reasonable and substantiated information that is
accessible without exerting unnecessary cost or effort,
including qualitative and quantitative analysis based
on the historical data of the Group, external credit
risk rating, and forward-looking information. Based
on the single financial instrument or the combination
of financial instruments with similar characteristics of
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default of
financial instruments on the balance sheet date with
that on the initial recognition date in order to figure
out the changes of default risk in the expected lifetime
of financial instruments. For financial guarantee
contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party
to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the
date of initial recognition in the application of criteria
related to the financial instrument for impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) BTSRRI SE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. €T E(E)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 £/ T AREMIEH BiE
items (Continued) (#&)

1021 Significant increases in credit risk (Continued) 1021 {5/B/RfRREZEE (&)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
quantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has
increased significantly:

. Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a
certain proportion compared with the initial
recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be
lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only
exposed to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of
a financial instrument is low, the borrower is highly
capable of meeting its contract cash flow obligations
in the short term, and the financial instrument is
considered to have a lower credit risk even if there
is an adverse change in the economic situation and
operating environment over a longer period of time,
but it may not necessarily reduce the borrower’s
performance of its contract cash obligations.
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INANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHEBRNES5H L (E8)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other

10. €I E(E)
10.2 2@ T AR AMIEHL BE

items (Continued) (#&) ‘
10.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets 1022 B # £ RES %
FEE

EAEEBHEEREE
ARRERERF T
EmM—ARZREMEL

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

140

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired - Ze@EEKREE
include observable data about the following events: EERRENESREE -
CRHEECREEARE
WEBEBE T AIBRRE
B
(1) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (" BEISTHEBAE
borrower; EEAIGRE
(2) A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a 2 EBBAERER -
default or delinquency in interest or principal MERF R A&
payments; EASREE
(3)  The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons () BEEAHREER
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, ANB TR E A B
granting to the debtor a concession which "KERERZERE -
will not otherwise be granted in any other BT EBHALEEM
circumstances; HEERTHIE
YRR
(4) It becoming probable that the debtor will enter @) BBARAEEE
bankruptcy or other financial reorganizations; SETHMPFE
4
(5)  The disappearance of an active market for that (5) BITHHEBHAY
financial asset because of financial difficulties of BREENZ SR
the issuer or the debtor. EERGREMISHE
5
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. ®@THE(E)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 £/ T AREMIEH BiE
items (Continued) (#&)

10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses 10.2.3 TR A5 FR 1B K O HETE

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the
value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND — - E2SHBERKRE5HGEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued) 10. €T E(E)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other 10.2 £/ T AREMIEH HBiE
items (Continued) (#&)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses 1023 T B 15 FH 18 K ) i E
(Continued) (&
The Group determines expected credit losses of REBIZB T A ERT
relevant financial instruments using the following AR T ANTEHRER
methods: Bk

142

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present

HnemEE &

value of the difference between the contractual RiEXAREEE
cash flows that are due to the Group under WELH) & R &R
the contract and the cash flows that the Group IR W I R
expects to receive. SREZHERED
WA -
For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present o  HRNHEERUN -
value of the difference between the contractual ERBERREAE
cash flows that are due to the Group under EWE & RRE
the contract and the cash flows that the Group 2 HL TR AU ER &Y
expects to receive. RenEvEE=8E
HIRME o
For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss e HRHMBERA
is the present value of difference between the B ERBEXAR
expected payments to reimburse the holder for SEMZERAFE
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that ANBEEWMERESX
the Group expects to receive from the holder, mEMEENMTE

the debtor or any other party.

AHRE - BEAR
SEBEHAZAR
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For credit-impaired financial assets at the e HREEABRXRA
balance sheet date, credit loss is the difference EEAEFERMERN
between the gross carrying amount of financial TREE  FRE
assets and the present value of expected future ARZemEER
cash flows discounted at original effective T £ 88 B 1R JR B
interest rate. MEFR A EFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other
items (Continued)
10.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)
The Group’s measurement of ECL of financial
instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised
by assessing a series of possible results, time value
of money, reasonable and supportable information
related to historical events, current condition and
forecast of future economic position that is available
without undue cost or effort at the balance sheet
date.

10.2.4 Write-off of financial assets
The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial
asset.

10.3 Transfer of financial assets

The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; or (3) although the financial
asset has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset but has not retained control of the
financial asset.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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10.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset,
and it retains control of the financial asset, the Group will
recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset and recognize
an associated liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using

the following methods:

o If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortized cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less
the amortized cost of the rights retained by the
Group (if the Group retains rights for the transfer
of the financial asset) plus the amortized cost of the
obligations undertaken by the Group (if the Group
undertakes relevant obligations for the transfer of
the financial asset), and the relevant liabilities are not
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss.

o If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair
value, the carrying amount of relevant liabilities is
the carrying amount of continuing involvement in
the transferred financial asset less the fair value of
the rights retained by the Group (if the Group retains
rights for the transfer of the financial asset) plus the
fair value of the obligations undertaken by the Group
(if the Group undertakes relevant obligations for the
transfer of the financial asset), and the fair value of
the rights and liabilities is measured on a stand-alone

basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

10. €T HR(E)
10.3 LAEEHEFE (B

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, for financial assets classified
as at amortized cost and financial assets at FVTOCI, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset transferred and the sum of the consideration received
from the transfer and accumulated amount of the fair value
changes originally taken to other comprehensive income
corresponding to the derecognized part shall be taken to
profit or loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive
income and taken to retained earnings.

For a part of transfer of a financial asset that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the carrying amount of the
transferred financial asset is allocated between the part
that is derecognized and the part that is continuously
involved, based on the respective fair values of those parts
on transfer date. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received for the part of the derecognition and
the accumulated amount of the fair value changes originally
taken to other comprehensive income corresponding to
the derecognized part and the carrying amount on the
date of derecognition for the derecognized part shall be
taken to profit and loss for the current period. Where the
financial asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-
trading equity instrument investment designated as at
FVTOCI, accumulated gains or losses previously taken to
other comprehensive income are transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not
satisfy the derecognition criteria, the Group will continuously
recognize the transferred financial asset in its entirety.
Considerations received should be recognized as a financial
liability.
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III.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments
Financial instruments or their constituent parts issued
by the Group are classified into financial liabilities or
equity instruments on initial recognition on the basis of
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
economic nature but not only its legal form, together with
the definition of financial liability and equity instruments.

10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified
into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and other financial liabilities.

10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial
liabilities held for trading (including derivative
instruments of financial liabilities) and those
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are presented as held-for-trading
financial liabilities or other non-current liabilities
according to their liquidity.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)
10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

If one of the following conditions is met for
a financial liability, it suggests that the Group
recognises financial liability held-for-trading:

o The purpose of undertaking the relevant
financial liability is mainly for the purpose
of repurchasing in the near future.

° The relevant financial liability is, upon
initial recognition, a combination of
identifiable financial instruments that are
centrally managed and there is objective
evidence that the Company has recently
adopted short-term profit-making
methods.

3 The relevant financial liability is a derivative
instrument, except for derivatives that
qualify for financial guarantee contracts
and derivatives that are designated as
effective hedging instruments.
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INANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B PSRBT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = EZSFBERKE 85t b (58)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued) (&)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial 104125 8 Em 528 RKE
liabilities (Continued) E(E)
10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) 0411 A AR EEFER
HE Bt AEHE

10. €I E(E)
10.4 A EEFER T AL
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The Group designates a financial liability as
FVTPL on initial recognition when the financial
liability satisfies one of the following criteria:
(1) such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces accounting mismatch; (2) The financial
liability forms part of a group of financial
liabilities or a group of financial assets and
financial liabilities, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with the documented risk
management or investment strategy of the
Group, and information about the grouping
is reported to key management personnel on
that basis; (3) The qualified hybrid financial
instrument combines financial liability with
embedded derivatives.

Held-for-trading financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at fair value, and any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
and any dividend or interest income earned on
the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) BT ISR RBIsE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 A31 HIFFE
III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued) (&)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial 104125 8 Em 528 KE
liabilities (Continued) (&)
10.4.1.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) 0411 U anEEFER
E BB AEHRE

10. €I E(E)
10.4 2HEEFER T AL

mHEREE(E)

For the financial liabilities designated as FVTPL, HRFEIEERUR

changes in fair value arising from changes in the REEFEEEE
Group's own credit risk are included in other Bt AEHIBEMN
comprehensive incomes and other changes in TRIBE  ZER
fair value recognised in profit and loss. Upon EEBEAKEES

derecognition of the financial asset, cumulative
changes in fair value arising from changes in

ERABREHE
R B IEE B

the own credit risk previously recognised in AE MRS K -
other comprehensive income are transferred HEMAnBEZY
and included in retained earnings. Dividends or AR BB - %
interest incomes earned on the financial liabilities TR B ER R
are recognised in profit or loss. If the impact of B - ZBIET AE A
the change in credit risk of such financial liability iv?.é.\uﬁz¥ WE &=
dealt with in the above way would create or [E\ B B S| FEH
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or ’D\/‘t{ﬁfﬁiﬁu‘f”
loss, the Group shall present all gains or losses @U HEABGTHK

on that liability (including the effects of changes
in the credit risk of that liability) in profit or loss.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)
104.12 Other financial liabilities

The Group shall classify all financial liabilities
as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
except for financial liabilities, financial guarantee
contracts that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies,
and gains or losses arising from derecognition or
amortisation are recognised in profit or loss for
the period.

When the contractual cash flows are changed
due to the renegotiation or modification of
the contract made between the Group and
the counterparty and the renegotiation or
modification does not result in the derecognition
of the financial liability that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost, the Group shall
recalculate the carrying amount of the financial
liability and shall recognised related gains or
losses in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
the financial liability shall be recalculated as the
present value of the renegotiated or modified
contractual cash flows that are discounted at the
financial liability’s original effective interest rate.
Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying
amount of the modified financial liability and
are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified financial liability.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

10. €I E(E)
10.4 £AEE EF#EZ T AR

instruments (Continued) (&)
10.4.1 Classification and measurement of financial 1041 25 B F /) 528 K&t

liabilities (Continued) (&)
10.4.12 Other financial liabilities (Continued) 10412 S riaE(E)
104121 Financial guarantee contracts 1041221 B B HERER

A financial guarantee contract is a
contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse

MBERER
EREREE

AR BE

the holder of the contract for a loss it BRR&HIE
incurs because a specified debtor fails to HIEHEH T
make payment when due in accordance BERENE
with the original or modified terms of a T - EskE
debt instrument. Subsequent to initial TARREE
recognition, financial guarantee contracts KWEREHE
that are not designated as financial ABNEES
liabilities at fair value through profit or BEVER o H
loss, or arise when a transfer of a financial RRBRIEE
asset does not qualify for derecognition RIARREE
or when the continuing involvement ATEEHES
approach, are measured at the higher of ATAE BB S
amount of loss provision and the amount oA =N
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HLEH(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity

10. €I E(E)
10.4 A EEFER T AL
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it) when the underlying present obligation (or part of
it) is discharged. An agreement between the Group
(the debtor) and the creditor to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with
substantially different terms is accounted for as a
derecognition of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognises a financial liability or
a part of it, it recognises the difference between the

instruments (Continued) (&)
10.4.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities 1042 54 B (EAVAS I TEFR
The Group derecognises a financial liability (or part of CRAENHEKRETB D
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carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the FIARE B E R A E
financial liability) derecognised and the consideration (BRELNFREEE
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or new SRENTeRAE) 2

financial liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.

10.4.3 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
(including refinanced), repurchased, sold or cancelled
by the Group are recognised as changes of equity.
Changes of fair value of equity instruments is not
recognised by the Group. Transaction costs related to
equity transactions are deducted from equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10.

Financial instruments (Continued)
10.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
10.4.3 Equity instruments (Continued)
The Group recognises the distribution to holders of the
equity instruments as distribution of profits. Dividends
paid do not affect total amount of shareholders’
equity.

The Group is entitled to extend the term of the
perpetual bonds issued by the subsidiaries of the
Company for an indefinite number of times. The
Group is also entitled to defer payment of coupon
interest on its perpetual bonds. The Group is not
contractually obliged to pay cash or other financial
assets. The perpetual bonds are classified as equity
instruments and presented as minority interests in the
consolidated financial statements.

10.5 Derivatives and embedded derivatives
Derivatives include forward foreign exchange contracts,
cross currency swap and interest rate swap instruments,
etc. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value at the
date when the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at fair value.

For hybrid contract constituted by embedded derivatives
and host contract, if the host contract is a financial asset,
the embedded derivative is not separated from the hybrid
contract, and the hybrid contract shall be taken as a whole
to which the accounting standards on the classification of
financial assets apply.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BREFHRKE5 G5 (5E)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

10. Financial instruments (Continued)

10.6 Offsetting financial assets and financial

liabilities
Where the Group has a legal right that is currently
enforceable to set off the recognised financial assets and
financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realize the financial asset and settle the financial liability
simultaneously, a financial asset and a financial liability shall
be offset and the net amount is presented in the balance
sheet. Except for the above circumstances, financial assets
and financial liabilities shall be presented separately in the
balance sheet and shall not be offset.
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11. Receivable financing 1.
For notes and accounts payables classified at fair value through
other comprehensive income with a maturity of less than one year
(inclusive) are included in receivable financing. Please refer to Note

1110 for the related accounting policies. F) - IIRREETERE - HigEE
FIEER2RME= 100
12. Inventories 12. FE
12.1 Classification of inventories 12.1 FER 7
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The Group's inventories mainly include raw materials,
finished goods, materials under entrusted processing, self-
made semi-finished goods and work-in-progress and second-
hand forklift trucks etc. Inventories are initially carried at
cost. Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs.

12.2 Calculation of cost of inventories transferred out

The actual cost of inventories transferred out is assigned by
using weighted average method, first-in-first-out method or
specific identification method.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
12. Inventories (Continued) 12. FE(E)
12.3 Basis for determining net realisable value 12.3 78 i[5 F BRI TEE IR
At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the BEAGERE  FEERKAE
lower of cost or net realizable value; provisions for inventory AEIRFENRE 2 c EEAE
write-down are made on the excess of its cost over the net TR EEARAR - REVFE R
realizable value. B%EME -
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the AEREE REEBREY
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of o EENGAEBREET
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the THRAFHERENKE - &
sale and relevant taxes. Recognition of the net realizable ETEVEHE B AL AT B0
value is based on the verified evidences and considers the TR o T FER R BB HE
purpose of holding inventories and the effect of post balance B ABVS MR IR A AR -
sheet events. FANZEEFEFENBENURE

ERBERARERENTE

Provision for decline in value of other inventories is made FEZREEAFEEENKESR
based on the excess of cost of inventory over its net HA B35 HER ZRIRTF E %
realisable value on an item-by-item basis. BXER -
Following a provision for impairment of inventories is SHEFEKEERR - MRAR
made, if factors that previously resulted in the provision for B lFEBENTEARDEH
decline in value of inventories no longer exist, so that the X BERFENAERFESR
net realizable value is higher than the carrying amount, the HEREEEDN  EREENTF
amount of the write-down is reversed. The amount of the EREEHSEATAED - 2
reversal is recognized in profit or loss for the current period. Ele R AE R

12.4 Inventory system 12.4 ZERIEFHIE
The Groups adopts perpetual inventory system. FERNEFHERAKESRT

il o

12.5 Amortisation method of low-value consumables 12.5 18165 #m #1575 %
Low-value consumables are amortised in full when received EESEMKA —REHEET
for use. BE o
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13.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Assets held-for-sale

A non-current asset or disposal group shall be classified as held
for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction (inclusive of non-monetary asset swap with
commercial substance) rather than continuous use.

A non-current asset or disposal group classified as held for sale
must also satisfy the following conditions: (1) according to the
practice of disposing of this type of assets or disposal groups
in a similar transaction, a non-current asset or disposal group is
available for immediate sale in its present condition; (2) the sale
will likely occur as the Group has made a resolution in respect of
a disposal plan and obtained a firm purchase commitment from a
buyer, and the sale is expected to be completed within one year.

The Group measures the non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. Where the carrying amount is
higher than the net amount of fair value less costs to sell, carrying
amount should be reduced to the net amount of fair value less
costs to sell, and such reduction is recognised in impairment loss
of assets and included in profit or loss for the period. Meanwhile,
provision for impairment of held-for-sale assets are made. When
there is increase in the net amount of fair value of non-current
assets held for sale less costs to sell at the balance sheet date, the
original deduction should be reversed in impairment loss of assets
recognised after the classification of held-for-sale category, and the
reverse amount is include in profit or loss for the period, except for
the impairment loss of assets recognised before classified as held
for sale.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held-for-sale
are not depreciated or amortized. Interest and other costs of
liabilities in disposal groups classified as held for sale continue to
be recognised.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
14. Long-term equity investments
14.1 Basis for determining joint control and
significant influence

14. REIRERE
14.1 R[F2#] « EAEZRH

EriEE

Control exists when the investor has power over the
investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect its returns. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic
activity, and exists only when decisions relating to the
activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in

ZH IR ETHREHRIRE T
MRS - BRSERIRE T M
%é@ﬁ¥ﬁ7 """"" O YAEE
EENERYBEIRETNENZE
ﬁ@%@% HEE RIERR
m@%iﬁﬁﬁﬁw%Aﬁm&
B - WHZLHRRRE SN LA
B ZEHEN2E) — 3R

the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee BRAEREK - EAFEREY
but is not control or joint control over those policies. When WIRET NI B EWRES
determining whether an investor is able to exercise control or BURZBUME N - BT B SIE

significant influence over an investee, the effect of potential
voting rights of the investee (for example, warrants and
convertible debts) held by the investors or other parties that
are currently exercisable or convertible shall be considered.

14.2 Determination of initial investment cost

For a long-term equity investment acquired through a
business combination involving enterprises under common
control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity
investment is the attributable share of the carrying amount
of the shareholders’ equity of the acquiree on the date of
combination in the consolidated financial statements of
the ultimate controlling party. The difference between the

sEHEE M) — A RIEHIEL
BERHHITE  FERETE RE TS B IR
BEMBGENSEMEATE
i CERRESTMEMTIHE
MR A B E BRI A RIE
7~ BHRTITRR R BT
ROARERE -

14.2 FIIERE KA RITEE

HRFE— 2 TR ARAHRE

MRBRERE - £EHARR
WA Bt 77 P B R A AR AR )
776 GFEA RS RS P O RRE (BB Y
BRIERRIRERENIHE
AR - REIBREREVIAIE
AL RS - HREAIFR

initial investment cost and the carrying amount of cash SEENARIEREEEEEEER
paid, non-cash assets transferred and liabilities assumed ZEHER - AREARE &
adjusted to capital reserve. If the balance of capital RABTEARA - AZRBFKR
reserve is not sufficient, any excess is adjusted to retained & o UBITHER MR ARIERE G
earnings. For issuing equity securities as consideration, the HEN £t EERREAHT

initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment
is the attributable share of the carrying amount of the
shareholders’ equity of the combining party on the date
of combination in the consolidated financial statements of
the ultimate controlling party. The aggregate face values of
the shares are accounted for share capital. The difference
between the initial investment cost and the aggregate face
values of the shares issued is adjusted to capital reserve. If
the capital reserve is insufficient to be written down, the
retained earnings shall be adjusted.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BREFHRKE5 G5 (5E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
14. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 14. REIRERE (E)
14.2 Determination of initial investment cost 14.2 IEREHKEARIET (&)
(Continued)
As for the long-term equity investment acquired through R IER — 12 H TR A HFEL
business combinations not involving enterprises under BHRMBEERE  £BEAR
common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term IRE FIRCAE SRR AR
equity investment shall be taken as the merger cost on the B E RN ©

acquisition date.

The intermediary fees such as auditing, legal services, EHAIBEBETRTESHEAE
appraisal and consultation and other related administrative EVERT ORI - FHEE RS
expenses incurred by the combining party or the acquirer for RAERANUREMBRERE
business combination shall be taken to profit or loss of the A RBERG AE#ES -

current period when incurred.

The initial measurement of the long-term equity investment BEa RN RBEERE
obtained by means other than the long-term equity ShNEL 7T AR B R EI R %
investment formed by business combination shall be B RRAEITVGEE - $R
accounted for at cost. Where additional investment results EEMBEE R MR E B E
in significant influence or joint control (but not control) over B EE RS Bk B EIEHIE T
the investee, the cost of long-term equity investment is the ISR - RERIEIRE R
sum of the fair value of the original equity investment plus RIERCE G ERIE 225 —
the additional investment cost determined in accordance TR T EAMRMETE2)ETENR
with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. FEREREN A BEM L
22 — Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments. AR E KA Z A
14.3 Recognition method for subsequent 14.3 BB B RIBa B 5%
measurement and profit or loss
14.3.1 Long-term equity investment calculated by 1431 1Pk K L2 B oy =< A
cost method RIERE
The Company’s financial statements adopt the cost REIMBRRIRABAAE
method to calculate long-term equity investment in REHF AR R ARE
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries refer to investees which can BE - FRARIREAEE
be controlled by the Group. BE S B E I B AR
BEEE-o
The long-term equity investment calculated by cost RRARAEZE R EAR
method is measured at the initial investment cost. TR BRI E R ARG
Adding or recovering investment adjusts the cost of £ BN IRE R
long-term equity investment. The current investment REPBRERENKAE - &
income is recognised according to the cash dividend or BB EIZBZ AW
profit declared to be distributed by the investee. EBUEHEERNR TR

A ERER -
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = S2EFHHRKEEF EH(EE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
14. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 14. REIRERE(E)
14.3 Recognition method for subsequent 14.3 Z &1 2 R 180k 78 %
measurement and profit or loss (Continued) (&)

14.3.2 Long-term equity investment calculated by 1432 1 m Z R B R A

equity method

The Group’s investment in associates and joint
ventures is calculated by equity method. Associates
refer to invested entities to which the Group can exert
a significant influence, and joint ventures are joint
arrangements in which the Group has only the right to
the net assets of the arrangements.

When equity method is adopted, if the initial
investment cost of long-term equity investment is
greater than the fair value share of identifiable net
assets of the invested entity, the initial investment cost
of long-term equity investment shall not be adjusted;
If the initial investment cost is less than the fair value
share of the identifiable net assets of the invested
entity, the difference shall be recorded into the current
profits and losses, and the long-term equity investment
cost shall be adjusted at the same time.
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WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
14. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
14.3 Recognition method for subsequent
measurement and profit or loss (Continued)
14.3.2 Long-term equity investment calculated by

equity method (Continued)

When equity method is adopted, the investment
income and other comprehensive income shall be
recognised respectively according to the share of
net profit and loss and other comprehensive income
realised by the invested entity, and the carrying
amount of long-term equity investment shall be
adjusted at the same time; the carrying amount
of long-term equity investment shall be reduced
accordingly by calculating the portion to be enjoyed
according to the profit or cash dividend declared by
the invested entity; the carrying amount of long-term
equity investment shall be adjusted and included in
the capital reserve for other changes in the owner’s
rights and interests of the invested entity except net
profit or loss, other comprehensive income and profit
distribution. When recognising the share of the net
profit or loss of the invested entity, the net profit of
the invested entity shall be adjusted and recognised
on the basis of the fair value of the identifiable
assets of the invested entity at the acquisition date.
If the accounting policies and periods adopted by
the invested entity are inconsistent with those of the
Company, the financial statements of the invested
entity shall be adjusted in accordance with the
accounting policies and period of the Company. The
investment income and other comprehensive income
shall be recognised accordingly. For transactions
between the Group and associates or joint ventures,
the assets invested or sold do not constitute business,
and the gains and losses of internal transactions
are offset by the shareholding attributable to the
Group. On this basis, the investment gains and losses
are recognised. However, the unrealised internal
transaction losses between the Group and the
invested entity shall not be offset if they belong to the
impairment losses of the transferred assets.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
14. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

14.3 Recognition method for subsequent

14, REIRERE(E)
14.3 #ETTERIEm B8 %

measurement and profit or loss (Continued) (&)
14.3.2 Long-term equity investment calculated by 1432 11 25 A B Y R B
equity method (Continued) RIERE (&)

The Group discontinues recognising its share of net
losses of the investee after the carrying amount of
the long-term equity investment together with any
long-term interests that in substance form part of its
net investment in the invested entity is reduced to
zero. If the Group has incurred obligations to assume
additional losses of the investee, estimated liability is
recognised according to the expected obligation, and
recorded as investment loss for the period. Where net
profits are subsequently made by the invested entity,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the

ERAED BRTREEN
BENFERE - UEH
BRI EMRmEENE

B IRBRHEIREE
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FHAENEBEREN A
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FENER > NREBEENE

DEFEMAEARERNER
DIEER - IEHERMN S
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DEFE o

share of losses previously not recognised.
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14.4 Disposal of long-term equity investment

At the time of the disposal of long-term equity investment,
the difference between its carrying amount and the actual
consideration obtained shall be taken to profit or loss for the
current period. For long-term equity investment calculated by
equity method, the same basis as that adopted in the direct
disposal of assets or liabilities by the invested entity shall be
adopted and the part that would otherwise be taken to other
comprehensive income is accounted for proportionally.
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15.

16.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment property includes a land use right
that is leased out and a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. If the
economic benefits relating to an investment property will probably
flow in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent costs
incurred for the property is included in the cost of the investment
property. Subsequent costs other than that are recognized in profit
or loss for the period in which they are incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of its
investment property. Depreciation or amortization is calculated on
the straight-line basis over its useful life, as follows:
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Estimated Estimated net Annual

useful lives residual depreciation

(years) value rate (%) rate (%)

TasHE A E® TAFHREE R FirEEx

[tem )= () (%) (%)

Land use rights T AR 48.5-50 0 2.00-2.06

Houses and buildings EEEEY 14.5-30 0-5 3.17-6.90
Fixed assets 16. BIEEE

Fixed assets represent the tangible assets held for production or
supply of goods or services, rental or for administrative purposes
with useful lives over one accounting year. A fixed asset is
recognized only when the economic benefits associated with the
asset will probably flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can
be measured reliably. Fixed assets are initially measured at cost. If
the economic benefits relating to a fixed asset will probably flow
in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent expenditure
incurred for a fixed asset shall be included in the cost of the fixed
asset, and the carrying amount of the component of the fixed asset
that is replaced shall be derecognized. Subsequent expenditure
other than that shall be recognized in profit or loss for the period
in which they are incurred.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
16. Fixed assets (Continued) 16. BEEEE(HE)
Other than fixed assets arising from the use and appropriation of FREMERM L2 EERTKOETTE
safety funds, special reserve offset against the cost of fixed assets, BE  BRIZKETE & E SR A R
and equivalent amounts of accumulated depreciation recognized; HIEGFE - WHERBR SN R
the straight line method or double-declining balance method is B2 REBEEEEENTERA
adopted for the depreciation of fixed assets of the Group. BEENEERBRBUEE
The expected useful lives, net residual value rates and annual EHETEEMNBIFERSD - FE
depreciation rates of fixed assets are presented as follows: EXRRFREXIIRAOT
Estimated Estimated net Annual
useful lives residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)
TEEHE RS TEETFERER FIEX
Item BE (£F) (%) (%)
Land ownership TP AR Indefinite & HABR 0 0
Houses and buildings EEZEEY 10-50 0-5 1.90-10.00
Machinery and equipment SRR 3-15 0-5 6.33-33.33
Electronic equipment BRI 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Vehicles BERRE 4-10 0-5 9.50-25.00
Forklift trucks and equipment A X E R
leased out (long-term) (Note) (EH8) () 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Forklift trucks and equipment LA X ERRE
leased out (short-term) (Note) (}289) (3F) 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Others Hi 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Note: For self-owned fixed assets leased out by the Group as lessor under i AEEERHEASEHHNERETEEE
operating lease, those leased for a period of not more than 12 months THAERIIR T8 1218 A vy 5l B A7 1 89 R BB %
are presented under forklift trucks and equipment leased out (short-term) R (2R AT - THEHIR AR 1F 8953
and those leased for a period of more than 1 year are presented under TR X B R (RE)HET -

forklift trucks and equipment leased out (long-term).

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value KEBELONEFFERT HETEERN
of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied at least at RS Eﬁ?ﬁz@*ﬂ MEREETE
each year-end, and makes adjustments if necessary. % WEREITHE
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17.

18.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Construction in progress

The cost of construction in progress is determined according to
the actual expenditure incurred for the construction, including
all necessary construction expenditure incurred during the
construction period, borrowing costs that shall be capitalized
before the construction gets ready for its intended use and
other relevant expenses. No provision is made for construction in
progress. A construction in progress is transferred to fixed asset
when the asset is ready for its intended use.

Contract asset and liability

Contracts with customers will be presented in the Group's balance
sheet as a contract liability or a contract asset, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

18.1 Contract asset
Contract assets refer to the Group’s right to receive
consideration for the transfer of goods to its customers,
which depends on factors other than the passage of
time. The Group’s unconditional (i.e., depending only on
the passage of time) right to collect consideration from
customers is shown separately as receivables.

The Group’s method for determining and accounting for
expected credit losses which are related to contract assets
are detailed in Note I1.10.

18.2 Contract liability
A contract liability is presented in the balance sheet where an
amount of consideration has been received or is receivable
by the Group prior to the Group performing by transferring
the related good or service to the customer.

The Group offsets the contract assets and contract liabilities

under the same contract and presents them on the balance
sheet as a net amount.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND - BESFHBRRS5HLEH(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

19. Borrowing costs 19. EREH

m

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by the Group
in connection with the borrowing of the funds. Borrowing costs
include interest, amortization of discounts or premiums related
to borrowings, ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings, and exchange differences arising from
foreign currency borrowings.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized. The
amounts of other borrowing costs incurred are recognized as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred. Qualifying assets
are assets (fixed assets, investment property and inventories, etc.)
that necessarily take a substantial period of time for acquisition,
construction or production to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

The capitalization of borrowing costs commences only when all of
the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) expenditures for the asset are being incurred,;

(2)  borrowing costs are being incurred;

(3) activities relating to the acquisition, construction or
production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale have commenced.

Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset
being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its
intended use or sale. Any borrowing costs subsequently incurred
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs (Continued)

During the capitalization period, the amount of interest to be
capitalized for each accounting period shall be determined as
follows:

166

19.

WEICHAI PoweErR Co., LTD.

(1)

)

where funds are borrowed for a specific purpose, the
amount of interest to be capitalized is the actual interest
expense incurred on that borrowing for the period less any
bank interest earned form depositing the borrowed funds
or any investment income on the temporary investment of
those funds.

where funds are borrowed for a general purpose, the
amount of interest to be capitalized on such borrowings is
determined by applying a weighted average interest rate to
the weighted average of the excess amounts of accumulated
expenditure on the asset over and above the amounts of
specific-purpose borrowings.

Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in
which the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset is interrupted by activities other than those necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, when the interruption
is for a continuous period of more than 3 months. Borrowing costs
incurred during these periods are recognized as an expense for the
current period until the acquisition, construction or production is

resumed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
20. Intangible assets

20.1 Valuation method, useful life, impairment test

20. EREE
20.1 B EEFESE - &/

for intangible assets

An intangible asset shall be recognized only when it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can
be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially
at cost. However, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with a fair value that can be measured reliably
are recognized separately as intangible assets and initially
measured at the fair value.

The useful life of an intangible asset is determined according
to the period over which it is expected to generate economic
benefits for the Group. An intangible asset is regarded as
having an indefinite useful life when there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to
generate economic benefits for the Group.

The expected useful lives of the intangible assets are as

i - BUEAF
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Expected useful lives (years)
Item HH JERH A (F)
Patents =AM 3-20
Trademark rights R F A 10,/ Indefinite “~EE
License KA 3-15
Land use rights + b A 30-50
Orders on hand EFTE 1-25
Customer relationship =T 2-17
Software ;i 2-10
Others EHih 3-10
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20.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Intangible assets (Continued)
20.1 Valuation method, useful life, impairment test

for intangible assets (Continued)

Land use rights that are acquired by the Group are generally
accounted for as intangible assets. Buildings, such as plants
that are developed and constructed by the Group, and
relevant land use rights and buildings, are accounted for as
intangible assets and fixed assets, respectively. Payments
for the land and buildings acquired are allocated between
the land use rights and the buildings; if they cannot be
reasonably allocated, all of the land use rights and buildings
are accounted for as fixed assets.

An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortized using
the straight-line method over its useful life. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortization method at least at each year-end and
makes adjustment if necessary.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for
impairment at least once every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. This
category of intangible assets will not be amortized and will
be reviewed every accounting period based on its useful
life. If evidence indicates that its useful life is limited, the
asset will be accounted for in accordance to the policy for
intangible asset with definite useful life stated above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
20. Intangible assets (Continued)
20.2 Expenditure on an internal research and
development
Expenditure on the research phase is recognized in profit
or loss for the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
in the development phase is recognised as intangible asset
when the following criteria are met. Expenditure on the
development phase which cannot met all of the following
conditions are recognized in current profit or loss:

(M

@)

()

(5)

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits. Among other things, the Group
can demonstrate the existence of a market for the
output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset
itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of
the intangible asset;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and the
ability to use or sell the intangible asset; and

its ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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20.

21.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Intangible assets (Continued)

20.2 Expenditure on an internal research and
development (Continued)
If the expenditures cannot be distinguished between research
phase and development phase, the Company recognizes
all expenditures into current profit or loss. The cost of the
internally developed intangible assets only include the total
expenditures incurred from the point of time at which the
conditions for capitalisation are met until the intangible assets
are ready for intended use. No adjustment is made to the
costs already expensed in the profit or loss incurred by the
identical intangible asset before it satisfies the conditions for
capitalisation in the development phase.

Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the
impairment of inventories, deferred income taxes, financial assets,
contract assets and assets related to contract costs and assets
classified as held-for-sale, using the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists
that an asset may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset and performs test for impairment. Goodwill
arising from a business combination and an intangible asset with
an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least at each
year-end, irrespective of whether there is any indication that the
asset may be impaired. Intangible assets that have not been ready
for intended use are tested for impairment each year.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flow
expected to be derived from the asset. The Group estimates the
recoverable amount on an individual basis. If it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the
Group determines the recoverable amount of the asset group to
which the asset belongs. Identification of an asset group is based
on whether major cash inflows generated by the asset group are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or asset
groups.
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21.

Impairment of assets (Continued)

When the recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount. The reduction in carrying amount is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. A provision for
impairment of the asset is recognized accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the
acquisition date on a reasonable basis, to each of the related asset
groups; if it is impossible to allocate to the related asset groups,
it is allocated to each of the related sets of asset groups. Each of
the related asset groups or sets of asset groups is an asset group
or set of asset group that is able to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination and shall not be larger than a reportable
segment determined by the Group.

In testing an asset group or a set of asset groups to which goodwill
has been allocated for impairment, if there is any indication of
impairment, the Group firstly tests the asset group or set of
asset groups excluding the amount of goodwill allocated for
impairment, determines the recoverable amount and recognizes
any impairment loss. After that, the Group tests the asset group or
set of asset groups including goodwill for impairment, whereby the
carrying amount of the related asset group or set of asset groups
is compared to its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of
the asset group or set of asset groups is higher than its recoverable
amount, the amount of the impairment loss firstly reduces the
carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the asset group or
set of asset groups, and then reduce the carrying amount of other
assets (other than the goodwill) within the asset group or set of
asset groups, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset.

Once the above impairment loss of assets is recognized, it cannot
be reversed in subsequent accounting periods.
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22.

Long-term prepaid expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized using straight-line
method with amortization period as follows:
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Item ]S BLHIHER(SE)
Industrial mould fee THREES 1-5
Industrial equipment fee THzEAE 5
Expenditure on improvement of HABRTEERRZH The shorter of useful life and lease term

fixed assets leased in

23. Payroll

23.1

WEICHA

Accounting treatment for short-term remuneration
Short-term remuneration actually incurred during the
accounting period in which the staff members provide
services are recognized as liability and taken to the profit and
loss for the current period or the costs of the relevant asset.
The Group recognises the amount of employee benefits that
actually occurred and charged to profit or loss for the current
period or cost of relevant assets. Employee benefits are non-
monetary benefits measured at fair value.

During the accounting period in which employees render
service, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance,
maternity insurance and other social security contributions
and housing provident fund paid by the Group, as well as
labour union funds and employees’ education expenses
extracted by requirement are taken into account in
determining the amount of staff remuneration based on
the required accrual basis and proportions and in turn the
corresponding liabilities, which are charged to profit or loss
for the current period or cost of relevant assets.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BREFHRKE5 G5 ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
23. Payroll (Continued) 23. BIHMGE)
23.2 Accounting treatment for post-employment 232 BEBEEANETEES
benefits b
Post-employment benefits are classified into defined BB EN D E AR TERFE
contribution plans and defined benefit plans. MEEZzmaTE o
23.2.1Defined contribution plan 521 REEFE
In the accounting period in which employees render REEAR T RERER
services, the amount payable under the defined BHSETHRE - BRER
contribution plan is recognised as liability and charged ERFEHENEST
to profit or loss for the current period or cost of CHEBERALAAME  WEA
relevant assets. EHERNEEEERK
K o
The employees of the Group participate in pension REENBI2NMEEH
insurance and unemployment insurance administered B E RS Z R K
by local governments, as well as annuity plan. The R - E2MTEESF
relevant expenditure is recognized, when incurred, in © - MBFESE B B RS
the costs of relevant assets or the profit or loss for the AMEBEEEXASE EE
current period. oo
23.2.2Defined benefit plan 2522 BEXamqtEl
The benefit obligation under defined benefit plan HREEX @S - A%
based on the formula determined by projected unit [ 1R 4% 78 B R Eh 4@ I B L
credit method would be vested to the service period of ERERN AR ER T
the staff and charged to current profit or loss or cost AEEANBENERSRE
of relevant assets. Some overseas subsidiaries of the B TR AR TS 60 HAR
Group operate defined benefit pension plans, under Wik AE BN AEE
which contributions shall be made to a separately- ERA - REBMNHDE
administered fund. INFRBIRLBEZ TR
Restdl  ZEHEEK
MBEVEERNESCATE
=
The service costs and the net interest on the net AR A& PR AR 2 3% E X wn st El
liabilities or net assets under the defined benefit plan FRRSFEENNEF
would be taken to the current profit or loss or cost of BT A BB AEE
relevant assets. The changes generated from the re- ERAR - ENFTEHREX
measurement of the net liabilities or net assets under maT e FREIFEEM
the defined benefit plan (including actuarial gains EENZH(BERER
or losses, return on assets under the plan, less the 1SEiEX - FrEIEEDR
amount included in the net interest on net liabilities HRBEEEREX @At E
or net assets under defined benefit plan, changes FRESFEENNEF
under the effect of maximum assets, less the amount BEHHEE BEELRY
included in the net interest on net liabilities or net ZENEHHRBEEERTE
assets under defined benefit plans) would be taken to Xmal B FEENFEE
other comprehensive income. HMEFERHNESEE) T

AR AfbRE Y o
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BEGFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
23. Payroll (Continued)

23.2 Accounting treatment for post-employment

23. BIHM(E)
232 BB BRI S B

174

23.3

234

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

benefits (Continued)

23.2.2 Defined benefit plan (Continued)
Net interest is calculated by multiplying the net
liabilities or net assets under the defined benefit plan
with the discount rate. Changes in the net obligations
under the defined benefit plan are recognized
under cost of sales, selling expenses, general and
administrative expenses, research & development
expenses and finance expenses in the income
statement. Costs of services include costs of services
for the current period, costs of services for previous
periods, and gains or losses on settlement. Net interest
includes interest income accrued upon assets under
the plan, interest expenses incurred due to obligations
under the plan, and interest under the effect of
maximum assets.

Accounting treatment for severance benefits
Where the Group provides severance benefits to its
employees, payroll payable arising from such severance
benefits are recognized on the earlier of the following
dates and included in profit or loss for the current period:
when the Group is unable to unilaterally withdraw the
severance benefits provided under its plan to terminate
working relationship with employees or redundancy plan;
or when the Group recognizes costs or expenses relating to
reorganization involving the payment of severance benefits.

Other long-term staff benefits

For other long-term staff benefits, the items conforming
to the conditions of defined contribution plan are treated
according to the requirements in the defined contribution
plans, whereas the rest are recognised and measured as
net liabilities or net assets under other long-term staff
benefits according to the defined benefit plan. At the end
of reporting period, staff costs under other long-term staff
benefits are recognised as three components, namely service
cost, net interest on net liabilities or net assets under other
long-term staff benefits and changes upon re-measurement
of net liabilities or assets under other long-term staff
benefits. The total net amount of these items is included in
profit or loss for the current period or the cost of relevant
assets.

AR NBRMNERAT

E(#E)

2322 REZ w1 (&)
FMEFRARESX At &
FREIFEERATR
KAEMS - NREBEHN
HREOBERAS  HER
A-E2ER WHE
R BBERTERERT
XumarBFRBHES
RIEARA - BIEE RS
BXAR B E RIS A M
BMNBHBX: FEF
B BREFEEENTE
WA~ GTEIEBHF B
RAREE ERFERF

B o
o

23.3 BHRIEFIBIE 5T I T %

REE AR TRHEREN -
ETHIMENT A EREEREH
EENBTHMARE Wt AE
HifBs - NEETREE T AR
R ER 5 B RR (R AT &I SR &
P eEHR B AR EE
REY R BRI EANR
B AR E A -

23.4 Btk EIB 57

HRHEMRPBIESN - FaR
FERTFRTEIGMA - IR LA
ERFENEHERTEETRE
B Bt 2 SMRIRER E R s At 8
MBBAE @ RN ERME
HIBTHEMNFRESFEE - £
BREHR - R REIBTREME
RO B TR BN AN HE R R AR T X
R HpRHBTREAFEESK
FEENNBFRAREHNAE
HE B TRMNFAEIFE
EFFEENEEH = EEARES -
ELIR B EF R A S AR
AR AR o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) BTSRRI SE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE
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AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

24. FEtERE

24. Accruals and provisions

Except for contingent consideration transferred and contingent
liability assumed in business combinations not involving entities
under common control, the Group recognizes an obligation related
to a contingency as a provision when all of the following conditions
are satisfied:

(1) the obligation is a present obligation of the Group;

(2) itis probable that an outflow of economic benefits from the
Group will be required to settle the obligation;

(3)  the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation,
with comprehensive consideration of factors such as the risks,
uncertainty and time value of money relating to a contingency. The
carrying amount of a provision is reviewed at the balance sheet
date. If there is clear evidence that the carrying amount does not
reflect the current best estimate, the carrying amount is adjusted
to the best estimate.

A contingent liability recognized in a business combination from
the acquiree is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it
is measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognized
for provisions above; and the amount initially recognized
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in
accordance with the principle of revenue recognition.
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25.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Share-based payments

Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-settled
share-based payments and cash-settled share-based payments.
Equity-settled share-based payments are transactions of the Group
settled through the payment of shares or other equity instruments
in consideration for receiving services.

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange for
services rendered by employees are measured at the fair value of
equity instruments granted to employees. Instruments which are
vested immediately upon the grant are charged to relevant costs
or expenses at the fair value on the date of grant and the capital
reserve is credited accordingly. Equity instruments of subsidiaries
granted to employees of subsidiaries are taken to minority interests
in the consolidated financial statements. Instruments of which
vesting is conditional upon completion of services or fulfillment
of performance conditions are measured by recognizing services
rendered during the period in relevant costs or expenses and
crediting the capital reserve accordingly at the fair value on the
date of grant according to the best estimates conducted by the
Group at each balance sheet date during the pending period based
on subsequent information such as latest updates on the change
in the number of entitled employees and whether performance
conditions have been fulfilled, and etc. Equity instruments of
subsidiaries granted to employees of subsidiaries are taken to
minority interests in the consolidated financial statements.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or
not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that
all non-market conditions are satisfied.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

25.

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based payment are
modified, as a minimum, services obtained are recognized as if the
terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognized
for any modification which increases the total fair value of the
instrument granted, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. Where
employees or other parties are permitted to choose to fulfill non-
vesting conditions but have not fulfilled during the pending period,
equity-settled share-based payments are deemed cancelled.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award.

A cash-settled share-based payment shall be measured in
accordance with the fair value of liability calculated and confirmed
based on the shares or other equity instruments undertaken by
the Group. If the right may be exercised immediately after the
grant, the fair value of the liability undertaken by the enterprise
shall, on the date of the grant, be included in the relevant costs or
expenses, and the liabilities shall be increased accordingly. If the
right may not be exercised until services are completed or until
the specified performance conditions are met during the vesting
period, the services obtained in the current period shall, based on
the best estimate of the information about the exercisable right,
be included in the relevant costs or expenses at the fair value of
the liability undertaken by the enterprise, and the liabilities shall
be increased accordingly. On each balance sheet date prior to
settlement of the relevant liabilities and on the settlement date,
the fair value of the liability is re-measured and any change of fair
value is taken to profit or loss for the current period.
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26.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue based on the transaction price
allocated to such performance obligation when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. A performance obligation represents
the commitment that a good or service that is distinct shall be
transferred by the Group to the customer. Transaction price refers
to the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange of transferring goods or services to a
customer, excluding the amount received on behalf of third parties
and the amount that the Group expects to return to a customer.

It is a performance obligation satisfied during a period of time if
one of the following conditions is met: (1) the customer obtains
and consumes economic benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs; (2) the customer is able
to control goods in progress during the Group’s performance;
(3) goods generated during the Group’s performance have
no alternative use, and the Group is entitled to payments for
performance completed to date. Otherwise, the Group will
recognise revenue at the point in time when the customer obtains
control of the relevant goods or services.

The Group adopts the input method to determine performance
schedules, namely according to the Group’s input into the
performance of contractual obligations. When the performance
progress cannot be determined, the Group is expected to be
reimbursed for the costs already incurred and recognize the
revenue based on the costs already incurred until the performance
progress can be reasonably determined.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
26. Revenue (Continued) 26. WA(E)

If there are two or more of performance obligations included in
the contract, at the contract inception, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each single performance obligation based on
the relative proportion of stand-alone selling prices of goods or
services promised in single performance obligation. However, if
there is conclusive evidence indicating that the contract discount
or variable consideration is only relative with one or more (not the
whole) performance obligations in the contract, the Group will
allocate the contract discount or variable consideration to relative
one or more performance obligations. Stand-alone selling price is
a price at which the Group would sell goods or services separately
to a customer. The stand-alone selling price cannot be observed
directly, the Group estimates the stand-alone selling price through
comprehensive consideration of all reasonably acquired relative
information and maximum use of observable inputs.

Variable consideration

Where variable consideration exists in the Group’s contracts, the
best estimate of variable consideration is arrived at using either
an expected value or most likely outcome method. Transaction
price comprising the variable consideration does not exceed the
amount that it is highly probable that there will not be a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized when
the uncertainty is resolved. On each balance sheet date, the Group
re-estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be
included in the transaction price.

Consideration payable to customers

Where consideration payable to customers exists in a contract, it is
set off against transaction price and is applied against revenue for
the current period at the later of the point at which the relevant
revenue is recognized and the point of payment of (or commitment
to pay) consideration to customers, unless the consideration
payable is for obtaining other distinct goods or services from the
customers.
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26.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Revenue (Continued)

Sales with quality assurance terms attached

For sales with quality assurance terms, if the quality assurance
provides a separate service to the customer other than ensuring
that the goods or services sold meet the pre-determined standards,
the quality assurance constitutes a single performance obligation.
Otherwise, the Group will account for the quality assurance
obligation in accordance with the “Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies”.

A principallan agent

The Group determines whether it is a principal or an agent at the
time of the transaction based on whether it owns the control of
the goods or services before the transfer of such goods or services
to the customer. Where the Group is in control of that good or
service prior to transferring the same to a customer, the Group
is a principal, and revenue shall be recognized based on the
total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the Group
is an agent, and revenue shall be recognized at the amount of
commissions or service charges expected to be entitled to collect,
and such amount shall be determined based on net amount of
total consideration received or receivable less amounts payable to
other related parties, or based on the pre-determined commissions
or proportions.

Except for the income arising from contracts with customers,
income of the Group includes interest income and lease income
from daily operating activities. For details of relevant accounting
policies, please refer to Note Ill. 10 and Note Il. 29.
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27.

Government grants

Government grant is recognized when the Group can comply with
the conditions attached to it and it can be received. Government
grant is classified as asset-related government grant and income-
related government grant. Government grant for purchasing,
building or otherwise forming long-term assets is recognized as
one related to assets. Otherwise it is recognized as one related to
income.

If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of monetary
asset, it is measured at the amount received or receivable. If a
government grant is in the form of a transfer of non-monetary asset,
it is measured at fair value; if fair value is not reliably determinable,
it is measured at a nominal amount.

An asset-related government grant is recognized as deferred
income and recognized in profit or loss by stages over the useful
life of the related assets in a reasonable and systematic way.
However, a government grant measured at a nominal amount
is recognized directly in profit or loss for the current period. A
government grant related to income is accounted for as follows:
if the grant is a compensation for related costs expenses or losses
to be incurred in subsequent periods, the grant is recognized
as deferred income, and recognized in profit or loss over the
periods in which the related costs are recognized; if the grant is a
compensation for related costs expenses or losses already incurred,
it is recognized immediately in profit or loss for the current period.

Government grant related to daily operations is recognized in
other income. Government grant not related to daily operations is
recognized in non-operating income.

Bt 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F 12A31HIEFE
= SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)

27.

HATFEED

BT #68 BY 72 BE 55 2 EL P P & 16k 4 3
BRESU RIS - T ARER o BUTHEED
7 B 2 AR B B BT 8 B AN B
TEREROER AT B AR SIAEL Al
ARAEKEHEEN  (ERREEM
RAH BB ¢ BRIt 2 SN PE R BRI
=SRBENBTHE -

B#REEHEEEN  RBES
RV HEE - BIFMBRIEE
BHEEN BRRAAEBEE: 2
REETEMAEMEH  REEE

TERE -

HEEMBEOBGMHE - #RAELT
Wik - YHEABEEERSHRER
BE - RGMES BT AR - B
RBAZSHETENBRFHY B
FPAEHIAS - BRSEABNBUTHE
B - IR E (R 2 AR BAR B9 I B A
RERYIBLN  BRR/ETERE -
WHEREERAEBKIBLRNE
B AtAEHER  AXEELED
BENMEERAEREBRN  Bi
FEAEHIES -

S AEEBAENBUTEE - fTAR
fb ez o B2 B F R BB A BUT
B FEAZRIMEA ©

INUAL REPORT 2019 &3 181




ES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

182

28.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognized as income or an expense in profit or loss for the current
period, except that it is a goodwill adjustment arising from business
combination, or transactions or events recognized directly in
shareholders’ equity or other comprehensive income, in which case
they are recognized in shareholders’ equity or other comprehensive
income.

The Group measures a current tax asset or liability arising from
the current and prior period based on the amount of income tax
expected to be paid by the Group or returned by tax authority
calculated by related tax laws.

For temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts, and
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the
tax bases of items, the tax bases of which can be determined for
tax purposes, but which have not been recognized as assets and
liabilities according to the tax laws, deferred taxes are provided
using the liability method.

A deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

(1) where the taxable temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction which contains both of the
following characteristics: the transaction is not a business
combination; and at the time of the transaction, it affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or deductible
loss.

(2) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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28.

Income tax (Continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognized for deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of deductible tax losses from prior years
and tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and deductible tax losses and tax credits can be
utilized, except:

(1) where the deductible temporary differences arises from a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or deductible loss is affected.

(2)  in respect of the deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates,
a deferred tax asset is only recognized to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will be reversed
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilized in the future.

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, according to the
requirements of tax laws. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects at the balance
sheet date, to recover the assets or settle the liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available in future
periods to allow the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Deferred tax
assets previously written down are reversed to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities presented on a
net basis are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities on a net basis and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.
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29.

Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease at inception/modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

29.1 The Group as lessee
29.1.1 Right-of-use assets
Except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date on
which the leased asset is made available by the lessor
for the Group’s use. The right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost. This cost includes:

. the initial measurement amount of the lease
liabilities;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less the relevant amount
of any lease incentives received (where lease
incentives are available);

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = S2EFHHRKEEF EH(EE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)

29.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

29.1.1 Right-of-use assets (Continued)

29. HE(E)
29.1 KEFEHBRBA (&
911 (EHEEE (&)

The Group made provisions for depreciation of right-
of-use assets in accordance with the depreciation
requirements under the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 4 — Fixed Assets. Right-of-
use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term is depreciated over the
remaining useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful
life and the lease term.

The Group determines whether impairment has
occurred in the right-of-use asset and accounts
for the recognised impairment losses according to
“Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 8
— Assets Impairment”.

AEBEZR(EEETE
AIE4R—EEEE)R
RITESE - HHERAEE
EFTRITE - AEREREN
& T2 HEE 1 B A R B EX
BHEBEMAREN - £
REEECEHEEERRK
ERBBAFTHRITE - &
AR R EHE B
BEMEMSTHEEEMA R
B EHEREBESE
RIrERFJamEANEN
HIRMARHEINE -

AEBRB(EEGE
AIE8H —BEERE)IN
REXREEERREER
BOBEERE  THEH
AHRERKETEE
I o




TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B PSRBT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRNEF ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)

29.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

29.1.2 Lease liabilities

29. HE(HE)
29.1 FEEIERFEMEA (&)
N12HERE

186

WEICHAI PoweErR Co., LTD.

Except for share-term leases and leases of low value
assets, at the commencement date of a lease, the
Group initially measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the interest rate implicit in
the lease as discount rate. If the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable, the incremental
borrowing rate will be adopted as discount rate.

Lease payment refers to the amount paid by the Group
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to the lessor relating to the right to use an underlying HAE A8y B2 7E7E & B
asset during the lease term, including: AFEAAEEENEFE

o fixed payments and in-substance fixed payments
less the relevant amount of any lease incentives
(where lease incentives are available);

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate;
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29.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

29.1.2 Lease liabilities (Continued)

29. HE(E)
29.1 KEFEHBRBA (&
2912 HEBE(E)

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a ratio, are initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date of a lease. Variable lease
payments that are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability are recognised in profit or loss or
related asset costs when incurred.

Upon commencement of the lease term, the Group
calculates the interest expense of the lease liabilities
for each period of the lease term based on a fixed
periodic interest rate, and recognized in profit or loss
for the current period or the costs of the relevant asset.

After the commencement date of the lease, the
Group re-measures the lease liabilities and adjusts
the corresponding right-of-use asset in the following
circumstances:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the Group re-measures the lease liabilities
by discounting the present value of revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate;

the expected lease payments under a guaranteed
residual value or the index or rate determining the
lease payments change, in which cases the Group
re-measures the lease liabilities by discounting the
present value of revised lease payments using the
original discount rate.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BEGFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued) 29. HE(E)

29.1 FKEFELBATAAN (4E)
2913 HIHEMEEEE

29.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)
29.1.3 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group elects not to recognize the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and
low-value asset leases of vehicles, machinery and
equipment and office buildings. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. A lease of low value asset refers to a single
lease asset which, when new, is of low value. Lease

EHE

NEFELHERRE - WS
BERRARENREHE
ENREEEEERE
BIETHREREELEM
HEAE BHHEE 2
BEMEHMAE A8
HTBBENREARTEE

payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value EEREENES - KE

assets are recognised in profit or loss or the cost of BEEMRE  2EEEM

underlying assets on a straight-line basis over the lease EEERDNEERERA

term. RIEMEE - REBEERE
HASMEEEEERE
WAEENRE  EREH
A& B IR R E A AT
AE BRI EEEENX
& o

29.14 Lease modifications 2014 HHEE
If the lease changes and meets the following HEREEFEERRFS
conditions, the Group will account for the lease TOEHR) - NEEEZ
modification as a separate lease: HEZEER—BEFM

EETEEE

e the lease modification increases the scope of s ZHEZEAEBAN
the lease by adding the right to use one or more Mm—ExkZEEE
leased assets; BEMNFBEME

ATHESHE

e the consideration increases by an amount e HIWHERES
commensurate with the stand-alone price for HEBEAHSNE
the increase in scope and any adjustments BERRZARE
to that stand-alone price to reflect the WA IEE SR
circumstances of the particular contract. g
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued) 29. HHE(E)

29.1 FKEFELBATAA (4E)
2914 HEZF (&)

29.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)
29.14 Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group re-allocates the
consideration in the revised contract, re-determines
the lease term and re-measures the lease liability by
discounting the present value of the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the lease modification.

If the lease change results in a reduction in the scope
of lease or the term of lease, the Group reduces
the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and
recognises the related gains or losses on the partly
or fully terminated lease in the current profit or loss.
If other lease changes result in the re-measurement

of their respective stand-alone selling prices.

29.2.2 Classification of leases

Leases that substantially transfer all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases; otherwise, it is an
operating lease.

ﬁﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ BHEE
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RREEREENKEM
BRI IR EF E /IR
EEFTEHERGE -

MEZF SYHEHNE R
PNERMEHEREN - AE
B iR FE SR AR B E R
FRE(EE @ WHBHKLE
g R I FHERNERA
BB RFTAE B8 -

of the lease liability, the Group adjusts the carrying HHESTERHER

amount of the right-of-use assets accordingly. BENTEN - RN EER
ERARGCAELSENERR
B8 -

29.2 The Group as lessor 292 XEEESHEA
29.2.1 Separating components of a lease 2921 HERI S HF

For a contract that contains lease and non- & RH Hﬁv’jﬁﬁgﬂ#

lease components, the Group shall allocate the THEE E’J AEERE

consideration of the contract by applying Accounting (EGHERIFE 145 —

Standards for Business Enterprises No.14 — Revenue in WJ\WEEAX%TE% ﬁ&

respect of allocation of transaction price, on the basis RED A REE -

BOERASHERD %DéE
HEMOZTENEBE
1% o

2922 HER 7 HE

BE BT REENA
e R0 2 EDER T 4R
MEEARERE - BE
BN E TR 4
BHE -
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRNEF ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)

29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)

29.2.2 Classification of leases (Continued)

29. HE(E)
29.1 REEFEZEAHA (&
2922 HHEH) 5 HE (&)

190

operating leases as lease income on a straight-
line basis in different periods over the lease
term. The Group capitalises initial direct costs
incurred in relation to an operating lease and

2922.1The Group records operating leasing D221 K EEERHH

business as a lessor ANGLFEEHE
Eg

The Group recognises lease payments from e & H & & HR

A AEERAE
BE - BRERE
# 7E B WK R i R
RESWA - K&

apportions such amount over the lease term on B3 A B AT A
the same basis as that used for lease income. EEBMONTBEE
Such amount will be taken to profit or loss for BERRBEERTIN
the current period by stages. BRI EHE!
% BB R AR & I A
TR AR R A B s

T8 DEIFEA
2R -

The Group recognises any variable lease 7 5 B NS A B AT
payments relating to operating lease not EHEABHRET

included in the lease payments as income, in
profit or loss for the current period as incurred.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)

29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)

29.2.2 Classification of leases (Continued)

29. HE(E)
29.2 KEFESHHEN (&
2922 HER S (4E)

29222The Group records finance leasing 29220 EBFER LM
business as a lessor ANt EHE
Eg
On the commencement date of the lease, the REEBHMABAE
Group adopts the net lease investment as the AEBENHEERSE
recorded value of the financial lease receivables EEEAE R EWR
and derecognises the finance lease assets. BEHEFROAIRE

The net lease investment is the sum of the
unguaranteed residual value and the present

18 - I A% 1 FERR A
EMEEE - HE

value of outstanding lease payments at the KREFHERKRER

commencement date of the lease which are #4118 A & BR A 4R

discounted using the interest rate implicit in the BEARKINEE

lease. W B E
EREFRNBRE
2 e

Lease payments refer to the amount that the

MEWRE - =i

Group should collect from the lessee for the AEBERZEELH

purpose of transferring the leased assets during EHANFEREEE

the lease term, including: EE B 48 ) T JE A)
AW FE
BE

° fixed payments and in-substance fixed
payments required to be paid by lessee,
less any lease incentives (where lease
incentives are available);

o variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
lessee;
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III.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)
29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)
29.2.2 Classification of leases (Continued)
29222The Group records finance leasing
business as a lessor (Continued)

o payments for exercising the option to
terminate the lease, if the lease term
reflects that the lessee will exercise an
option to terminate the lease;

° any residual value guarantees provided to
the Group by the lessee, a party related to
the lessee and an independent third party
that is financially capable of discharging
the obligations under the guarantee.

Variable lease payments that are not included
in the measurement of net lease investments
are recognized in profit or loss for the current
period as incurred.

Interest income in each period during the lease

term are calculated and recognized by the
Group using the fixed periodic rate of interest.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLD

A FS IR RBAEE(58)
2019F12A31HILFE

= - ER B BERK S5t b5 (1)

29. HE(E)
29.2 FEFELBHHEN (E
2922 HHER DX (&)
292227 EEE A
ALt EHE
E 16D,
o EMAITER
e REE
EYNER
IE - BTREHE
AR R
AT
s
HE

o HAMA-H
EIEANB @S
— T ARELE
R N BT
REBHEL
FE=HRARE
B R EAER
A °

RAAREREF
HitEMAEEE
WREHEEREL
Bt AEHIES -

R HIZ R E E A
FEEIER R EI
EREEHRAEE
Himm A B HA -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) IS IR KRB EE (68)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 1231 HIFFE
III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - SR SHBERKE5HL5H(88)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued) 29. HE(E)
29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued) 29.2 FKEFESLHAN (&
2923 Lease modifications 2923 FHE %
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating KEHERERERN - K
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the SEEFEAMAREH
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease EA—BHHEE®ITEE
payments relating to the original lease as part of the RIE - B EREEER
lease payments for the new lease. K 8 U ok FE U AE E U R EE
R AR E YR -
If the finance lease changes and meets the MEREREEFF HRK
following conditions, the Group accounts for a lease HFAETIEHR  RNEEH
modification as a separate lease: RS EIER—IHERNE
EETEEE
e the modification expands the scope of the e HRETERBIELIMN—
lease by increasing the right to use one or more BHgZIEHEEE
leased assets; M REmBERT
THE#HE
e the consideration increases by an amount o WENMHEHEES
commensurate with the stand-alone price for HEBERF NE
the increase in scope and any adjustments BEKREZERE
to that stand-alone price to reflect the S IEE ST

Atk
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)
29.2.3 Lease modifications (Continued)
If the modification of the finance lease is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the Group will
account for the lease modification in the following
cases:

o If the lease is classified as an operating lease
when the modification becomes effective at
the commencement date, the Group begins
accounting for the lease modification as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification
and uses the net lease investment before the
effective date of the lease modification as the
carrying value of the leased asset;

J If the modification is effective at the
commencement date and the lease is classified
as a finance lease, the Group accounts for such
modification in accordance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 —
Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Instruments in respect of the modification or re-
negotiation of contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 1231 HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = S2EFHHRKEEF EH(EE)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
29. Leases (Continued)

29.2 The Group as lessor (Continued)

29.2.4 Sale and leaseback transaction

29. HE(E)
29.2 KEFESHHEN (&
2924 EEMAEIX S

The Group as a seller (lessee)

The Group determines whether the asset transfer in
the sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale
in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No.14 — Revenue. If the transfer of assets
is not a sale, the Group continues to recognize
the transferred assets and recognizes a financial
liability in equal amount to the transfer income, and
accounts for the financial liabilities in accordance
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
No. 22 — Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Instruments. Where the transfer of assets is a sale, the
Group measures the right-of-use assets formed by the
sale and leaseback based on the portion of the original
asset’s book value that is related to the use rights
obtained from the leaseback, and only recognizes
the relevant gains or loss that relates to the rights
transferred to the lessor.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
30. Hedge accounting
30.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting

treatment

To manage the risk exposure caused by specific risks such
as foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, the Group
has designated certain financial instruments as hedging
instruments for hedging. The Group applies hedging
accounting for a hedge that satisfies the prescribed
conditions. Hedging activities of the Group include fair value
hedges and cash flow hedges. For the hedges for foreign
exchange risk with firm commitment, the Group treated
them as cash flow hedges.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group’s hedging is
classified as follows:

(1) Fair value hedges refer to the hedging against the risk
of fair value change in respect of definite commitments
which are not yet recognized (other than exchange
rate risks) of assets and liabilities already recognized.

(2)  Cash flow hedges refer to the hedging against the
exposure to variability in cash flows that is either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognized asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an
unrecognized firm commitment.
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)

AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

30. Hedge accounting (Continued) 30. Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ‘l‘(%)
30.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting 30.1 RAEHEHIIEEE
treatment (Continued) FTEERE T i (4E)

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting

are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges

The Group's fair value hedge is a hedge against interest
rate risk (risk of fair value change) of the fixed rate debt

instruments.

Gains or losses arising from a hedging instrument are
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. Gains or
losses in respect of the hedged item attributable to hedged
risk are recognized in profit or loss and the carrying amount
of the hedged item that is not measured at fair value is

adjusted.

For fair value hedge relating to debt instruments carried at
amortized cost, the carrying amount of the hedged items is
adjusted and amortized to profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Amortization begins on the date of adjustment but no later
than the point when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted

for hedging gains and losses.

Where the hedged items are firm commitments not yet
recognized, upon designation of the hedging relationship,
the accumulated change in fair value arising from the
hedging risk of the firm commitments are recognized as an
asset or a liability, and related gains and losses are taken
to profit or loss for the current period. When the Group
obtains assets or undertakes liabilities by performing firm
commitments, the initial recognised amount of the assets or
liabilities is adjusted to include the accumulated change in

fair value of the recognised hedged items.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
30. Hedge accounting (Continued)
30.1 Basis of hedge accounting and accounting

treatment (Continued)

Cash flow hedges

The Group's cash flow hedge include hedges of the expected
sales/procurements, foreign currency financial instruments,
foreign exchange risk on firm commitments and interest rate
risk of variable rate debt instruments (exposure to variability
in cash flows).

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognized in other comprehensive income,
while the ineffective portion is recognized in profit or loss.

If the expected transaction being hedged is subsequently
recognized as non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities,
or when the expected transaction of non-financial assets
or non-financial liabilities becomes the firm commitment
under applicable fair value hedges, the amount of cashflow
hedging reserve originally recognized in other comprehensive
income is transferred out and taken to the initial recognized
amount of that asset or liability item. For other cashflow
hedges, during the same period in which the expected
cashflow being hedged affects profit or loss, for example
when the expected sale occurs, the cashflow hedging reserve
recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred out
and taken to profit or loss for the current period.

When the Group no longer applies hedging accounting
to cashflow hedges, if the future cashflow being hedged
is still expected to occur, the amount previously taken to
other comprehensive income is not transferred out until the
expected transaction actually occurs or the firm commitment
is performed; if the future cashflow being hedged is no
longer expected to occur, the accumulated amount of
cashflow hedging reserve shall be transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to profit or loss for the
current period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = BESFHERRS5HL5H(ZE)
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
30. Hedge accounting (Continued) 30. EffE(E)

30.2 Effective evaluation of hedging 30.2 BB %

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates and documents the hedge relationship
to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting,
the risk management objective and the risk management
strategy. The documentation includes identification of
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure
to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk. Besides, the Group assesses
on an ongoing basis whether such hedging relationships
are complying with the hedge effectiveness requirements
as at the commencement date and in subsequent periods.
The Group recognises that the hedging relationships meet
hedge effectiveness requirements when they meet all of the
following requirements:

° There is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship.

o The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity
of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses
to hedge that quantity of hedged item.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
30. Hedge accounting (Continued)

30.2 Effective evaluation of hedging (Continued)

200

31.

32.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group rebalances the
hedging relationship and adjusts the quantity of the hedged
items or hedging instruments having existed in the hedging
relationship to make the hedge ratio conform to the hedge
effectiveness requirement again.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised (with the exception of rollover of the hedging
strategic component or unfulfilled replacement), if its
objective of risk management changes, so that the
hedge relationship no longer satisfies the objective of risk
management, or if the hedge no longer fulfills the other
conditions under the accounting requirement of a hedge,
the Group will cease the adoption of such hedge accounting.

Profit appropriation

Interim and final cash dividends of the Company are
recognized as liabilities upon approval by shareholders in
general meeting.

Safety funds

Safety funds provided for as required were included in
cost of product or the current profit and loss, and credited
in special reserve. And the funds are treated separately
depending on whether fixed assets are resulted when
being used: funds related to expenditure is offset against
special reserve directly while those forming fixed assets will
consolidate expenditure incurred and recognized as fixed
assets when such assets are ready for their intended use, at
the same time offsetting equivalent amounts in the special
reserve and recognizing equivalent amounts of accumulated
depreciation.
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33.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal
organization structure, managerial requirements and internal
reporting system, identifies reportable segments based on
operating segments and discloses segment information by
operating segment.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that meets all
the following conditions:

(1) it engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses;

(2)  its operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
management to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance;

(3)  the Group is able to obtain relevant accounting information
such as its financial position, operating results and cash flows
of such segment.

If two or more segments have similar economic characteristics and
meet certain conditions, then they can be aggregated into a single
operating segment.
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34.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that will affect the
reported amounts and disclosure of revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the balance
sheet date. However, uncertainty about these estimates and
assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments which have
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statements.

Confirmation of functional currency

Since the Company owns a number of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and branch organizations, when recognizing its
functional currency, multiple factors are taken into consideration
to recognize the major economic environment of their operating
locations. Under circumstances with multiple factors and no
obvious functional currency, the Group uses judgment to confirm
its functional currency. Such judgment is the best to reflect
economic influence of the underlying transactions, events and
environment.

Sale and leaseback sub-leases

Leasing of forklift trucks is the principal business of KION, which
includes 3 categories: direct leasing, sale and leaseback sub-
leases and indirect leasing. To fund leases, industrial forklift trucks
are generally sold by KION and its subsidiaries (“KION Group”)
to finance partners. The industrial forklift trucks are then leased
back to companies under KION Group (head leases), which sub-
lease them to external end customers (described below as “sale
and leaseback sub-leases”). These head leases generally have a
term of four to five years. Taking into account the fact that the
finance partners can only lease the industrial forklift trucks to KION
Group, at rental rate determined based on transfer income plus
an agreed rate of return, and the leased assets are to be owned
by KION Group upon expiry of the term of the head leases, the
management of the Group considers that under the sale and
leaseback sub-leases arrangements, the control over the respective
leased assets incidental to the head leases are retained by KION
Group, the asset transfer is not considered as a sale. As such, the
Group continues to recognize the transferred assets and at the
same time recognizes a financial liability that corresponds to the
amount of the transfer income.
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34.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Judgments (Continued)

Indirect leasing arrangement

KION Group sells industrial forklift trucks to finance partners,
who then lease them to external end customers (abbreviated
below as “indirect leasing”). Taking into account the contract
terms and historical commercial practice, KION Group repurchases
from finance partners the transferred industrial forklift trucks at
agreed prices or market prices when the term of indirect leasing
expires, the management of the Group considers that KION Group
still maintain control over the corresponding leased-out assets,
and asset transfer under the indirect leasing arrangement is not
considered a sale. As such, the Group continues to recognize
the transferred assets, and the present value of the Group's
obligations to repurchase is recognized as a liability. The difference
between the transfer income and such liability is accounted for in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.
21 - Leases.

Method of ascertaining of performance progress for
contracts (only applicable to situations where control is
transferred within a period of time)

The input method is adopted by the Group to ascertain the
progress of performance of contracts. In ascertaining performance
progress, products for which control is not yet transferred to
customers are deducted. Specifically, the performance costs actually
incurred on a cumulative basis as a percentage of estimated total
costs is used to ascertain progress of performance. Performance
costs actually incurred on a cumulative basis include direct and
indirect costs incurred by the Group in the course of fulfilling its
performance obligations, but does not include costs that are not
proportional to the performance progress of the Group, such as
costs of products or materials not yet installed, used or consumed.
The Group considers that contract prices are ascertained on the
basis of performance costs, and the adjusted costs actually incurred
as a percentage of expected total costs can essentially reflect truly
the performance progress of the Group.

As the period of validity of such contracts is relatively long and may
span over a number of accounting periods, the Group shall review
and revise budget as the duration of the contracts continues, and
adjust the amount of recognized revenue accordingly.
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34.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Judgments (Continued)

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the business model of the Group’s management of financial
assets. In judging the business model, the Group considers
corporate appraisal, methods of reporting the results of financial
assets to key management members, risks affecting the results of
financial assets and its management, as well as the methods of
remunerating relevant business managers and so forth. In assessing
whether the objective is to collect contractual cash flows, the
Group needs to analyze and judge the reasons for disposing of the
financial assets before maturity, time, frequency and value of the
financial assets and so forth.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
When it is necessary to judge whether the contractual cash flow
is only the payment of the principal and the interest based on the
outstanding principal, including the assessment of the correction
of the time value of money, it is necessary to judge whether there
is a significant difference compared with the benchmark cash flow.
For financial assets with early repayment features, it is necessary
to judge whether the fair value of the early repayment features is
minimal.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the future accounting
periods, are discussed below.
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34.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets
The Group uses the expected credit loss model to assess the
impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets. The
application of the expected credit loss model requires significant
judgments and estimations, and all reasonable and evidenced
information, including forward-looking information, should be
considered. In making such judgments and estimations, the Group
infers the expected changes in the debtor’s credit risk based on the
historical repayment data in combination with economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, and industry risks.

Provision for losses in respect of accounts receivable and contract
assets is measured at the amount of the expected credit losses
during the entire subsistence. Regarding the accounts receivable
and contract assets for which impairment matrix is applied (on
a group basis) to determine credit losses, the Group relies on
common risk profiles to classify them into different groups. Such
common risk profiles include ages, overdue ages, credit risk rating
and so forth. Regarding receivables and contract assets which are
individually significant or are individually insignificant but have
special credit risks, impairment testing is conducted individually.

Where the result of re-estimation is different from the existing
estimation, the difference will affect the profit of the period of
changes in estimates and the carrying amount of the accounts
receivable and contract assets.
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34.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-current assets other than financial
assets (other than goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful life)

At the balance sheet date, the Company makes its judgment as
to whether there is any evidence indicating potential impairment
of non-current assets other than financial assets. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful life shall be tested for impairment when
there is any indication of impairment in addition to the annual
impairment testing. Other non-current assets other than financial
assets shall be tested for impairment if there is any evidence
indicating that their carrying amount cannot be recovered. When
the carrying amount of an asset or asset groups is higher than the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the net amount of its
fair value less costs of disposal and the present value of the future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, it indicates
impairment. The net amount of the fair value less costs of disposal is
determined by making reference to the price in a sale agreement in
an arm’s length transaction or the observable market price less the
incremental costs directly attributable to such assets disposal. In
projecting the present value of future cashflow, the management is
required to estimate the projected future cashflow of the asset or
asset group and select an appropriate discount rate for determining
the present value of future cashflow.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful life

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful life are impaired at least on an annual basis.
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
asset group or group of asset groups including the goodwill and
trademarks. Estimating the recoverable amount requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
asset group or group of asset groups and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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34.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Defined benefit plans

The management of the Group recognizes net liabilities under
defined benefit plans based on calculating model of the present
value of the defined benefit obligations less fair value of the assets
under the plan. The present value of defined benefit obligations
comprises of various assumptions, including term of benefits and
discount rate. Inconsistency between the future events and such
assumptions may subject the net liabilities under defined benefit
plans on the balance sheet date to material adjustment.

Fair value

Certain assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair
value on the financial statements. The aforesaid measurement is on
the basis of some assumptions. Fair value may differ significantly if
future events deviate from such assumptions.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused deductible
temporary differences and deductible losses to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and deductible losses can be
utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profit together
with future tax planning strategies.

Provision for decline in value of inventories

Provision for decline in value of inventories is recognized on the
basis of the net realizable value of inventories. The management’s
judgments and estimates are required for determining the net
realizable value of inventories on the basis of clear evidence, taking
into consideration of purpose of holding the inventories, effect
of subsequent events and other factors. The difference between
the actual outcome and original estimate will affect the carrying
amount of inventories and provision or reversal of decline in value
of inventories during the estimated revision period.
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34.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition of accruals and provisions related to quality
warranty of products

The Group estimates the obligation related to quality warranty
of guaranteed products based on contractual terms, current
knowledge and historical experience. The Group reasonably
estimates maintenance fee charge and makes relevant provision
based on all relevant data including historical data on and current
situation of maintenance, product upgrade and market changes.

Estimated useful lives of fixed assets and intangible assets

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of fixed assets and
intangible assets at least once at the end of the year. Estimated
useful lives are determined by the management based on
historical experience of similar assets and expected technological
advancement. Corresponding adjustment to depreciation and
amortization expenses for future periods will be made in case of
substantial changes in previous estimates.

Limitations on the estimation of variable consideration

In estimating variable consideration, the Group considers all such
information as shall be reasonably obtained, including historical
data, current data and projected data, thereby estimating the
amount of possible consideration and the probability to the
extent of such quantities as shall be reasonable. If it is estimated
that multiple outcomes are possible for the contracts, the Group
estimates the amount of variable consideration based on the
expected value approach. If it is estimated that only two outcomes
are possible, the variable consideration is arrived at using the
most likely outcome method. Variable consideration is included
in the transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that
there will not be a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognized when the uncertainty is resolved. In assessing
whether it is highly probable that there will not be a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized when
the uncertainty relevant to the variable consideration is resolved,
the Group also considers the possibility of reversal of income and
the ratio of reversed amount. On each balance sheet date, the
Group re-assesses the amount of variable consideration, including
re-assessing whether the estimation of variable consideration is
limited, to reflect the circumstance as at the end of the reporting
period as well as changes during the reporting period.
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35.

Change in accounting policies

New Standard on Lease

With effect from 1 January 2019 (the “date of first adoption”),
the Group has adopted the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 21 — Leases (the “New Standard on Lease”; the
standard on lease before amendment is referred as the “Original
Standard on Lease”) amended by the MOF in 2018. The New
Standard on Lease improved the definition of lease; and added
the identification, allocation and combination; cancelled the
classification of operating lease and finance lease; required to
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases at
the commencement date (except for short-term lease and leases
of low-value assets) and the respective depreciation and interest
expense; improved the lessee’s subsequent measurement of lease,
added the accounting treatment for the re-assessment of selection
right and lease modifications, and added relevant disclosure
requirements. In addition, it enriched the disclosure contents
by the lessors. For accounting policy on the recognition and
measurement of leases by the Group as the lessee and lessor after
the amendment, please refer to Note I11.29.

For the contracts already existed before the date of first adoption,
the Group chose not to re-assess whether they were of lease or
included lease on the date of first adoption.

The Group as lessee
The Group adjusted the beginning amount of the retained earnings
and other relevant items on financial statements on the date of
first adoption based on the cumulative impact of first adoption of
the New Standard on Lease without adjusting the information for
the comparable period.

For the operating leases before the date of first adoption except
for lease of low value assets, the Group adopted one or more than
one simplified treatments as follows based on each lease option:

o Leases to be completed within 12 months from the date of
first adoption shall be treated as short-term leases;

o When measuring the lease liabilities, a single discount rate is
adopted for leases with similar characteristics;

o The measurement of right-of-use assets does not include
initial direct cost;
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III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
35. Change in accounting policies (Continued)
New Standard on Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
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For the leases with extension option or termination option,
the Group determines the lease term based on the exercise
of options in practice prior to the date of first adoption and
other latest developments;

The Group assesses whether the contracts with leases are
onerous before the date of first adoption according to the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.13 —
Contingencies and adjusts the right-of-use assets based on
the provision for loss made in the balance sheet before the
date of first adoption as an alternative to performing an
impairment test on the right-of-use assets;

For the change of the lease before the date of first adoption,
accounting treatments shall be in accordance with the final
arrangements of the change of the lease.

On the date of first adoption, the Group made the adjustments as
follows in connection with the adoption of the New Standard on

Lease:

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

For the finance leases before the date of first adoption, the
Group measured the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
at the original carrying amounts of the assets under finance
lease and the finance lease payable respectively on the date
of first adoption.

For the operating leases before the date of first adoption,
Company shall measure lease liabilities on the date of first
adoption based on remaining lease payments discounted to
the present value using the incremental borrowing rate for
lessees prevailing on the date of first adoption, and select
one of the following measures to measure the right-of-use
assets depending on each lease:

- assume that the New Standard on Lease is adopted

to measure right-of-use assets once the lease term
commenced, with the carrying amount discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of
first adoption.

- the amount equal to the lease liability and the

necessary adjustments based on the prepaid rent.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - B2 EHHRNK S G5 (48)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
35. Change in accounting policies (Continued) 35
New Standard on Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
The Group recognized lease liabilities of RMB17,418,755,002.55
and right-of-use assets of RMB10,847,665,335.76 on 1 January
2019. For the operating leases before the date of first adoption,
the Group measures the lease liabilities according to the present
value discounted at the incremental borrowing rate on the date of
first adoption, where the range of discount rate of the incremental
borrowing is between 0%-15%.

SITBEEE (&)

FHHEER (&
KEBELAEFAN(E)
REBEM2019F1 A 1BERBEAE
AR #17,418,755,002.557C - f FI#E
EEANR®10,847,665,335.76 7T ° ¥f
RERRMITEANEERE  ~5E
KABERXNITARSERFERITIE%
MEEEHEAE  ZSEBMEN
FERANMIRERMEB0%-15% °

POTFHELENEAEER AR A
2019F 1 A1BEEBERHEBEEN
TR

The effects of the adoption of the New Standard on the Lease on
related items in the Balance Sheet of the Group and the Company as
at 1 January 2019 are set out as below:

The Group AEE
RMB
AR
Adjustment
for the change in
31 December 2018 accounting policies 1 January 2019
ltem 1BH 2018124318 eHHREE AL 20191818
Fixed assets ETEE 29,454,072,247.73 (8,169,185,573.01)  21,284,886,674.72
Right-of-use assets PREEE - 10,847,665335.76  10,847,665,335.76
Deferred tax assets BRFGHEE 4,458,451,001.33 169,776,384.27 4,628,227,385.60
Total non-current assets FnBEEAL 97,170,902,236.80 2,848,256,147.02  100,019,158,383.82
Total assets BESG 205,276,365,174.18 2,848,256,147.02  208,124,621,321.20
Non-current liabilities due within one year ~ —FREIHMERE & E 6,898,699,368.61 666,638,424.89 7,565,337,793.50
Total current liabilities TEBEAL 88,417,148,977.49 666,638,424.89  89,083,787,402.38
Lease liabilities HEEE - 11,889,548,623.68  11,889,548,623.68
Long-term payables REENT 9,895,419,535.20 (9,534,504,532.92) 360,915,002.28
Deferred tax liabilities FELEREE 5,772,705,450.50 120,744,835.64 5,893,450,286.14
Total non-current liabilities EREEEL: 54,599,888,423.00 2,475,788,926.40 57,075,677,349.40
Total liabilities BEA: 143,017,037,400.49 3,142,427351.29  146,159,464,751.78
Other comprehensive income Hfbira e (1,570,594,557.01) (13,411,82043)  (1,584,006,377.44)
Retained earnings APEFE 32,443,962,374.77 (118,987,182.48)  32,324,975,192.29
Total equity attributable to the owners GRNGARMEEER
of the parent At 39,313,734,834.02 (132,399,002.91)  39,181,335,831.11
Minority interests LERFERER 22,945,592,939.67 (161,772,201.36)  22,783,820,738.31
Total owners' equity FEEERAE 62,259,327,773.69 (294,171,204.27)  61,965,156,569.42

Total liabilities and owners’ equity

BEMMAAEEERQE

205,276,365,174.18

2,848,256,147.02

208,124,621,321.20
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE
ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND = - BREFHRKE5 G5 ()
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
35. Change in accounting policies (Continued) 35. SEFBCREE (&)
New Standard on Lease (Continued) HFHEER| (&)
The Group as lessee (Continued) KEFEREFN ()
The Company ZA/NS)
New Standard on Lease does not have any impacts on the MEEEAHARRT2019F1 A1EH
Company’s financial statements as at 1 January 2019. MBHRRELE -
The reconciliation information of the lease liabilities recognized REEMN2019F1 A1 AERNEESR
by the Group on 1 January 2019 and the major operating lease EE2018FEMBEMRPRENEXN
commitments disclosed in the 2018 annual financial statements are REMEAGRAMEEIT
as follows:
RMB
AR®T
1 January 2019
Item Ll 2019%1A18
I. Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 — 2018512431 AL L Eh 3,595,922,598.51
Lease liabilities according to the present value discounted RERRTRE SRR ENRAER
at the incremental borrowing rate on the date of HEARE
first adoption 3,120,052,462.73
Less: Recognized exemption — short-term lease A ERRE-EHEE 98,369,947.08
Lease liabilities recognized for adopting the New Standard TSR BN E R L LA EEM
on Lease and relevant to the original operating leases HEBE 3,021,682,515.65
Add: Finance lease payable as at 31 December 2018 n: 2018¢12H3 AENRERER 14,397,072,486.90
II. Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 - 2019F1 A1 AMAEAR 17,418,755,002.55
Presented as: SR A
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRNIENERDAR 5,529,206,378.87
Lease liabilities HEAME 11,889,548,623.68

212  WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. MEssihBRMBEMRAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

35.

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

New Standard on Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

The composition of the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets as
at 1 January 2019 is as follows:

Bt 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F 12A31HIEFE
= SZEFHRKLEFBEH(E)

35.

SITBEEE (&)
FHEER(4E)
KEBELAEFAN(E)

2019F 1 A1 B REEENKREEER
BT

RMB
ARHT
Note 1 January 2019
Item EH # 2019551 A1A
Right-of-use assets: CREERE
Right-of-use assets in respect of the operating leases HRERSTHANEETRE
recognized before the date of first adoption REEAREEE 2,678,479,762.75
Assets under financial lease recognized under the [RAEEEA TRANRMERA it
Original Standard on Lease AE Note 8,169,185,573.01
Total: At 10,847,665,335.76

Note: The Group recognized the carrying amounts of the assets
which were previously classified as finance leases under the
Original Standard on Lease and were still under lease as at
1 January 2019 amounting to RMB8,169,185,573.01 as right-of-use
assets.

The Group as lessor

The Group did not make any transitional adjustment for leases in
which the Group is a lessor and such leases were accounted for
according to the New Standard on Lease since the date of first
adoption.

After-sale leaseback transaction

For after-sale leaseback transactions that exist before the date of
first adoption, the Group does not reassess whether the transfer
of assets belongs to sales according to the Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises No. 14 — Revenue on the date of first
adoption.

The Group as vendor and lessee
For after-sale leaseback transaction which was accounted for as
sales and finance lease before the date of first adoption, the Group
accounts for the leaseback in the same way as it accounts for any
other finance lease that exists at the date of first adoption and
continues to amortize any deferred gains or losses that relate to
such leaseback during the lease term.
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35.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

New standard on swap of non-monetary assets

On 9 May 2019, the MOF issued the amended Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No.7 — Swap of Non-monetary
Assets (Cai Kuai [2019] No.8, abbreviated hereinafter as the
“New Standard on Swap of Non-monetary Assets”), which
has become effective since 10 June 2019. Pursuant to the New
Standard on Swap of Non-monetary Assets, revisions have been
made to the definition of swap of non-monetary assets; scope of
the application of the standard has been clarified; requirements
about the points of time of recognition of assets transferred in and
derecognition of assets transferred out, as well as the principle of
accounting treatments in case of inconsistency in the point of time
of the recognition of assets transferred in and the point of time of
the derecognition of assets transferred out have been imposed,;
accounting treatment on the swap of non-monetary assets has
been refined; and requirement about disclosure has been added.

As required by the New Standard on Swap of Non-monetary Assets,
adjustments were made according to the New Standard on Swap
of Non-monetary Assets for the swap of non-monetary assets
occurred between 1 January 2019 and the effective date on 10
June 2019. No retrospective adjustment is required to make for
the swap of non-monetary assets occurred before 1 January 2019.
The adoption of the New Standard on Swap of Non-monetary
Assets does not have any material impacts on the Group's financial
statements for the year.

New standard on debt restructuring

On 16 May 2019, the MOF issued the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No.12 — Debt Restructuring (Cai Kuai [2019]
No.9, abbreviated hereinafter as the “New Standard on Debt
Restructuring”), which has become effective since 17 June 2019.
Pursuant to the New Standard on Debt Restructuring, revision
has been made to the definition of debt restructuring; scope of
application of the standard has been clarified; revision on the
accounting treatment of debt restructuring has been made; and
the requirement on disclosure of debt restructuring has been
simplified.
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B 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F 12 A31HIEFE
= SZEFHRNEF ()

35.

BHBERBE (#)
BTGB EIRER)
20195918 © MBI Mm 7 &1&

ATH R A E 75 — IS
BEXB)(BE[2019]85 © LA TS
BIFFEBHEEERRERN]) - 8
201956 A10 R BHETT « FTIEEHEM
BEXBRERSIT THERHEER
BT E  BRETEINBERSE
BETHERBALEMR FERE S
BEMRKE  UREBRABENER
IRF B B4R A D AR E RERR IS B —
BN ETEERA LT IEER
MEERROGSETEE  BMTHE

HEES -

FEEEMEESREARE - @R
2019F1 A1 HEMTTH2019%6 A
108 2B ERIEEBHEERR -
RIEFTIEE MM & E R ER#ETTH
B WHR2019F1 18 Z A3 AR IE
BEEMEERRETETENHE -
FIEEEMEEHRER R E AR
REEARFHBHRREEEATE

FEEEAER

2019 5R 168 - BIEEBE M T 4818
AR ESFERE N - EKE
4 )(BA€[2019]95%% © LA T RSTE[ (&
TEMHAER]) - 2019671782
ME1T o FEREMAEAER] TEBE
HRTEE AT ERMEREE
BRI T BEREANSEEE BT
B EANFEEZ N -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

35.

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

New standard on debt restructuring (Continued)

As required by the New Standard on Debt Restructuring,
adjustments were made according to the New Standard on
Debt Restructuring for the debt restructuring occurred between
1 January 2019 and the effective date on 17 June 2019. No
retrospective adjustment is required to make for the debt
restructuring occurred before 1 January 2019. The adoption of the
New Standard on Debt Restructuring does not have any material
impacts on the Group's financial statements for the year.

Format of presentation in financial statements

In the preparation of the financial statements for the year
2019, the Group has adopted the Notice on Revised Format of
Consolidated Financial Statements (2019 Revision) issued by the
MOF on 19 September 2019 (Cai Kuai [2019] No. 16, abbreviated
hereinafter as “Cai Kuai Notice No. 16"). Pursuant to Cai Kuai
Notice No. 16, revisions have been made to the presentation of
items in balance sheet and income statement. “Notes and accounts
receivable” is separated into two items namely “notes receivable”
and "accounts receivable”; “notes and accounts payable” is
separated into two items namely “notes payable” and “accounts
payable”; presentation details of “non-current assets due within
one year”, “deferred income”, “other equity instruments”,
“research and development expenses”, “interest income” under
“finance expenses”, “other income"”, “gain on disposal of assets”,
“non-operating income” and “non-operating expenses” have been
clarified or amended, the location in presentation of “impairment
loss of assets” has been adjusted; the presentation details of
“capital contribution from the holders of other equity instruments”
has been clarified; and “net increase in financial assets held-for-
trading” and “cash received from issue of bonds”, etc. in the
original consolidated cash flow statement have been deleted. In
response to the change of the aforementioned presentation items,
comparative data from the previous year have been retrospectively
adjusted.
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ITI. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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(Continued)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
35. Change in accounting policies (Continued)
Format of presentation in financial statements

B ¥ ¥R R Bt 5 (48 )

2019F12A31HILFE

Major impacts of the retrospective adjustment arising from the
changes in accounting policies stated above on the balance sheet as

SHEERE (H)

- BERBHBURK E5tb 5 (18)

B TEER SR 16 2 ()

e BREREFE A BPARY
2018F 12 A3IAMEEBBERTEY

at 31 December 2018 are as follows: &
The Group ALE
RMB
ARHT
Closing balance Adjustment arising Closing balance
before changes in from changes in after changes in
accounting policies accounting policies accounting policies
SHBREEA BHBRER BHBREER
ltem JEH FARRE R FARBE
Notes receivable e 18,056,440,277.52 18,056,440,277.52
Accounts receivable JEWEER 13,155,363,494.20 13,155,363,494.20
Notes receivable and accounts EREERER
receivable B3 38,148,028,169.82 (38,148,028,169.82)
Receivable financing FEYGRIE R E 6,936,224,398.10 6,936,224,398.10
Notes payable 3RES 15,925,016,265.08 15,925,016,265.08
Accounts payable FERTIRRR 30,869,354,934.85 30,869,354,934.85
Notes payable and accounts payable — FETZE 4 I FE{F iR 7% 46,794,371,199.93 (46,794,371,199.93)
Other current liabilities EftnBa R 6,321,615,150.06 (199,815,799.90) 6,121,799,350.16
Deferred income B 3,056,191,818.80 199,815,799.90 3,256,007,618.70

WEICHAI PoweErR Co., LTD.

AR NBRMERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 1231 HIFFE

III. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND - BEESFHBERNRE 5 L5 (E8)

AcCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

35. Change in accounting policies (Continued) 35. BFBERBE (&)
Format of presentation in financial statements BB & S IE = (E)
(Continued)

Pl g ERREE S A B AEY
2018F 12 A31AMEEBBERTEY
2 - ()

Major impacts of the retrospective adjustment arising from the
changes in accounting policies stated above on the balance sheet as
at 31 December 2018 are as follows: (Continued)

The Company PiN/NET|

Closing balance
before changes in
accounting policies

Adjustment arising
from changes in
accounting policies

RMB
AR

Closing balance
after changes in
accounting policies

S BCREEA SHKER SHPREER
ltem JHH FRBE RBEE FAREE
Notes receivable e 21,026,407,121.15 21,026,407,121.15
Accounts receivable FEAER R 1,069,759,568.00 1,069,759,568.00
Notes receivable and accounts EMWEE I B

receivable Bt 22,096,166,689.15 (22,096,166,689.15)
Notes payable ENZiE 11,756,416,668.11 11,756,416,668.11
Accounts payable TERTIRER 9,543,570,906.39 9,543,570,906.39
Notes payable and accounts payable — FERTZEiE I FEIT 1R 3% 21,299,987,574.50 (21,299,987,574.50)
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TAXATION

1. Major categories of taxes and respective tax rates 1.

Value-added tax (VAT)
1R

City maintenance and construction tax

T R AR

Education surcharge

BB

Local education surcharge

HJ32A B M 0

Corporate income tax
EMSH

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31HIEFE

g~ #IA
FEBERBE

Before 1 April 2019, for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, output VAT is
calculated by applying 16%, 10% and 6% to the taxable income for
normal taxpayers, but the Group may pay it after deducting deductible
input VAT for the current period. After 1 April 2019, for the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries, output VAT is calculated by applying 13%, 9% and 6% to
the taxable income for normal taxpayers, but the Group may pay it after
deducting deductible input VAT for the current period.

2019F4 A1 2 AIAKER AT Q8 — RN AREHRIKAL16%
10% ~ 6% HI T KRG HHIED - WIRHNRE B FHE eV EIER IR 8 =
REEHEIRER - 2019F4 18 218 - REBSR AT AR —RATAKLE
THARI13% ~ 9% ~ 6% VT EGTEHIAN - Wik & B FFE
AR ERERTRULETR -

The basis of computation and applicable rate of VAT primarily applicable
to major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set out below:
REERINF AR EZEAHIRET AT ERRESIROT

Basis of computation Applicable country Tax rate
TR BRER wE
Amount of taxable added-value Germany 19%
T IEEEE =k

Value-added tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax laws
and regulations in force in the respective countries.
HBFIEENH R BREEMT AR ERETE

It is levied at 7% or 5% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERBARRBTAT % HE5%T4 -

It is levied at 3% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERGANRBTHA3 % -

It is levied at 2% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERGANRBTRN2%ET# -

It is levied at 15% or 25% on the taxable profit, except that for overseas
subsidiaries, it is levied at the statutory tax rate of the countries or regions
in which the subsidiaries operate.

BN RENREFERSR - MEAEER EG N - BEMERIRE
AR RER15%3025% T4 °

The basis of computation and applicable rate of corporate income tax
primarily applicable to major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set
out below:
REFEBINFEFRAEEZFEANBEMEWATKELERRETIR
LUl

Basis of computation Applicable country Tax rate
BRI BRAEXR B=
Amount of taxable income Germany 30.73%
JE 4Rt PiS 28 =
Amount of taxable income United States of 21.00%
JE 4T PTS 28 America

ESE

Income tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax laws and
regulations in force in the respective countries.
EBRMERH R BB MR EREREE

Certain oversea subsidiaries enjoy tax benefits in pursuant to the local tax
policies.

FLFINFRAIER B HWBR = HWES -

AR NBRMNERAT
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IV. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

2.

Tax benefits

Preferential corporate income tax for the Company
The Company was recognized as a high-tech enterprise on 27
November 2008. The Company continued to be recognized as a
high-tech enterprise in 2017 and is therefore entitled to enjoy a
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2017 to 2019.

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd.,
Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Torch
Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Yangzhou
Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology
Co., Ltd., Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd. and Linde Hydraulics
(China) Co., Ltd. were recognized as high-tech enterprises in 2017
and are therefore entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of
15% from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.

Shaanxi Hande Axle Co. (“Hande Axle"), Hande Axle (Zhuzhou)
Gear Co., Ltd. (“Hande Zhuzhou"), Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co.,
Ltd. and Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. were recognized as
high-tech enterprises in 2018 and are therefore entitled to enjoy a
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2018 to 2020.

As at the approval date of these financial statements, Weichai
Power (Weifang) Reconstruction Co., Ltd. had passed the
review stage of high-tech enterprises and met the criteria for
the recognition as a high-tech enterprise. Notice had been
released that the Company is expected to be entitled to enjoy the
preferential tax rate of 15% for the period from 2019 to 2021.

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12A31HIEFE

00 - iRIA(LE)

2.
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2.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Tax benefits

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirement of Cai Shui [2019] No. 13, Shaanxi
Fast Automotive Components Import and Export Company
Limited, Weichai Digital Technology Co., Ltd., Weifang Weichai
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. (#ih#L S e BB R A R)),
Weichai (Weifang) Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (#4e G4EDT) Bl E
BBR A7), Weifang Internal Combustion Engine Quality Inspection
Center Company Limited (457 REAHEE S5 08 R A F) may
apply the inclusive tax deduction and exemption policies for small
enterprises and is subject to corporate income tax at the reduced
rate of 20% based on its taxable income which is taken as 25% of
its income.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Notice Concerning Issues on
Taxation Policies Relating to the Thorough Implementation of
China’s Strategy of Western Development (Cai Shui Fa [2011] No.
58) (KRR RN T it 78 50 K 5 2% B B R T OBUR R B e @A) )
promulgated by MOF, the State Administration of Taxation and
the General Administration of Customs dated 27 July 2011, the
following companies have implemented preferential tax policy of
15% for the Western Development:

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Hande Axle, Shaanxi Jinding
Casting Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang Motor Co., Ltd,
Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Baoji
Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Fast Eaton (Xi'an) Power Transmission System
Co., Ltd. and Weichai (Chongging) Automotive Co., Ltd.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Announcement concerning the
Cancellation of 22 Matters of Approvals About Non-administrative
Permissions to be Sought for Taxation Issues numbered 58 of 2015
issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 18 August 2015,
for those companies entitled to the preferential tax treatment at
15% under the western development strategy of China, only filing
is required instead of approval. All the aforesaid companies have
passed the examination of 2019 Taxation Filing.

AR NBRMNERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) BTSRRI SE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIEREREEIEBFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2019

RMB
AR

31 December 2018

ltem HE 20195128318 2018512 A31H
Cash at bank BEES 2,828,793.63 81,701,285.69
Bank deposits RITFER 42,237,896,644.63  33,625,686,012.23
Other cash and cash equivalents HiEBES 6,576,896,768.00 4,502,565,260.39
Total BEf 48,817,622,206.26  38,209,952,558.31

As at 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
with title restrictions amounted to RMB6,532,037,281.10 (31
December 2018: RMB3,830,014,282.90), please refer to Note V.70.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of RMB1,596,661,092.24 (31 December 2018:
RMB1,595,051,221.34), which were deposited overseas.

Interest income earned on bank current deposits is calculated by
using current deposit interest rate of the bank. The deposit periods
for fixed deposits vary from 1 day to 5 years depending on the cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest income at respective
deposit interest rates of the bank.

MN2019%F 12 A318H » "R&EEFR
ERIRINEBESAARE
6,532,037,281.107C (2018 % 12 A 31
B : AK%3,830,014,282.907T) * &

R$sFER 700

MR2019%12 8318 » AEEFEK
REBIHEEESTEARE A
1,596,661,092.24 7t (2018 6 12 A 31
H: T4 AR &1,595,051,221.34

JL) °

RITAMF IR R IRITE B3R &
BSHIBWA - EHRFRFRAG1
RESFAE - RAEERIREF KM
o WRRAREAIRTT I SR RIS
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V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. Financial assets held for trading 2. REMEREE
RMB
ARET
Y BT TN 31 December 2018
Item HH pINCESVIZERN=M 2018 12A31H
Classified as financial assets at fair value DEREUAREBEFER
through profit or loss HEE T A S HPEEN
SRIEE
Incl.:  Other debt investments Hep: EMEKTAKRE 37,576,924.00 122,072,598.80
Warrants and cash compensation RARIERE IR e 1E - 189,752,130.38
Forward foreign exchange contracts REINES L 73,270,312.50 69,754,649.70
Cross currency swap and interest RX BT
rate swap instruments FEFEHTA - 85,236,433.51
Structured deposits HEBIETER 4,339,954,315.07  3,648,383,787.84
Other derivative financial assets HiTA e mEE 257,911.50 -
Total At 4,451,059,463.07 4,115,199,600.23
3. NOTES RECEIVABLE 3. REWERE
Classification of notes receivable FEWG Z 1% 7 2
RMB
AR
3 W YT TP N I 31 December 2018
Iltem IHH 2019212 A31H 2018412 A31H
Bank acceptance bills HRITHHERE 15,920,141,988.31 18,056,440,277.52
Notes receivable pledged by the Group as at year FRAEFE EHFRENEZE
end RMB
ARET
Y BT TN 31 December 2018
Item EH 2019912 A31H 2018412 A31H
Bank acceptance bills RITERHEE 12,147,538,825.61 11,313,090,186.43

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTES 70 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
3. NOTES RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes receivable endorsed or discounted as at year
end and not yet expired as at the balance sheet

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHRRERIREFEGE)

3.

e RiE (&)
FRAEFEHEERHATEE
EREX A 5K FH R ENE S

date
RMB
AE®T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
2019512A31H 201812 /431H

Derecognized  Not derecognized Derecognized ~ Not derecognized

IR KR ERERD IR REL LR

Bank acceptance bills FITHHEZ 3,658,307,945.85 - 113,844,542 .82 51,739,351.00

Commercial acceptance bills BEALER - - - 500,000.00

Total At 3,658,307,945.85 - 113,844,542.82 52,239,351.00

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not transferred any notes
into accounts receivable due to issuers’ failure in performance (31
December 2018: Nil).

The Group considered that the credit rating of the bank acceptance
bills was relatively high and there was no significant credit risk.
Therefore, no provision for losses was made.

R2019F12A31H » AEBERTE
ANEHBAOMEZEE RREWERRN
=42 (20185F12 A31H - &)

AEERRAFBHNRITELERN
ARRITERFRARS  TFEEX
MERERE - B REHERAER -
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V.

224

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.

Accounts receivable

The Group trades with its customers primarily on credit terms,
and generally requires prepayments or cash on delivery for new
customers. Credit period for credit customers is generally one to
twelve months. Accounts receivable is non-interest bearing.

An aging analysis based on invoice dates is presented as follows:

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

4. FEUWARR

AEEREFHNE S RFAEHAR
HRE B—REFHFELENNHL
RBEINRANET  BRETPH
ERBBRE/ZE12EA o BUERRIL

-

RIEFARAH - RAREKRE ¢

31 December 2019

RMB
AR

31 December 2018

Age IR 2019%F12831H 2018%12A31H
Within 3 months 3{E B IAR 10,974,722,374.58 10,103,238,883.37
3 to 6 months 31E A =6fE A 1,550,787,816.88  1,220,352,210.75
6 months to 1 year 6EAZE1F 1,834,948,278.99 1,506,786,694.46
1 to 2 years 1FZE2F 504,740,712.30 369,976,898.67
2 to 3 years 2EE34E 115,039,514.56 298,548,409.40
Over 3 years 3FLAE 965,456,525.01  1,081,174,541.83
Total at original amount REEE 15,945,695,222.32 14,580,077,638.48

Less: Provision for credit loss in respect of

accounts receivable

B MRS RRRER

1,660,432,925.23

1,424,714,144.28

Total at net amount

14,285,262,297.09

13,155,363,494.20

Disclosure by category of provision for credit losses:

RIERBAFHRITEN BRE

RMB
AR T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
19125318 2018F128318
Gross carrying Proportion ~ Provisionfor  Percentage  IRGNSETIN Proportion ~ Provision for Percentage
amount (%) credit losses (%) amount (%) credit losses (%)
ftem %R RERE i)  EREXER  FHREH%) FERE th)  GREXEE  HRA%
ltems assessed for expected  EEFHEEBEREL
credit losses individually 2,728,834,722.55 1741 1,215,508,645.54 4454 3,101,867,667.31 2127 959,850,396.54 309
ltems assessed for expected  REREREEES
crecit losses by group FeRBERRL
with distinctive credit risk
characteristics 13,216,860,499.77 8289  444,924,279.69 337 11478,209971.17 7873 464,863,747.74 4,05
Total At 15,945,695,222.32 100.00 1,660,432,925.23 1041 14580,077,638.48 100.00 1,424,714144.28 97
WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. H#LshHiRNDBERAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBERERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4.

As at 31 December 2019, accounts receivable assessed for

FEURBRFR (48)
F2019F 12 A31H » REBEBET(E
TEERE I8 AR EURBR FIFR AT ¢

expected credit losses individually are presented as follows:

Gross carrying

Provision for

RMB
ARETT

amount credit loss Percentage Reasons

Customer Eigdaat]]
®F AREIERER ERBEXER (%) HEEH
Customer 1 861,496,175.25 242,433,900.00 28.14 Bad repayment
BP1 ability

EEgENE
Customer 2 111,878,808.83 111,878,808.83 100.00 Long credit age
®F2 RER#ER
Customer 3 75,871,191.17 75,871,191.17 100.00 Long credit age
=3 RR#ER
Customer 4 56,927,140.00 56,927,140.00 100.00 Long credit age
P4 RARER
Customer 5 49,159,575.31 49,159,575.31 100.00 Bad repayment
=5 ability

HEELE
Customer 6 45,031,302.15 44,144,627.12 98.03 Long credit age
%P6 RERER
Customer 7 40,516,068.59 38,490,265.16 95.00 Bad repayment
=7 ability

HEELE
Customer 8 37,449,568.86 35,577,090.42 95.00 Liquidation
=8 NEFEES
Customer 9 33,808,426.00 33,808,426.00 100.00 Long credit age
EP9 RARER
Customer 10 32,989,886.43 32,989,886.43 100.00 Assets have been
=F10 preserved

HEEEH
Others 1,383,706,579.96 494,227,735.10 - Long credit age,
EAfth etc.

RERS
Total 2,728,834,722.55 1,215,508,645.54 - -

At




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTeES 70 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4.

As at 31 December 2019 the Group’s accounts receivable for
which credit losses are provided for using aging analysis are

presented as follows:

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 H31 HIFFZ

P BRR (&)

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

MA2019F12 8318 » REBKAERE
DT ERT IR E A B R ERBN EUIRK

BEREAT

31 December 2019
2019%12H31H

RMB
AR

Carrying amount Expected credit

estimated to be Expected credit loss during the

G EEDE loss rate (%) entire subsistence

fhstBEEY RAER BEFED

Age B MR ERER BKRE(%) RAEREBX
Within 1 year 1FAR 3,935,347,856.55 3.08 121,024,489.19
110 2 years 1226 222,271,057.77 18.22 40,502,562.64
2 1o 3 years 25835 53,577,948.07 33.13 17,752,321.11
3104 years 3F4F 27,065,621.62 51.90 14,046,741.16
410 5 years AB5F 23,397,461.68 83.05 19,431,413.41
Over 5 years SEME 200,891,288.72 100.00 200,891,288.72
Total BEt 4,462,551,234.41 9.27 413,648,816.23

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s accounts receivable for
which credit losses are provided for using overdue ages as credit

risk characteristics are presented as follows:

Carrying amount
estimated to be
in default

CHE XD

Overdue age ki HRRE AR

Not yet overdue or overdue for less than i 8k s Ei/\i 90k

H2019F12A318 » REEFHFRH
BREREAREZARBRSEEHREREX

iR R E

31 December 2019
2019%12H31H

Expected credit
loss rate (%)
RAER
BRE(%)

SR

RMB
AR

Expected credit
loss during the
entire subsistence
BEFED
BHERABX

90 days 8,039,295,759.58 0.16 12,879,358.02
Overdue for more than 90 days but less #EIA90K A

than 180 days INA180K 202,437,909.95 2.58 5,229,588.11
Overdue for more than 180 days BHEARR 180K 174,172,994.22 5.54 9,654,624.20
Total At 8,415,906,663.75 0.33 27,763,570.33

226  WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. 4 NBRMNERAS



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B SR RMEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 201912 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBERERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. FEWERF(E)
As at 31 December 2019, provisions for credit losses for the M2019F12 4318 - AEBEEA
Group's accounts receivable with good credit history are presented BEMNEKRIEESTIRIEAEBRE

as follows: HRIERAT
RMB
ARBT

31 December 2019

20194 12A31H

Carrying amount Expected credit

estimated to be Expected credit loss during the

in default loss rate (%) entire subsistence

CHEEI) BHER BEFH

Item HE M AR AR BERE(%) HERERRX

Accounts receivable with good credit  ERREERELH

history TEUGRIBAES 338,402,601.61 1.04 3,511,893.13
As at 31 December 2019, the top five balances in R2019F12A31H * BRERIRAEH
respect of accounts receivable had a sum of closing FEWEBE RN FEREEHBREATAA
balance of RMB2,435,489,389.61 (31 December 2018: ES #2,435,489,389.61 7T, (2018 FF 12
RMB1,179,592,972.06), accounting for 15.27% (31 December A31H : AR®1,179,592,972.06
2018: 8.09%) of the total of closing balance of accounts o) R EWERFEREASKRES
receivable. The closing balance in respect of credit losses provided T EM LB A15.27% (2018 F 12 A
for the top five amounted to RMB258,392,423.15 (31 December 318 : 8.09%) * Al L% H8 & 5T 2
2018: RMB148,165,056.20). BERBERERFRBERARK

258,392,423.15 7T (2018 4 12 A 31
H : AR#148,165,056.207T) °
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B 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F12A31HILFE

V. NoTEsS To KEY ITEMS oF CoNsOLIDATED TH - SHUFHREZEIZIREFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. FEWERI(E)
Movements in provision for credit losses: ERBREREZZHER
RMB
AR
Expected credit Expected credit
loss during the loss during the
entire subsistence entire subsistence
(without impairment (with impairment
of credit) of credit) Total
BEFES BEFES
BHEREX BEEREX
Provision for credit losses FREXER (REEERARE) (BREERARE) &t
Balance as at 31 December 2018 20181231 AARE 948,755,206.62 475,958,937.66 1,424,714,144.28
Balance as at 31 December 2018 2018128318
in the current year BEBHEAF
— Transferred to receivables with —BABEEERRNE
impairment of credit (2,277,960.89) 2,277,960.89 -
— Reversal of receivables without — BRI REEERARE
impairment of credit - - -
Provision for the year REEHE 180,579,795.04 216,702,527.04 397,282,322.08
Reversal during the year REHMD (122,343,102.77) (3,899,308.76) (126,242,411.53)
Written-off or transferred out during A5 I 8
the year - (36,222,854.98) (36,222,854.98)
Adjustment for exchange differences  [& 3 Z 5% 901,725.38 - 901,725.38
Balance as at 31 December 2019 20191231 AHRE 1,005,615,663.38 654,817,261.85 1,660,432,925.23

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the restricted
accounts receivable of the Group amounted to RMB25,442,865.48
(31 December 2018: Nil), please refer to Note V.70.

5. Receivable financing

Classification of receivable financing

31 December 2019

H20196F12A31H » REBFBEES
IR G A EW TR ARE R AR
25,442,865.487C(2018F 12 A318 -
M) FERMIEER - 70

Rl
FEW BRI S 28

RMB
AR

31 December 2018

Item HAE 2019%F12H31H 2018%12A31H
Bank acceptance bills at fair value AR BEFEMRITERLES 10,388,865,839.45 6,846,621,822.13
Commercial acceptance bills at fair value AR EBETENEERLES 149,044,144.26 89,602,575.97
Total &5t 10,537,909,983.71 6,936,224,398.10

228
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B SR RMEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBERERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. Receivable financing (Continued) 5. BWFERE(E)
Receivable financing pledged by the Group as at FRAEEE B EW = E
year end =
RMB
ARBT

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
ltem BH 2019F12831H 2018%12A31H

Bank acceptance bills at fair value AR BESEMEITRILESZ  4,084,326,054.81 685,453,059.89
Commercial acceptance bills at fair value LAARBETENEEANEZ  107,205,123.12 34,142,935.00
Total &5 4,191,531,177.93 719,595,994.89
Receivable financing endorsed or discounted as at year end and FRAEBEEELUBETEEES
not yet expired as at the balance sheet date &5 B AR B e AR E
RMB
AR
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
20195124318 2018F12A31H
Derecognized Not derecognized Derecognized ~ Not derecognized
KILER R TR BRIETER R IR
Bank acceptance bills MRS BETER
at fair value PITRAES 19,777,138,744.81 - 10,260,062,684.13 -
Commercial acceptance bills AR EEEH
at fair value BRAHESR 21,357,250.00 - - -
Total A3t 19,798,495,994.81 - 10,260,062,684.13 -

 ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3§ 229



ES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V.

230

NoTES To KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
6. Prepayments

An aging analysis of prepayments is presented as follows:

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

BNFE
B RARORE AT

RMB
AE%T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
20195124318 20185124318

Amount Proportion% Amount Proportion%
Age e £8 H A% fac LE11%
Within 1 year 1 AR 903,965,694.27 90.69  1,081,507,314.55 97.50
1102 years 1226 80,508,116.62 8.08 11,254,953.38 1.01
2t0 3 years 2535 5,471,376.03 0.55 10,001,118.20 0.91
Over 3 years 3FLAE 6,764,995.28 0.68 6,463,927.04 0.58
Total At 996,710,182.20 100.00  1,109,227,313.17 100.00

Description of the ages of prepayments: Prepayments with ages
over 1 year represent primarily those outstanding amounts prepaid
to suppliers for raw materials.

As at 31 December 2019, there was no significant prepayments
with an age of more than one year (31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the closing balances of the top 5
prepayments amounted in aggregate to RMB191,788,392.61
(31 December 2018: RMB204,295,626.77), representing 19.24%
(31 December 2018: 18.42%) of the total closing balances of all
prepayments at end.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhBRMNDBERLD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B SR RMEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBERERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. Other receivables 7. HERKRRR
Presented by categories TS T
RMB
AR

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Itemn 15H 2019%12A31H 2018512 A31H
Interest receivable FEUF S 37,912,073.30 23,747,780.97
Dividend receivable JE U AR R 5,009,506.00 1,608,696.50
Other receivables = E 638,679,606.75 1,061,792,046.56
Total At 681,601,186.05 1,087,148,524.03
Interest receivable FEWFIE
RMB
AR¥T

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

[tem IEH 2019%12831H 2018%F12A31H
Fixed deposit TEHTF 37,912,073.30 23,747,780.97
Other receivables are disclosed by ages as follows: HA e IR BE RS B 5R
RMB
ARBT
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Age R 2019412 A31H 20184 12A31H
Within 1 year 1R 579,659,764.25 999,955,220.70
1 to 2 years 18224 44,823,004.37 36,423,129.01
2 to 3 years 2E3F 18,762,419.94 6,965,029.24
Over 3 years 3FLE 37,729,415.71 65,772,478.95
Total at original amount REAF 680,974,604.27 1,109,115,857.90
Less: Provision for credit loss in respect of other  J, : A fEUFE 1B K2
receivables 42,294,997.52 47,323,811.34
Total at net amount FEAF 638,679,606.75 1,061,792,046.56
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F12H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
7. Other receivables (Continued) 7.

Classification of gross carrying amount of other

HAp B ()
A fER IR E AR R E

receivables by nature

T EEIER

31 December 2019

RMB
AR

31 December 2018

Age 33 20195128310 2018412 A31H
Reserve fund ER% 22,258,336.50 46,106,462.29
Corporate lending and payment on behalf — METERRAMR 139,797,158.66 53,772,210.31
Deposit e 134,138,181.85 33,007,133.36
Others Hitb 384,780,927.26 976,230,051.94
Total At 680,974,604.27 1,109,115,857.90

Change in the provision for credit losses in respect of other

receivables based on 12-month expected credit losses and lifetime

H Iz iR 1218 A TR EA(E E L
REEFERERERBRARENE

expected credit losses is as follows: FREBREBEHEEHNT
RMB
AR®IT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 3

Financial

Expected Lifetime Lifetime assets with

credit loss expected expected incurred

for the next credit loss credit loss credit loss

12months  (individually) (by group) (lifetime)

EZRR E-RR BB

F-K& FAer 1 BEFES BRERR

AR2ER  BAGREX BHEEREX  AELREE

Item HH BHEREX (E5BFE) (Badfy)  (BEFED
Balance as at 31 December 2018 20181283104 6,860,555.79 - - 40,463,255.55 47,323811.34

Balance as at 31 December 2018 I8E12 A3 BRBERE
in the current year

- Transferred to Stage 2 -BAECRER - 1,628,480.00 - (1,628,480.00) -
- Transferred to Stage 3 -ENE=RR - - - - -
Provided for the year REHE 1,892,361.75 - - - 189236175
Reversed during the year REEMD (4,408,886.76)  (1,628,480.00) - - (6,037,366.76)
Written off or transferred out during the year TR HsER - - - - -
Adjustment for exchange difference EHEGAE (1,942,392.01) - - 1,058583.20  (883,808.81)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 2019128310 %5 2,401,638.77 - - 39,893,358.75  42,294,997.52

WEICHAI PoWwER Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B SR RMEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 201912 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBERERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. Other receivables (Continued) 7. HMERKRF
Classification of gross carrying amount of other BB R E A EFZ AR E
receivables by nature (Continued) THEER ()
As at 31 December 2019, the top 5 other receivables are presented MH2019F 128318 - EbERF &5
as follows: AIABIT :
RMB
ARBT

Percentage of

total other Closing balance
receivables of provision
Closing balance (%) Nature for credit losses
fEEAts
Customers EETEH EREBRERS
®F EE5(%) FRERHE
First 79,428,926.50 11.66 Deposit Within 1 year -
F—% RE 1F R
Second 41,992,681.50 6.17 Deposit Within 1 year -
FH Eiiky 1B
Third 24,962,707.00 3.67 Corporate Within 1 year -
F=H lending 15 8R
EEER
Fourth 21,891,215.50 3.21 Corporate Within 1 year -
Epik lending 1ELR
EEER
Fifth 21,539,518.00 3.16 Corporate Within 1 year -
FRE lending 1E R
EEEN
Total 189,815,048.50 27.87 -
att
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V.

234

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8.

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 H31 HIFFZ

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

Inventories 8. B’H
Classification of inventories ZESE
RMB
AR¥T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
2019%12A31H 2018128318
Gross Provision Gross Provision
carrying for decline Carrying carying for decline Carrying
amount in value amount amount in value amount
Item 8 i HEER KHEE HERE FEEE HEER
Raw materials [t 737552375707 (424,519817.26)  6,951,003939.91  6,053,71237534  (302,209,688.44)  5,751,502,686.90
Finished goods Bl 15,126,444,367.64  (593,161,870.78) 14,533,282,496.86  12,636,147,930.14  (541,620,198.82) 12,094,527,731.32
OEM materials ZHMIHH 302,830,517.00 (3,272,506.74)  299,558,010.26 298,473,716.91 (1,568,547.80) 296,905,169.11
Self made semi-finished goods ~ ER¥RAREER 2,201,616,542.88 (86,019,583.37)  2,115,596,959.51  1,955,228,080.25 (82,367,019.00)  1,872,861,061.25
and work in progress
Second-hand vehicles —F8 942,361,803.32  (124,102,399.83)  818,259,403.49 751,506,041.52 (93,015,556.63) 658,490,484.89
Total At 25,948,776,988.01  (1,231,076,177.98) 24,717,700,810.03  21,695,068,144.16  (1,020,781,010.69) 20,674,287,133.47
Provision for decline in value of inventories TFEPEE
RMB
AR T
Decrease during the year Adjustment of
Charge KERD exchange
31December 2018 during the year Reversal Write-off differences 31 December 2019
ftem I 2018%128318 REGHR Ep B EXZEARE 20198128318
Raw materials BAE 302,209,688.44 173,923,800.70 (46,209,248.98) (4,985,622.46) (418,800.44)  424,519,817.26
Finished goods Efm 541,620,198.82 41596030505  (343,575448.56)  (20,695,900.85) (147,283.68)  593,161,870.78
OEM materials RENIHH 1,568,547.80 1,751,859.87 - (7,248.28) (40,652.65) 3,212,506.74
Self made semifinished goods ~~ EEEKAREER
and work in progress 82,367,019.00 22,631,872.98 (13,346,508.03) (5,612,113.87) (20,686.71) 86,019,583.37
Second-hand vehicles -F8 93,015,556.63 46,462,868.38 (15,351,352.68) - (24,672.50) 124,102,399.83
Total At 1,020,781,01069  660,730,706.98  (418,482,558.25)  (31,300,885.46) (652,095.98)  1,231,076,177.98
WEICHATI POWER Co., LTD. s NBRMNBERLAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP IRBMISE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 70 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED - ESHEEHRERETZIEBFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
9. Contract assets 9. ECEEE
RMB
ARET

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Item HR 2019F12A31A 20184124318
Supply chain solution services (Note) e SR AR R RIS (7F) 1,122,000,995.50 900,438,438.50
Others Hit 52,035,599.00 35,454,101.40
Total B% 1,174,036,594.50 935,892,539.90

Note: the amount in respect of supply chain solution services was the net it EAHFESRET AT ARSI R 2 B AR

amount of receivable from customers after offsetting contract assets and
contract liabilities under the same contract under the supply chain solution
services of the Group. The Group recognized the work performed as a
contract asset, and reclassified the contract asset recognized at the point

LB R RIRB R — AR T
BRIEEREFR ERHRERES
HFER o AEBFEAEHNTTHI T IEHER
BoREREE  HAREPHEGH

of time when it settled the amount with the customer into receivables. HIBF B HER A R B EE SR EW

10. Non-current assets due within one year 10. —FRIPVIFRBEE
RMB
AR

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

ltem BA 2019 12831H 2018%12A31H
Finance lease receivables BMETEEKR Note
V.12
BisEH
12 2,658,043,734.50 2,127,858,173.40
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31HIEFE

V. NoTES To KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED +H - SHUBREZEZREFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
11. Other current assets 1. BRBEE
RMB
ARET
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item 1HH 2019%12A31H 2018%12A31H
Input tax credit to be deducted R IR 1,221,958,350.16  1,021,920,183.00
Prepaid expenses FEER 430,654,872.66 386,732,428.41
Prepaid corporate income tax TERBEEH 237,539,267.85 263,223,777.08
Others Hib 30,606,841.91 20,467,229.96
Total A3t 1,920,759,332.58 1,692,343,618.45
12. Long-term receivables 12. REIFEWRK
RMB
AR
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
0195128318 20185128318
Gross Provision Gross Provision
carrying for decline Carrying arying for decline Canying
amount in value amount amount in value amount
fem B8 i RERE FAEEE e BEEE SHEE
Finance lease receivables BEREREYE 12,175,228,180.50 - 12,175,228,180.50  9,456,985,259.80 - 9,456,985,259.80
Ind. Finance income not yet realized  EPAERBE N (1,069,566,806.00) (1,069,566,806.00)  (845,829,077.80) - (845,829,077.80)
Sub-total 1Nt 11,105,661,374.50 - 11,105,661,37450  8,611,156,182.00 - 8,611,156,182.00
Less: Finance lease receivables  J§: HBA—%FR 2,658,043,734.50 - 2,658,043,734.50  2,127,858,173.40 - 212785817340
dlassified a due within gl ey
one year TG
Total At 8,447,617,640.00 - 8,447,617,640.00  6,483,298,008.60 - 6,483,298,008.60
The long-term receivables amounting to RMB5,510,709,050.00 REAEY R+ AR EES,510,709,050.00
was from lease receivables from the sale and leaseback TR BN E R BEHEEST AR
subleases business while lease receivables amounting to HERWR - AR®3,298,141,000.00
RMB3,298,141,000.00 was disposed of and used for financing. For LTSRN N ERANRE - HE
details of corresponding liabilities, please refer to Note V.39 and HMaEFERM R « 39F143 ¢
43,
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

V.

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Long-term equity investments

13.

Investee entity

(Gains and losses
on investment
under equity
method
BEET
RERH

31 December Increase Decrease
2018

0185128318

in investment

HORR

in investment
Bn%E

Other

comprehensive

income

Rhseks

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31 HIFFE

h - SHIBHREREZIABFRE(E)

13. REIRERE

Change during the year
ps3 § |

Provision for

Other equity
changes

4 5 L

impairment

HERERR

RMB
ARET

Among which,
closing provision
for impairment
B
FRRERE

31 December
019
0195128318

Declaration of
cash dividend
SERSRA

Exchange
differences
EiXZR

Joint ventures
Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission
Co, Ltd. (Note 1) 107,070,213.92 - - (1,301,068.13) - - - 99,769,145.79 -
KAMAZ Weichai LLC
(Note 2) - 3304328937 - - - - - 33,043,289.37 -
Assocates BELE
Shanchong Finance Leasing Co, Ltd. ~ WEREEEERLT 48298771509 - - WTI681103 - - (662400000 501,140,526.12 -
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance LR E T£METS
Co, Ltd BRAR 971,744,729.20 - - 13942250559 - - (37,500,000.00) 1,073,667,234.79 -
Ballard Power Systems Inc BHESNZGERAT 1135935824 - - (42,018815.99) - - - - (5553,776.40) 1,076,020,989.85 -
Other associates AfpiEnE 177819507268 210,158,713.02  (66,449,251.99) 12935235797 (2,446,556.70) 606,557.24 (600000000 (90,604,011.20)  (25,309,533.93) 1,927,503.347.09  (50,844,091.33)
Total it 486359131313 24320000239 (66,449,251.99)  244,231,790.47 (2,446,556.70) 606,557.24 (6000000000 (134728,011.20)  (30,863310.33) 471114453301  (50,844,091.33)
Note 1: Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an FC”) is held as to 1 ANEEEEF LS EE AR N E]
51% by the Group, and as to 4% and 45% by Shaanxi Fast Gear (AT L E])51%0# - 5
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (“Fast Gear Transmission”) and SN R AP P % 4 (R B & [F]
Caterpillar (China) Investment Co., Ltd (“Caterpillar”) respectively. The BREERNG (U FEE EL1EEE )
board of directors of Xi‘an FC comprises seven directors, three of whom MFERe(FE)REERAG(LUT
being nominated by the Group, one being nominated by Fast Gear B FERE])  BRESFIA4%
Transmission and three being nominated by Caterpillar. According 45% - L EEEEeh S EHH
to the articles of association of Xi’an FC, important board resolutions B BB =FZHAREFEF  —Zd%
require unanimous approval, and thus Xi‘an FC is a joint venture of the FHHEBZF BN =L FEREE
Group. F - REALEFLAERNTE  BZ
BEEORAFTEEFOTRAIEEA
FUt AL EFER A EEE S -
Note 2: In September 2019, the Company entered into a joint agreement 20 R201991 + AR EIHKAMAZ Publicly

with KAMAZ Publicly Traded Company ("KAMAZ") to jointly invest
and establish KAMAZ Weichai LLC ("KAMAZ Weichai”), each of the
parties held 50% of equity interest in KAMAZ Weichai. The board of
directors of KAMAZ Weichai comprises four directors, two of whom
being appointed by the Company and the other two being appointed
by KAMAZ. According to the articles of association of KAMAZ Weichai,
important board resolutions require unanimous approval, and thus
KAMAZ Weichai is a joint venture of the Group.
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ANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTES 170 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
14. Investment in other equity instruments

A FS IR RBAEE(58)
2019F12A31HILFE

h - SHEIBHRRERIREEEGE)

14, HittiERTERE

31 December 2019
20194128318

RMB
AR

31 December 2018

Investee entity WA BN 20184124318
XCMG Construction Machinery BIEBEIE

Co., Ltd. AR BPR AR 1,745,234,324.70  1,006,304,269.98
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. EEETERNDBER AR 167,200,000.00 145,600,000.00
Others Hih 190,695,350.48 163,729,402.98
Total &5 2,103,129,675.18 1,315,633,672.96

238 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B S IR TP (48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 1231 HIFFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEZBIEEFEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Investment in other equity instruments (Continued) 14, HibEZTAKRE (&)
Investment in other equity instruments HittfEm TAREHIEL

RMB
AR®T

Reason for

Amounts Reason for transfer

Fair value transferred designation from other

Dividend changes from other atfairvalue  comprehensive

income  accrued to other  comprehensive through other income to

recognized comprehensive incometo  comprehensive  retained earnings

during the year income  retained eamings income  during the year

BEANAL

Zii AL HEmeks  BEEEH REM A
RERRN Fakan  EABER&EY  EEHAER  FalGEA
Investee entity BRASBN BARA  DREEED 28 HekatRR  BEkasRR
XCMG Construction Machinery BIEETIRER - 545,694,05156 - Investment
Co, Lid. RABRAR in equity
investments
as strategic
investment
BHETARE
REERE
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. LARRAERR (26,800,000.00) - Investment
BRAR in equity
investments
as strategic
investment
BHEIARE
REBRE
Others Hit - (6,662,153.93) - Investment
in equity
investments
as strategic
investment
BHIARE
REMRE

Total At

512,231,897.63 -




INANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTES 170 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED

B ¥ ¥R R Bt 5 (48 )

2019F12A31HILFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. Other non-current financial assets

Item

BEH

h - SHIBHRREDZIREFEGE)

15. HftFRBErEE
RMB
AR#T

R B LTLT T I 31 December 2018
2019512 A31H 2018512 A318

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the current period
Other debt investments
Cross currency swap and interest rate

NARBEFEAEES
AAERBENEREE
HibEBTAKRE
TR EREE I R &

216,168,914.50 184,715,621.34

swap contracts BREH 371,589,714.58 8,233,791.06
Contingent consideration EAMSEHE

from business combination 48,744,000.00 -

Total & 636,502,629.08 192,949,412.40

240 WeicHAI Power Co., LTD. L@ NBRMNERLAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V.

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16.

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12A31HIEFE

h - SHUIBHRREDZIREEEGE)

Investment property 16. REMEME
(1) Subsequent measurement under the cost model: (1) FHARAENXETERENS
RMB
ARBT
Houses and
Item buildings Land use rights Total
BHH EHH EEEEY T ERRE &5t
I Gross carrying amount — RERE
31 December 2018 201812 A31H 799,546,669.04 66,359,171.84 865,905,840.88
Increase during the year AREIE N 195,453.54 - 195,453.54
Decrease during the year IR D (24,685,965.97) - (24,685,965.97)
31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 775,056,156.61 66,359,171.84 841,415,328.45
Il. Accumulated depreciation = + EETHTE A
and amortization
31 December 2018 201812 A31H 248,200,161.36 10,798,547.27 258,998,708.63
Provision for the year REFFTE 34,845,093.09 1,579,422.71 36,424,515.80
Decrease during the year IR D (4,753,853.78) (4,753,853.78)

3
. A

1 December 2019
ccumulated impairment =

provision

3

1 December 2018

Provision for the year

3
V. C
3
3

1 December 2019
arrying amount q
1 December 2019
1 December 2018

2019512 A31H

- REDREZER

2018512 A31H
REFTE
2019512 A31H

- BRMEEE

201912 H31H
2018512 A431H

278,291,400.67

13,447,824.67

13,447,824.67

483,316,931.27
537,898,683.01

12,377,969.98

53,981,201.86
55,560,624.57

290,669,370.65

13,447,824.67

13,447,824.67

537,298,133.13
593,459,307.58

Investment properties not obtained title certificates:

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any
investment properties not obtained title certificates
(31 December 2018: RMB19,788,768.27).

2) ANZEEZFENREUERHE
(EDE
M201956E12 8310 » AEEE
AESEHEFNEEEREH
E (2018128318 : AR
19,788,768.277%) °




For the year ended 31 December 2019

V.

242

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED

INANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F12A31HILFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Fixed Assets
Presented by categories

17. BEEE
B IR

31 December 2019

1 January 2019

h - SHEIBHRRERIREEEGE)

RMB
ARET

31 December 2018

Item EH 2019%F12A31H 2019F1/81H 2018%F12A31H
Fixed Assets EEEE 26,315,978,220.47  21,283,853,424.43  29,453,038,997.44
Disposal of fixed assets ElEEEBIE 2,689,504.47 1,033,250.29 1,033,250.29
Total = 26,318,667,724.94  21,284,886,674.72  29,454,072,247.73
Fixed assets ElEE& =&
RMB
AE%T
Forklfttrucks Forkiit trucks
Houses, and equipment and equipment
buldings and Machinery and Electronic leased out leased out
[and use rights equipment equipment Vehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others Total
RERENR BHATER BEAOTER
ftem %R THiEE BERE ITRE Bk FE(RH) H(RE) it A
I, Gross caying amount - BARE
31 Decerber 2018 WI8ENEIE 1317405471866 1751393400694 1,275,62955747 418,859,869.70 554898570194  8878361,99%.14  2473349,269.16  49,283,175,140.01
Efect of changes in standards ERREYE 44,195,993.60) (70,586,463.50) - - (3630,77469048)  (5,766,665636.45)  (350,107,289.50)  (9,862330,073.53)
1 January 2019 01951518 1312985872506 1744334756344 127562955741 418.859,869.70 191821101146 3,111696,359.69  2,123,241,979.66  39,420,845,066.48
Increase during the year TEENEE
Addition BE 186,267,850.39 479,019,869.40 177313839.10 4091456228 482079091180 2,557,339,379.03 531,612,001.41 8793258 41341
Transfer from construction-in progress EETREL 52858334443 1,234763879.93 25141443069 24,731,263.08 - - 103,761,629.85  2,143,260,547.98
Increase in business combination EAREN - 18340,260.78 196442633 151345742 - - 893,584.16 0.71,72889
Internal reclassification hBELE (9665478.18)  283,198.413.38 291,803,324.65 (12,086,020.12) - - (553250239.73) -
Other transfer EfEA 52,849,450.51 2,551,27890 - - 77,295,456.00 36,043,392.00 7,673,904.00 176,413 481.41
Decrease during the year KER)SE
Disposals o retirements RELHE (68,201,968.14)  (292,179,964.70) (27,224,761.48) (22,909,75057)  (1,688,236,353.97)  (1,508,178,616.73) (76,00592039)  (3,682,937,335.98)
Adjustment for exchange differences EXEERE 33,159,135 14,660,101.48 257,64.99 26758471 191,609,295.09 41,552,952.88 19,760,580.94 301,267,051.44
31 Decernber 2019 WI9ENEIE 1385285119542 1918370140261 1,971,158,081.75 45129696650 531967032038 423845346687  2,157,687,519.90  47,174,818953.43
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) IS ERRBAEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 1231 HIFFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEZBIEEFEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Fixed Assets (Continued) 17. BE&EE (&)
Fixed assets (Continued) EEEERT (&)
Forklfttrucks Forkiift trucks
Houses, and equipment and equipment
buldings and Machinery and Electronic leased out leased out
[and use rights equipment equipment Vehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others Total
RERENR BiEHTER BENOTER
fiem R 1HAEE EERE ITRE itk FE(RE) Fh(EH) it Aif
Il Accumulated depreciation ZEithE
31 Decernber 2018 018512318 348545301559 11,105,697,584.69  1,078,430904.94 333,087,306.08 61133113784 175444038377 1,027,176,876.98  19,395,617,209.89
Effect of changes in standards Ellgeye (25,087,878.70) (38,249,276.08) - - (400,002,043.98)  (1,131,555,876.55) (98,249,425.23)  (1,693,144,500.52)
1 January 2019 01951518 3460365,136.89  11,067448308.63  1,078,430904.94 333,087,306.08 211,329,093.86 622,884,507.22 92892745175 17,702472,709.37
Increase during the year TEENSE
Provision hi3 510,145,660.27 148779542217 192,048,702.00 36,213,041.63 161,731,459.85 483,287,323.98 472338,143.17  3,343,559,753.07
Other transfer EpEN 3964,847.08 - - - - - - 3964,847.08
Internal reclassiication hBENE - 22198421728 281,778966.90 (11,485,140.49) - - (49227804369) -
Decrease during the year TER)EE
Disposals o retirements RESHE (36,83847447)  (203931,966.28) (16,298,367.44) (2047346843)  (374,283,153.97) (97,154,00873) (63737,523.14)  (812,716962.46)
Adjustrent for exchange differences EpzEaE 111382798 14823,071.25 18131471 159,353.75 60,761,587.86 15,587,483.74 14,735,210.78 1279%61,8%.07
31 Decernber 2019 0195128318 3959350997.75  12,588,119,059.05  1,536,141,521.11 337,501,002.54 59,538987.60  1,024,605,306.21 859,985,238.87  20,365,242,203.13
Il Provision for impairment = EEE
31 Decerber 2018 and WI8E12A3ER
1 January 2019 01951718 203,229.27030 194,014911.64 7,124815.25 5845559 2,942,73150 23,118,145.50 4,030,596.90 434518,932.68
Provision hi3 7339097138 449501879 - 670,462.16 - - 8,361,696.00 86,918,14833
Disposals o retirements RETHE (347,760.00) (26,042,500.13) (161873) (112,25563) - (270,480.00) (1,693588.89) (28,468,203.38)
Adjustrment for exchange differences EjizEa% 80,459.82 650,245.05 (100,772.36) 11213963 (11,925.00 (96,745.00) (3,749.94) 629,652.20
31 Decernber 2019 0195128318 276,352,941.50 1131767535 7,022,424.16 72880175 2,93081250 22,75092050 10,694,954.07 493,598,529.83
IV, Carring amount m-EHER
31 Decernber 2018 0185128318 948537243277 6,214,221,53061 190,073,837.28 85,714,108.03 493471182660  7,100803466.87  1442,141,795.28  29,453,038,997.44
1 January 2019 01951518 9,466,26431787  6,181,884,343.17 190,073,837.28 85,714,108.03  1,703939,180.10 246569370697  1,190,283,931.01 21,283,853 42443

31 December 2019 WI9E12A318 96171472517 642246466821 42799413648 11306707221 52572005028 319109724016 12870073269  26,31,978,22047




ES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B FSER RMEE(48)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31 HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. Fixed assets (Continued) 17. BEEEE)
Fixed assets which are temporarily idle are presented as follows: TR ENBETEEENT ¢
RMB
AR®T
Gross Accumulated Provision for Carrying
carrying amount depreciation impairment amount
ltem 1BH RE REHE A FEEE
Houses and buildings EEESEMR 393,947,566.85 75,531,807.75 263,323,717.69 55,092,041.41
and land use rights TR
Machinery and equipment i ] 187,031,409.41 92,059,472.45 56,049,902.64 38,922,034.32
Electronic equipment BF&RE 37,624,966.25 29,560,274.76 6,996,295.86 1,068,395.63
Transportation equipment EHHE 880,143.43 792,686.62 - 87,456.81
Total At 619,484,085.94 197,944,241.58 326,369,916.19 95,169,928.17
Carrying amount of fixed assets leased out under operating lease is LEEATETEEREDEBNT ¢
presented as follows:
RMB
AR®T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item 1BH 2019%12A31AH 2018512 A31H
Houses and buildings and land use rights EEZEY N L FTEE - 3,973,642.98
Electronic equipment B 259,749.12 2,449.49
Machinery and equipment B 36,944,311.17 119,023.30
Vehicles ERRE 2,449.49 -
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out AR X E RH&
(long-term) (RH) 5,257,200,520.28 4,934,711,826.60
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out A XE RS
(short-term) (}2H50) 3,191,097,240.16 7,100,803,466.87
Total A&t 8,485,504,270.22 12,039,610,409.24
As at 31 December 2019, fixed assets for which the Group R2019F 12 A31H » A& E &
obtained financings through the way of the sale and leaseback BERMER HEMENH X E TR
subleases had a carrying amount of RMB2,132,611,499.10. EMETEERAEEAARE
2,132,611,499.107T °
As at 31 December 2019, fixed assets for which the Group MR2019F12 8318 » REBEERE
obtained financings through the way of indirect leasing had a HMEMSTNETRENBEETEERET
carrying amount of RMB2,740,655,851.62. B{EAARY2,740,655,851.627C °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

V.

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17.

18.

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHREREZIABFRE(E)

Fixed assets (Continued) 17. BEEEE)
As at 31 December 2019, fixed assets for which the Group 2019612 A318 » REBHKES
had not obtained real estate certificates had a carrying EHWEFHNETEEREBEAAR
amount of RMB1,568,776,275.11 (31 December 2018: #£1,568,776,275.11 70 (201812 A
RMB1,514,223,277.39). 31H : AR¥1,514,223,277.397T) °
As at 31 December 2019, net fixed assets of the Group with title M2019F 12 A318 » REBFTAE
restrictions amounted to RMB628,507,841.20 (31 December ZEHRFNETEEFEAARE
2018: RMB668,616,460.64), please refer to Note V.70. Among 628,507,841.20 7t (2018 % 12 A 31
which, the pledge over fixed assets with carrying amount of A : AR%668,616,460.6470) ' R
RMB297,131,888.60 had yet to be registered. MEEh 70 Hf - BREEBEAAR
#297,131,888.60 THIEF & &= *
RIHEHIFER ©
As at 31 December 2019, in view of the existence of idle fixed R2019F12831H - ERGEERE
assets and the fact that the recoverable amounts of some fixed WETEE  UERHLBEEEED
assets were lower than their carrying amount, according to the AREEEENERES  BER
result of impairment, provision for impairment in the amount of BARGER HIEREEBEARE
RMB86,918,148.33 was made. 86,918,148.337T °
Construction in progress 18. IR
RMB
AR
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
WI9ENA31R WIBE1A31E
Gross Provision Gross Provision
carrying for decline Carrying arrying for decline Carmying
amount in value amount amount in value amount
lem %A BERE AEER KEER HERE WEEE SEERE
Transmission project EHER 892,307,327.63 - 892,307,327.63 240,852,744.16 - 240,852,744.16
Production line construction and RGBS 482,213,069.42 - 482,213,069.42 234,151,794.56 - 234,151,794.56
renovation project ER
Factory area construction project A HEEREEA 507,918,491.72 (70,611,873.18)  437,306,618.54 307,688,253.70 (59,515,308.59) 248,172,945.11
Factory area construction project B FEZLERS 368,730,784.47 - 368,730,784.47 285,243943.71 - 285,243,943.71
Factory area construction project C BEEREEC 317,657,204.95 - 317,657,204.95 44,068 565.87 - 44,068,565.87
Trial room construction project A FRZEREEA 272,504,325.35 - 272,504,325.35 56,046,500.00 - 56,046,500.00
Factory area construction project D RERREED 236,453,336.98 - 236,453,336.98 - - -
Trial room construction project B FRERIERD 205,439,387.19 - 205,439,387.19 40,239,802.21 - 40,239,802.21
Materials used in construction R 138,063.63 - 138,063.63 2.972,510.00 - 2,972,510.00
Others b0 2,200,643,571.73 (4,727,672.83)  2,195,915,898.90  1,701,080,106.83 (472767283 1,696,352,434.00
Total At 5,484,005,563.07 (75,339,546.01)  5,408,666,017.06  2,912,344,221.04 (64,242,981.42)  2,848,101,239.62
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEEBIEEFEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. Construction in progress (Continued) 18. EERIE(E)
Movement in key construction-in-progress is presented as follows: EEEETIREEHNT
RMB
AR
Of which:
Fixed asset Adual  Accumulated capitalized
Increase transferred costs & amount of amount of
during in during Other Closing & percentage capitalized  interest during Source of
Budget  Opening balance the year the year decrease blance  of budget (%) interest the year funding
KEEL TBRA  HEERE Ah:AER
fem i3 BE Ef4E HEEN HdE At ERBE  (REERD) Sift®  ANER REME
Factory area construction BEREAC 780,000,00000  44,068,565.87  274,505,555.83 - 916,916.75 317,657,049 il - - Internal fund
project C B5ES
Factory area construction HEEZEES-=H 72387640000  162,869,238.57  204938,926.13  116,622,73152 - 5118543318 80 190548070 1,905480.70 Loans from
project B-Phase 3 financial insttution/
internal fund
RegES
Trial room construction HRERIEEA 1,033,000,00000  56,046500.00  216,457,825.35 - - 27250432535 2% - - Intemal fund
project A ELy -5
Factory area construction BEERERD 378,870,000.00 - 13649155696 - 821998 23645333698 [ - - Intemal fund
projectD BEES
Transmission project - Light-duty  EEER -$&+ 270,000,00000 9640453036 11350571953 393131266 - 205978937.23 8 - - Intemal fund
and medium-duty truck BRAS
Transmission project - [ ER 18289900000 6587191757 63,636,75007  2,638,655.21 - 12687001243 92 - - Intemal fund
Infrastructure £g BhEE
Factory area construction FEEREEA-ME 30267000000 4147556401 9441442194 - - 13588998595 41 - - Intemalfund
project Aelocation BEES
Total At 371131540000  466,736,316.38 1,203,950,755.81  123,192,699.39 955,136.73 1,546,539,236.07 190548070 1,905,480.70
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP IRBMISE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEZBIEEFEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. Right-of-use assets 19. FAEEE
RMB
AR
Forklift trucks Forklft trucks
andequipment  and equipment
after sale and after sale and
leaseback leaseback
Houses and Machinery and Subleases Subleases
Item buldings equipment Vehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others Total
ElkEE
EliEE EERY
BEEMN  BZONER
R BEREED RERE Bk NERR(RE) R(EE) Ef &t
1. Gross carying amount - FARE
1 January 2019 01951718 3,839,410,663.80 T1,132,647.56 - 363077469048  5766,665636.45  1,606,576,193.14 14920,559,831.43
Increase during the year KERY 90,440,611.58 - 8.923,077.75 - - 5714469000 154081064933
Decrease during the year TERD (255,302,208.000  (10,575,030.36) - (14992389369) (1,143,940,04666)  (352,687337.64) (2,512,428,516.35)
Adjustment for exchange B A
diferences 18578212.22 (313439.20) (701184 (21,828625.09) 248319479 10,226,105.35 9,138436.23
31 December 2019 0195128318 4,563,127,279.60 66,244,178.00 891600591 2,859,022, 171.70  4,625208784.58  1,835,561,920.85 13,958,080,400.64
Il Accumulated depreciation O BHIE
1 January 2019 01951718 1,749,379,211.85 38,49,276.06 - 400,002,043.98 113155587655 746,488571.24  4,065,674,979.68
Provision iR 438151,239.56 9,312,240.00 328185496 79728791403 1,116522924.21 44302614244 2,807582,315.20
Decrease during the year KERD (164,158,176.00)  (10,575,030.36) - (11135118320)  (866,159,349.01)  (323,684,153.64) (2,075927,892.23)
Adjustment for exchange EjZERE
differences 1492717847 (50432.70) 3749203 55,462.55 22,539,846.94 599155140 43,501,098.69
31 December 2019 0195124318 2,038,299,453.88 36,936,053.00 331934699 48599423734 140445929869  871,822,111.44  4,840,830,501.34
Il Provison for impairment = HEER
1 January 2019 01951718 5,289,080.19 - - - - 193043580 7219,515.99
Provison iR 525,504.00 - - - - - 525,504.00
Decrease during the year TERD - - - - - - -
Adjustment for exchange B EEE
differences (15,483.18) - - - - (782281) (23305.99)
31 December 2019 0195128318 5,799,101.01 - - - - 192261299 7,721,7114.00
IV.Carrying amount n-REER
31 December 2019 0195128318 2,519,028, 724.11 29,308,125.00 559,71892 237302793436 322074948589 961.817,196.42  9,109,528,185.30
1 January 2019 201951418 2,084,742,311.76 38,883,371.50 - 33077264650 463510975990 858,157,186.10 10,847,665,335.76
During the year, short-term leasing fees through profit or loss REEHAZHEENECERENRE
under the simplified approach amounted to RMB184,861,556.88 HHEB M A ARM184,861,556.88
while low value asset leasing fee amounted to RMB78,155,000.00. T BREBEEEHEERAAREK

78,155,000.007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HIFFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. Intangible assets 20. BYEE
RMB
AR
Item Technology Customer
Land use rights Patents know-how License Software  Orders on hand relationship Others Total
%R THERE EEH BEREE it g EFiE ZPHER iy fit
|, Gross carrying amount - BERE
31 December 2018 018E128318 1934328967.06 1,271,164,78780 7,661,001458.79  877,75290354  531,765,059.58  292,549,227.35 10,468,982,387.80 7,185,840,479.89 30,223385,271.81
Addtion B2 3896408358 1169407521  55848,786.03  180,128,101.78  15,153,546.20 - - 662,482,37039  964,270963.19
Transfer tointernal R&D REmEEN - 043967363 - - - - - 35489294400 37533261763
Increase in business fERHEN
combination - 53369304860  45,195,784.16 - 20030020 3382529752 43.860,719.19 8597050  656,861,120.17
Redlassification ENE - - - 5036337600 (39,930,576.00) - - (10432,800.00 -
Disposals and retirements RESHE (21,0%,54539)  (14.22563891)  (66,460,80000)  (71,383,536.00)  (21,089,712.00) - (20,881,05.00) (556,680,361.00)  (771,777,64939)
Adjustment for exchange EiEERE
(ifferences - (597864.22)  (30,288,655.97)  7,014,601.87 93334651 (1,185,511.63)  87,030,00043 6564420479  128,550,150.78
31 December 2019 195128318 1952,236,505.25 1,822,168,082.11 7,665,296,573.01 1,043875447.19  487,031,964.49  325,189,013.24 10,578,992,060.42 7,701,832,828.48 31576,622,474.19
Il Accumulated amortization BBl
31 December 2018 W18E128318 296,002,884.39 7711915547 23986,455.31  512,67882053 18265352307 13041427870 2,711,370,551.82 1,571,904,777.03 6,00,202,816.32
Provision i 4025105264 2180550496  2,011,839.04 2050977900 891075018 1397995200  796,76334247  731,154,944.59 1.819,975,181.88
Disposels or refiremens REYHE (2679,58231) - - (4530926400 (20,371,008.00) - (08810500 (519,07430400) (60831521431)
Adjustments for exchange EXEERE
(ifferences - 125,44258 988,74043 237575044 (352,440.10) (370,19.70) 2531763916 820429147 3742022728
31 December 2019 0195128318 33357435472 19425347301 26987,034.78  674,843,10297 17084082515 144,024034.00 3512570477.45 1,792,189,709.09 7,449,283,011.17
II. Provision for impairment = HEEE
31 December 2018 0185128318 - - 67,486,780.00 7,282,294.22 625429810 1952408240 54941463138 7376462000  723,726,706.12
Provision iR - - 3457,600.00 - - - - 1163064000 4408824000
Disposals RE - - (66,460,800.00) - - - - (633696000  (72,797,760.00)
Adustmentsforexchange  EXEEEE
(ifferences - - (658,480.00) (29510.22) (25,344.60) (7911840)  (2,26,419.95) (238982.52)  (3,257,855.69)
31 December 2019 0195128318 - - 32.825,100.00 7,52,784.00 622895350 194449400 54718821143 7881931750  691,759,330.43
IV, Net carying amount BERE
31 December 2019 0195128318 1618,662,150.53 1,027914,609.10 760548443823  361,779,56022  309962,185.84  161,720,015.24 6,519,233 371,54 5,830,823,801.89 23435,580,132.59
31 December 2018 018F128318 163832608267 49997326233 756952822348  357,791,788.79  342,857,23841  142,610,866.25 7,208,197,204.60 5,540,171,082.84 23,299,455,749.37
During the end of the year, the proportion of intangible assets from RERBRBNPHABEKO B EE
internal R&D to the remaining amount of intangible assets was 25.05%. IEETE EARFEA L 525.05%
As at 31 December 2019, the intangible assets for which the Group M2019F12 A31H » KEB A E
had title restrictions had a carrying amount of RMB242,181,694.04 (31 ZRENEFEERAEEAAR
December 2018: RMB247,596,065.82), please refer to Note V.70. #242,181,694.04 70 (20184 12 A 31
H : AR#247,596,065.827T) * 5t R
MizEH - 70 °
As at 31 December 2019, the intangible assets for which the M2019F12 A318 » REB &K
Group had not obtained title certificates had a carrying amount of ZERSENEVEERABEAA
RMB54,320,648.72 (31 December 2018: RMB123,187,359.48), for R #54,320,648.7270(2018F 12 A 31
which the Group was in the process of applying. A : AK®123,187,359.4870) @ %%

BIVAEMERE WML -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B SR RMEE(48)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. Intangible assets (Continued) 20. EEEE(E)

Other than the finite useful life of some of the trademarks held BARBZFRABRAEHED BIRE
by the subsidiaries of the Company, trademarks of the Group are AEmAERIN  NEEEMEES T+
renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The management of the FRRRERRNEE R - AEEE
Group are of the opinion that the Group has both the intention BERR AEEESEBRNTE
and ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As a result, the EEZEBHF - BARFAEEAK
useful life of the trademarks is considered by the management ARAEBMELERSRAFE K
of the Group as indefinite because the trademarks are expected It AEEEREERAZEHRER
to contribute to the Group's net cash inflows indefinitely. The Fan NMET o RIER SRR AI(E D
trademarks will not be amortized unless their useful life is FRERBERER  BRTEHETHE
determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested for ek BESEEFREERT
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they KN FAERERETRERH
may be impaired.

As at 31 December 2019, KION owned trademark rights with an 2019412 4318 + KION#EH H
indefinite useful life of carrying amount of RMB7,345,014,715.50 REG T HENRIEEAREDER
(31 December 2018: RMB7,351,562,517.10), the recoverable BARYET 345,014,715.507T(20184F
amount of such trademark rights was determined based on the 12A318 : AK¥7,351,562,517.10
present value of expected future cash flows of the asset groups TL)  &EDERERENAKESE
unit it belonged to, which was determined based on the cash RIREFBEERBANTEFRKE
flow projection in accordance with the 5-year financial budget TRENRERT  HBEFARKRED
approved by the management. The discount rate used for the MERIEE IR E 4 E S F M5
cash flow projection was the pre-tax rate of (10.20%-11.00%) BESERNREMERR KT
(2018: 10.00%-10.80%). The estimated growth rate of cash flows RERSEAMEAOB AR EZ
beyond the 5-year period of 1.00%-1.30% (2018: 0.80%-1.30%) (10.20%-11.00%) (20184 : 10.00%-
was the long-term average growth rate of the industry or region 10.80%) ' SFELAEEVIR GRS BV LET
where the enterprise operated. RHITF 198K %1.00%-1.30% (2018

F 1 0.80%-1.30% ) B EFTEITE
g E )RR REK -

Based on the result of the test for impairment, as at 31 December ERREIRANER  BE20194F
2019, the provision for trademark rights with an indefinite useful 12A3181E - NEBEEEASZw TR
life made by the Group amounted to RMB32,457,600.00 (2018: ERREREMAEFRAEERARE
Nil). 32,457,600.007C(2018%F : f&) -
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V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. Expenditure on development 21. BFBXZH
Capitalization of expenditure on development starts when E 5B T E DI B RV R R 46
the development stage is reached. Capitalized expenditure on BEARME  AEEEARCHRE N
development of the Group is presented as follows: Dk
RMB
AE®T
Increase in Recognition of 31 December
Item 31 December 2018 Internal R&D ~ intangible assets Other changes 2019
g 20185124318 Ak EREVRE EObEl 2019124310
Improvement project on driver's cabin ~ EEPEHEIER 48,073,714.39 3,666,290.11 - (2,688,679.24)  49,051,325.26
Hydraulics project RERR 297,506,837.60 61,909,008.00  (354,892,944.00) (4,522,901.60) -
Others A1) 94,567,671.17 16,321,196.58 (20,439,673.63) - 90,449,194.12
Total At 440,148,223.16 81,896,494.69  (375,332,617.63) (7211,580.84)  139,500,519.38
22. Goodwill 22. BHE
(1) Gross carrying amount of goodwill (1) BEKREERE
RMB
AE®T
Increase during the
year due to business
combination not
involving entities Adjustment for
under common  Decrease during  Provision for exchange 31 December Asset
Item 31 December 2018 control the year impairment diferences LR group unit
REFE-1HT
EE WIBENANA RSN RERD HRHE  EREESE ENLEVEREN 4EAEC
Merger with TAGC AHALE 531,226,252.68 - - - - 5312265268 A
Merger with Linde Hydraulis ~ AGHEREABLE
GmbH & Co. KG 832,315,200.34 - - - 3383181 82894237497 B
Merger with KION AUHKION 6,644,633,110.72 - - - (8169,173.78)  6,636,463,936.94 (
Merger with Egemin £ #Egemin Automation
Automation Inc. Retrotech Inc.  Inc. Retrotech Inc.
Dematic Group Dematic Group 15,099,633,408.60 - - - 31968377390 15419,317,182.50 D
Merger with Tamjn Tsintel -~ ARRZEERHERLA
Technology Compeny Limited (4 FETREERIA)
("Tsintel Technology”) - 303417137% - - - 303,417,137.9% £
Merger with ARADEX AG AARADEX AG - 17543463144 - - - 175,434,631.44 f
Others ) 167,649,717.20 - - - (1.85951570)  165,790,201.50
Total At B205457,69%.04  478,851,769.40 - - 306,282,252.55 24,060,591,717.99
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V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. Goodwill (Continued) 22. EE(E)
(2) Provision for impairment of goodwill (2) BEREERE

RMB
AR

Increase during ~ Decrease during 31 December

ltem 31 December 2018 the year the year 2019

ER 2018F 124318 REE Sl 2019512A318

Merger with TAGC BFANE 238,071,400.00 - - 238,071,400.00

Balance as at 31 December 2019 mainly represented
goodwill arising from merger with TAGC, Linde Hydraulics
GmbH & Co. KG, KION, Egemin Automation Inc., Retrotech
Inc., Dematic Group, Tsintel Technology and ARADEX AG.
Goodwill arising from merger would be allocated to asset
group units to test for impairment on an annual basis.

Carrying amount of material goodwill and trademarks is
allocated to the following asset group units as follows:

° asset group unit A: major automobile components
other than automotive and engines

o asset group unit B: manufacture of hydraulic pumps,
hydraulic motors, hydraulic valves, gears and other
components

o asset group unit C: forklift trucks production,
warehousing technology and supply chain solutions
services

° asset group unit D: Intelligent supply chains and
automation solutions

° asset group unit E: driving assistance system and
automatic driving solutions

° asset group unit F: manufacture of motor controller,
motor and fuel cell

ANN
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ES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTES T0 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
22. Goodwill (Continued)
(2) Provision for impairment of goodwill
(Continued)
The carrying amount of material goodwill is allocated to the

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F12A31HILFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

22. BE(E)
(2) EEREEREE)

EZRENRESEIREEE

asset group units as follows: HAEEHEROT
RMB
ARHT
Carrying amount of goodwill
HENRESHE
Asset group units 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 Notes
BEEES 20196124318 20185124318 i
Asset group unit A BERBAA 293,154,852.68 293,154,852.68  Note 1 1
Asset group unit B EEBAAB 828,942,374.97 832,315,206.84  Note 2 512
Asset group unit C BEBEAC 6,636,463,936.94 6,644,633,110.72  Note 3 53
Asset group unit D BEAEAD 15,419,317,182.50 15,099,633,408.60 Note 4 4
Asset group unit E BEMMARE 303,417,137.96 - Note 575
Asset group unit F BEMRMBAF 175,434,631.44 - Note 6 16
Total At 23,656,730,116.49 22,869,736,578.84

The key assumptions in calculating the recoverable amount
of the above asset group units and its basis are as follows:

Note 1:The goodwill acquired through the mergers with TAGC is allocated
to asset group unit A: major automobile components other than
automotive and engines and is tested for impairment.

The recoverable amount of asset group unit A has been
determined based on the present value of the expected future
cash flows of the asset group, which was determined based on
cash flow projection in accordance to the 5-year financial budget
approved by the management. The discount rate used for the
cash flow projection of asset group units A was the pre-tax rate of
13.73% (2018: 14.46%). The estimated growth rate of cash flows
beyond the 5-year period of 2.50% (2018: 2.50%) was the long-
term average growth rate in the industries or regions in which the
enterprises operate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEZBIEEFEGE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. Goodwill (Continued) 22. HE(E) ‘
(2) Provision for impairment of goodwill (2) BEREEREE)
(Continued)

Note 2: The goodwill acquired through the mergers with Linde Hydraulics 2 AEREEGNERESBEFE

GmbH & Co. KG is allocated to asset group unit B: manufacture
of hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic valves, gears and
other components and is tested for impairment.

The recoverable amount of asset group unit B has been
determined based on the present value of the expected future
cash flows of the asset group, which was determined based on
cash flow projection in accordance to the 5-year financial budget
approved by the management. The discount rate used for the
cash flow projection of asset group unit B was the pre-tax rate of
7.35% (2018: 8.95%). The estimated growth rate of cash flows
beyond the 5-year period of 2.00% (2018: 2.00%) was the long-
term average growth rate.

acquired through the merger of Egemin Automation Inc. and
Retrotech Inc. and the goodwill acquired through the merger of
Dematic Group are combined and allocated to asset group unit D:
intelligent supply chains and automation solutions and are tested
for impairment.

The recoverable amount has been determined based on the
present value of the expected future cash flows of the asset
group unit, which was determined based on cash flow projection
in accordance to the 5-year financial budget approved by the
management. The discount rate used for the cash flow projection
of the asset group unit D was the pre-tax rate of 10.60% (2018:
10.90%). The estimated growth rate of cash flows beyond the
5-year period of 1.30% (2018: 1.30%) was the long-term average
growth rate.
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RENEESEEEEMAAS
B EERER  REFE R
EFFT - B RATEEMT
ETTIRE R

BEHA BRI A o] & BB 1Z R
BEAMEE B TET AR KB L7
EMBERT  EBEGAKE
CREIREEEEH 5 F R
W ERE AR B2 E
TERIRET - BEMMSBESL
L 2 8B BT ER A B B BT AT 3R K
27.35% (20184 : 8.95%) *
SFEUEBE L TE GG RAF
1% &£ % 2.00% (2018 % :
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Note 3:The goodwill acquired through the mergers with KION is allocated iF3 . AEBE GIKIONEZ a9 B2 5
to asset group unit C: forklift trucks production, warehousing ﬁEEﬁEfH%HSC C REALE -
technology and supply chain solutions services and is tested for BERM R MR IEREREAR T RIR
impairment. e
The recoverable amount of that asset group unit is determined ZEEMAE A IKE T EE
as the fair value of shares held in KION, i.e. market value as at 31 RETHKIONSR (7 89 2 A7 (BB AT
December 2019, minus the cost of disposal. 2019412 A31 HE i B 5 &

BEERAET -
Note 4:Due to the adjustment of the Group’s strategy, the goodwill it AEBRAERAE KA O

Egemin Automation Inc.
Retrotech Inc. R 13 &) 22 B &
1 Dematic Group BX 13 K & &
(B REDIEEEEAHEE
D : ERERFESEF B BYEAE AT
o RITRER o

H AT o] & B I% PR B E AR &
By FEGT AR & 7 & 1) B E
T BB RKBE L RERE
B B HE B 5 F BB B 7 TR
EAEBNE 272 8K E
E o BEAMHAEDE 2 HEHENA
BT B BT HT B2 10.60%
(2018%F : 10.90% ) * 54 LA 14
B mEds R FIHIERE
1.30% (20184 : 1.30%) °
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NoTES To KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
22. Goodwill (Continued)

(2) Provision for impairment of goodwill

(Continued)
Note 5:The goodwill acquired through the mergers with Tsintel

Technology is allocated to asset group unit E: driving assistance
system and automatic driving solutions and is tested for
impairment.

Its recoverable amount has been determined based on the present
value of the expected future cash flows of the asset group, which
was determined based on cash flow projection in accordance to
the 5-year financial budget approved by the management. The
discount rate used for the cash flow projection of asset group
unit E was the pre-tax rate of 10.49% (2018: Not applicable). The
estimated growth rate of cash flows beyond the 5-year period of
0.00% (2018: Not applicable) was the long-term average growth
rate.

Note 6:The goodwill acquired through the mergers with ARADEX AG is

allocated to asset group unit F: manufacture of motor controller,
motor and fuel cell and is tested for impairment.

Its recoverable amount has been determined based on the present
value of the expected future cash flows of the asset group, which
was determined based on cash flow projection in accordance to
the 10-year financial budget approved by the management. The
discount rate used for the cash flow projection of asset group
unit F was the pre-tax rate of 15.67% (2018: Not applicable). The
estimated growth rate of cash flows beyond the10-year period of
2.00% (2018: Not applicable) was the long-term average growth
rate.

AR NBRMERAT

B ¥ ¥R R Bt 5 (48 )

2019F12A31HILFE

h - SHEIBHRRERIREEEGE)
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V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. Long-term prepaid expenses 23. REASEER

RMB

AR®T

Increase Amortization Provision for 31 December
31 December 2018 duringthe year ~ during theyear  Other decrease impaiment 2019
fem bl 018128318 KEEN ¥ i ) e 2019512A31A
Industrial mould fee T5iER% 17211405352 11402044718 (38,665,658.06)  (3,608693.64)  (69,031,852.24)  174,828,296.76
Industrial equipment fee Thi#AE 3033698672 3148773636 (16,709,836.59) (14273144)  (9,283675.40)  35,688,479.65

Expenditure on improvement of

fied assets leasedin RABEEEMR LY 600809460 2611791864 (804075348 (13457363) - 13850,686.14
Total At 2845913485 17162610218 (63416,24813)  (3,985,998.71)  (78,315,527.64)  254,367,462.55

24. Deferred tax assets/ liabilities

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities without offset are as

24. BEFRBHEE BE
ARAG I8 8 10 ST TS 7 1 E FIRAE P

follows: SHa’:
RMB
ARBT
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 31 December 2018
19128318 01981718 W18E12A31H
Deductible Deductiole Deductiole
temporary Deferred temporary Deferred temporary Deferred
difference tax assets difference ta assets difference faK assets
ltem L CESILELET I e NEREE  BUAGHAE TANERARE  BEAGREE
Deferred tax assets REFEREE
Accruals RiEE 17,976,146,075.44  3,999,596,496.95 15,060,229,514.88  3327521,171.64 15,060,22951488  3,327,521,171.64
Lease liabltes/finance lease payables MEEE/REMEENT 2083637660466 544947322528 124395555504  2,923400852.11 11,887,077,867.15  2,753,624,467.84
Provision for impairment of assets HERRER 496488897135 1,202,299807.50 563920872088 1,167,645,365.58  5,639,208,72088 1,161,645,365.58
Right-of-use assets/fixed assets leased in under
finance lease PRIELE/HER)\ETEAE 598749944126 146496241710 406576407985 98861820076 406576407985  988,618.200.76
Unrealized profit for internal transactions NIRFAERHE 1574794,636.73  317,697,231.27 2178,79291883  576902,8%5.70  2,17879291883  576,902,895.70
Deferred income ey 1,199,048,366.00  182,049,667.59 1,089,524,842.40  165,3753%.04 1,089,52484240  165,375,356.04
Taxand accounting differences for supply chain
solutions services P VES 49659320387 13450475500 104292585789 23499524580 104292585789 23499524580
Finance lease receivables HETRERNE 92338889230 21543975214 71368398139  172,027.874.14 713,683 98139 172,027 874.14
Deductible losses THAEE 400,512,37951  108,575,00432  699,066872.67 17513092149  699,066,872.67  175,130921.49
Deductible gooduwill arising from business
combination (before tax) PRAHTRARNEE 114528337.00 3535489920 12222169750  37,60426160  122,21,69750  37,04,261.60
Others A 1,458,649.245.94 37481188217  1,175,19740824 26831495071 1,175,197,40824  268314,950.71

Total

55,932,426,194.12 13,484,765,098.52 44,226,171,419.57 10,031,537,095.57
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V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. Deferred tax assets/ liabilities (Continued) 24, EEFERERE EfE(E)
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities without offset are as R AR EPTIS T E E MR
follows: (Continued) BEiak: (8)

RMB
ARHT
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 31 December 2018
20195128314 20191718 018E12A318
Taxable Taxable Taxable
temporary Deferred temporary Deferred temporary Deferred
difference  tax liabilities difference tax iabilties difference tax liabilties
fiem BE FORERMER  BEFEHAE aliHisha i et tie S L
Fair value adjustment upon business combination ~~ AEABNALBERE 17,775,558,152.82  5,337,610,032.56 18,064,714,27459  5536,702,363.48 18,064,714,27459  5,536,702,363.48
Finance lease receivables BERERYT 10407,059,541.25  2,638210,681.51  9,078652,755.36  2,295,357,68480 9,078,652,755.36  2,295,357,684.80
Right-of-use assets/fixed assets leased in under
finance lease [FRELSE/ZEMAETEE 1066963086599 281019869217 673763014595 160873458516  6,737630,14595 1,608,734,585.16
Intangible assets generated from internal R&D NETERRaY AR 5440408,979.88  1,549,909,.26081 2,149,602421.00  632,817480.00 2,149,602421.02  632,817,480.00
Payroll and benefits BTEMET 42647116080  102,350,769.57  689,730,580.20 13507557490  689,730,586.20  135,075,574.90
Lease liabilities/finance lease payables RERE/RERERN 1,871,201594.88  487,385,716.51 1072422299  264,863,166.03  679,500605.97  144,118,33039
Amartization of finance expenses for long-term
borrowings REETBARERS 10570680870 233366142 13098109728 305952490 1309810978 305995249
Amortization of tarable value of rademark rights ~ BiEE:t 5 BIE& 10597442157 15896,16413 10889200406 1633380061  108892,00406  16,333,80061
Accounts payable FEftiER DAIBI0 SO RIS ISEMNTT BIIIST 155647170
Change in fair value of financialinstruments SHIANAEER 57288459088 8598795263 3338378744 500756812 3338378744 500756812
Prepaid expenses fFEER 30,958,600.78 5970,161.06  28,701348.09 568534964 28,701,348.09 5,685,349.64
Others iy 341226037443 T94.807475.02  2,.876,888,10347 7802642676  2,876,888,10347  758,026,426.76
Total At 50,840,424,378.08 13,856,733,353.11 41,007,382,187.99 11,296,759,99.11 40,614,460497.00 11,176,015,160.47
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented in net RIEFTISHE EFIRLEMSH A G
amount after offsetting: BB FEIITR
RMB
AE®T
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 31 December 2018
019128317 01951418 018E128318
iIENTIS IV Offsetamount  Afteroffsetting  Offsetamount  After offsetting
ftem R it £ it {1 gt ifelia gt EkaE
Deferred tax assets ERAEREE 8,450,419,083.56  5,034,346,014.96 5403309,709.97 462822738560 5403,309,70997  4,458451,001.33
Deferred tax liabiities ELHEREE 8,450,419,083.56  5,406,314,269.55 5403,309,709.97 5893450,86.14  5403,309,709.97  5,772,705,450.50
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V. NoTEsS To KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED T - SHUBFREZEZREFEE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. Deferred tax assets/ liabilities (Continued) 24, EEFIEHERE BE(E)
Deductible temporary difference and deductible losses in respect of REERIRIEPTISTIE E R A KN E

deferred tax assets not yet recognized are presented as follows: HER R AHEHERNT

RMB
AR

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

20184 12A31H

2019%12H31H

Deductible temporary difference IR T ER 4,344,389,333.28 3,735,167,632.31
Deductible losses A0 ES 1S 10,559,398,121.06 9,107,073,891.65
Total A&t 14,903,787,454.34  12,842,241,523.96

RERRLEFFEHREERN A EINE R
RRATFEDE

Deductible losses in respect of deferred tax assets not yet
recognized will fall due in the following years:

RMB
ARETT

EXRD YT JI@LAEN 31 December 2018

20195 12H31H

2018%F12H31H

2019 20194 - 84,854,264.93
2020 2020%F 179,596,007.96 194,010,759.61
2021 20214 276,981,550.85 253,787,563.26
2022 20224 191,055,259.30 155,878,356.63
2023 20234 261,659,893.88 261,659,893.89
2024 20245 1,086,193,808.51 599,405,976.95
2025 20254 333,566,832.93 333,566,832.93
2026 20264 463,351,046.57 460,483,040.61
2027 20274 435,144,191.92 426,717,448.58
2028 20284 439,281,958.20 391,651,622.45
2029 20294 164,840,313.29 -
Indefinite R HA AR 6,727,727,257.65  5,945,058,131.81

10,559,398,121.06 9,107,073,891.65

Note: Pursuant to the requirements under the “Notice Concerning the Extension i IRBEEES - ERBEAEG2018F7 8

BT FE[2018]76 55 X BRI &= 5
FRME ERPR A P2 15 458
FREVBHIEIHE + 2018FABEE
B2 FT AT 10 3 FOFL 45 A o o 10 3

of Maximum Years Allowed for the Carry-forward of Losses Incurred
by High-tech Enterprises and Technology Enterprises of Small and
Medium Size” (Cai Shui [2018] No. 76) issued by the MOF and the State
Administration of Taxation in July 2018, for those high-tech enterprises
and technology enterprises of small and medium size that qualified for w2013 F 22017 F 2L AEENE - B
the carry-forward of losses in 2018, their losses incurred between 2013 20134F 22017 F #4892 K Fi#8 ST 9
and 2017 for which making-up process has not ended are allowed to be 18 - R TREBUEFERG &R
carried forward for a maximum of 10 years, irrespective of whether those HEHEERZI0F »

enterprises were qualified for the carry-forward of losses between 2013

to 2017.

Deferred tax related to deductible losses and deductible temporary
difference is recognized based on profit forecast.

7N £2 B R 45 2 8 B R e R B A 4 /5
B AR
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B 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F 12 A31HIEFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. Other non-current assets

Item

BHE

Scheme assets under defined benefit plan

REXmrrEIZFtEIEE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

25. HMEREBEE

31 December 2019

2019 12H31H

403,740,914.50

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
20184 12A31H

261,024,739.90

Input tax credit to be deducted R INETER R 152,404,692.00 -
Others Hih 131,574,886.70 94,871,890.13
Total =1 687,720,493.20 355,896,630.03
26. Short-term loans 26. WHAER
RMB
ABRBT
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item HE 2019 12A318 2018412 A31H
Pledged borrowings (Note) HEIRERGE) 380,000,000.00 360,000,000.00
Credit loans EARER 1,634,692,401.39 5,112,765,901.24
Total Azt 2,014,692,401.39 5,472,765,901.24

Note: As at 31 December 2019, among the short-term loans,

i

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

RMB360,000,000.00 (31 December 2018: RMB360,000,000.00)
represented the loan secured by the pledge of fixed deposit of
RMB421,060,000.00 (31 December 2018: RMB421,060,000.00)
by Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, to Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. Urumqi
branch.

As at 31 December 2019, among the short-term loans,
RMB20,000,000.00 (31 December 2018: Nil) represented the loan secured
by the pledge of fixed deposit of RMB25,442,865.48 (31 December 2018:
Nil) by Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, to
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd., please refer to Note
V.70.

As at 31 December 2019, the above loans carried interest at rates ranging
1.05%~4.35% (31 December 2018: 0.60%~4.35%) per annum.

AR NBRMNERAT

K2019F 12 A31H » FFHEH+H A
F ¥ 360,000,000.00 5T (2018 4 12 A
31H : A K #360,000,000.00C) %
AKREZFRAIFETHBTERR
R E] A ERTTE BARE ST E T
A B # 421,060,000.00 7T 9 £ H 7
EHEE(2018F12A31H : AR¥
421,060,000.005T) °

HR2019F 12 A31H » FFHEH+H A
E#20,000,000.005T (20184 12 A31
H : #)BAREZ FRAPA22E
EBRA AL EETEBGEBRA
B E A R #25,442,865.48 7T A9 JE
BRFENS (201841231 H « ##) » 5
BMfER - 70 ¢

R2019F 12531 H » Ll &30 a9 F
E51.05%~4.35% (20184 12 A31H
0.60%~4.35%) °
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V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B
27. Financial liabilities held for trading 27. XZMETRERE
RMB

AR¥T

EX DY ST IAEN 31 December 2018

Iltem BE 2019%12H31H 20185 12A31H
Forward foreign exchange contracts RERINE S A 100,742,322.60 52,106,601.75
Cross currency swap and interest rate T EE R
swap instruments F=Z=E#xTA 31,178,431.78 161,329,163.72
Total &5t 131,920,754.38 213,435,765.47
28. Notes payable 28. BRI

RMB
AR

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Item IEH 2019%12H31H 2018412 A31H
Bank acceptance bills RITHENIESR 22,399,651,927.32  15,861,193,413.57
Commercial acceptance bills HEAGIEES 46,752,609.26 63,822,851.51
Total A3t 22,446,404,536.58 15,925,016,265.08
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no outstanding notes 2019412 A31H » N4 & & 5| Hf
payable which were due (31 December 2018: Nil). RIFTHERZEKR (20185128318 ¢
) -
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2019F 12 A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29. Accounts payable

29. FEFIREX

31 December 2019

2019 12H31H

33,160,995,390.49
2,714,553,791.80
543,361,583.54
329,592,917.02

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

25,790,622,056.71
3,587,333,365.53
832,856,320.45
658,543,192.16

[tem IHH

Within 3 months 3E AR

3 to 6 months 3EA=6MEA
6 to 12 months 6B AZE12{8A
Over 12 months 12@ A A =
Total &5

36,748,503,682.85

30,869,354,934.85

Accounts payable are non-interest bearing, and are generally

settled within three to six months.

As at 31 December 2019, there was no payable which was material
and aged over one year (31 December 2018: Nil).

30. Contract liabilities

Item

HE

Supply chain solutions services (Note)

SRR 77 2R BRTS (RE)

FERTIR TS - Wil HEIZ6(E A

WIBE °

M2019%12 A31H » R —F LA
FREZHEMNFIE(2018F 12 A31

B:&) -

31 December 2019

2019 12H31H

3,257,672,340.51
7,396,781,019.68

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

3,913,731,012.80
4,808,712,031.00

10,654,453,360.19

8,722,443,043.80

Sales and other services SHE K H A RIS
Total axt
Note: (1) The contract liabilities associated with the supply chain solutions

services are the balances payable to the customer under the
performing contract. The balance is generated when a specific
milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognized as a result of

the input method.

) The revenue in the opening balance carrying amount including
contract liabilities and long-term contract liabilities recognized this
year by the Group amounted to RMB6,881,810,869.65.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES T0o KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED 1 BHIBEHRETEZIEEFRE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. Payroll payable 31. BT E N

Increase during

Decrease during

RMB
AR

31 December

31 December 2018 the year the year 2019
Item BH 018F 124318 ARESEM el 20195125318
Short-term remuneration ysp il 4,518,125,721.28 22,116,393,744.77 (21,764,936,640.10) 4,869,582,825.95
Post-employment benefits (defined ~ BEBR 1 18 71
contribution plan) (FERF:AE) 488,060,483.62  2,862,149,730.13 (2,919,860,782.00)  430,349,431.75
Severance benefits FHRAER 105,502,797.68  162,595,081.91  (86,786,375.32)  181,311,504.27
Cash-settled share-based payment —FEREIEE A
due within 1 year HEEENRN T 48,394,299.10 41,430,095.00 (46,479,631.10) 43,344,763.00
Other long-term payroll due within 1 —F | 0
year it ERB: T30 24,583,311.51 60,831,446.09  (21,007,222.10)  64,407,535.50
Total Ast 5,184,666,613.19 25,243,400,097.90 (24,839,070,650.62) 5,588,996,060.47
Short-term remuneration is presented as follows: MEEHMET -
RMB
AR®T
Increase Decrease 31 December
31 December 2018 during the year during the year 2019
Item R 018F12A31H AEEM pSSEPl  2019F12A31H
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and
subsidies TE - 5% #BMEE,  3,607,173,976.02 19,091,500,814.51 (18,824,873,613.63) 3,873,801,176.90
Staff welfare BIGHNE 25,871,978.31 428,327,834.20  (430,947,311.58) 23,252,500.93
Social security HeRphzE 102,573,230.73  1,674,338,209.64 (1,668,477,814. 87) 108,433,625.50
Incl: Medical insurance Hib BERRE 71,269,298.47  1,489,108,843.36 (1,484,234,626.17) 76,143,515.66
Work injury insurance TERRE 16,106,196.03 92,229,080.07 (88,039,617.27) 20,295,658.83
Maternity insurance EERBE 1,154,223.99 22,194,613.12 (22,340,253.38) 1,008,583.73
Supplementary medical insurance BRBERR 14,043,512.24 70,805,673.09  (73,863,318.05  10,985,867.28
Housing funds FELES 32,407,409.84 379,655,598.72  (393,188,794.19) 18,874,214.37
Labor union operating funds and
employee education costs TemBRBTHELE  561413,493.92  186,211,004.63  (107,586,097.03)  640,038,401.52
Other short-term remuneration H 52 HREEN 188,685,632.46  356,360,283.07  (339,863,008.80)  205,182,906.73
Total At 4,518,125,721.28 22,116,393,744.77 (21,764,936,640.10) 4,869,582,825.95
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31 HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31. Payroll payable (Continued) 31.

Post-employment benefits (defined contribution plan) is presented

PEATE T 5B (48)
BER R E A (RERFENAT

262

as follows:
RMB
AR®T
Increase Decrease 31 December
31 December 2018 during the year during the year 2019
Item A 2018F 124318 ARESEM ol 20195124318
Basic pension insurance EAEBZRR 403,990,746.83  2,255,114,324.73 (2,314,395,508.15)  344,709,563.41
Unemployment insurance KERBRE 16,099,467.62  205,727,67447  (206,082,488.35)  15,744,653.74
Contribution to pension fund PEFLHE 67,970,269.17  401,307,730.93  (399,382,785.50)  69,895,214.60
Total A%t 488,060,483.62 2,862,149,730.13 (2,919,860,782.00)  430,349,431.75
32. Taxes payable 32. BXHE
RMB
AR®T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
ltem HE 2019%12A31H 2018412 A31H
Corporate income tax EEFTISH 977,012,671.16 1,285,612,434.69
Value-added tax I(EF 721,933,236.77 848,008,328.66
Individual income tax (EPNZIR S 219,970,981.88 225,248,076.47
Property tax EER 11,161,834.32 16,868,256.01
City maintenance and construction tax T M IR R 7,079,202.79 6,936,202.42
Stamp duty ENFERR 17,347,883.76 12,628,700.49
Land use tax T b E AR 9,262,341.18 11,994,962.25
Educational surtax HEEN M 5,787,532.86 5,303,372.75
Other taxes EAbAi1E 95,029,079.98 94,194,308.63
Total A3t 2,064,584,764.70 2,506,794,642.37

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 70 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED h - BHEBEHRERTITEIEBFEE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
33. Other payables 33. HMEMNR
RMB
ARET

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Item IHH 2019%12H31H 2018412 A31H
Interest payable FERTFE 86,402,649.03 101,293,322.06
Dividend payable JEAH A 305,265,323.14 295,006,756.48
Other payables EAFER 6,119,334,670.68 6,105,873,014.18
Total AEf 6,511,002,642.85 6,502,173,092.72
Interest payable FE(T 72
RMB
AR¥T
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Item HE 2019512 H318 20184 12A31H
Interest on medium term notes FREAREA B 63,063,074.22 69,650,476.72
Interest on borrowings BEHF B 23,339,574.81 31,642,845.34
Total A3t 86,402,649.03 101,293,322.06
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31 HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHUBRERETZIEEFE(E)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. Other payables (Continued) 33. HbEARK(E)

Dividend payable

Item

THH

Dividend payable on ordinary shares
Interest payable on perpetual bonds (Note)

A s A A
R EERES (R

FERIRFY

31 December 2019

2019%12H31H

245,005,493.84
60,259,829.30

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

235,721,872.26
59,284,884.22

Total Ll 305,265,323.14 295,006,756.48
Other payables HE b7
RMB
AR®T
EX N YT [ ST IR 31 December 2018
Nature e 2019 12A31H 2018%F12A31H
Guarantees and deposits RESEHRS 1,983,323,781.13 1,918,503,603.48
Sales discount SHEYTE 563,936,754.18 717,852,252.23
After-sale expenses and repair and
maintenance expenses R NEIREES 405,156,107.97 375,407,604.95
Technology development expenses RinFAEE 426,634,376.02 321,350,415.35
Commission lliten 327,229,694.22 247,526,444.86
Payables for purchase of construction and  [E{f T2z &
fixed assets &l E B AR 263,043,363.50 360,512,406.31
Transportation expenses EE 107,004,319.66 94,178,369.00
Others Hib 2,043,006,274.00 2,070,541,918.00
Total At 6,119,334,670.68  6,105,873,014.18

Note: On 31 December 2019, Weichai International Hong Kong Energy Group
Co., Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, confirmed the distribution
of coupon interest in the amount of RMB60,259,829.30 to holders of
perpetual bonds on 14 March 2020, as stipulated in relevant agreements.

i R2019612H31H » KRE]ZFAAE]
MELEEIBR (B8 ) BEIFE BB IR A %A
TR #ATE - BRI 20209F3 A 14
H [k B & A2 R E AR EBEEEZEA

E#60,259,829.30T °

R2019F12A31H » HHRE —F LU L
B EZE M E M ER 0 (20184F 12 A 31
H :fE) -

As at 31 December 2019, there were no other payables in significant
amount aging over one year (31 December 2018: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES TOo KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED f - EHEBRERETZIEEFE(E)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34. Non-current liabilities due within one year 34. —FRIBHFRBERE
RMB
AR®T
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 31 December 2018
Item EH 2019%12A31H 2019F1718 2018%F12A31H
Long-term payables due within one year — —ERZ|HORBENT 1,340,539,689.35 166,722,464.63 5,029,290,418.61
Long-term borrowings due within one
year —FRIHNREBER 3,300,247,072.58 1,869,408,950.00 1,869,408,950.00
Lease liabilities due within one year —FRIENHEAR 3,798,393,534.74 5,529,206,378.87
Bonds payable due within one year —ERFIEBNERES 2,786,461,065.40 - -
Other non-current liabilities due within
one year —ERIENEMIERTAE 1,772,719,525.50 - -
Total &t 12,998,360,887.57 7,565,337,793.50 6,898,699,368.61
Long-term borrowings due within one
year include: Heb - —FRIBORBE
Guaranteed loans (Note V.36 REET (7R 36
-Note2,4,56,89 11,12 22:4°56:8:9:11+12) 2,795,627,072.58 - -
Credit loans RRER 350,000,000.00 1,777,413,450.00 1,777,413,450.00
Mortgage loans (Note V.36 - Note 13, 14) {EIRER (M7 - 36+ i£13 14) 153,620,000.00 90,995,500.00 90,995,500.00
Other loans (Note /.36 - Note 15) EMER R 36 #15) 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00
35. Other current liabilities 35. HitREBERE
RMB
ARBT

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Item IHH 2019%12HA31H 2018412 H31H
Product quality assurance deposit EREERES 3,129,123,318.32 3,093,569,889.51
Lease borrowings AEEZ 3,036,978,252.00 2,411,828,418.50
Others Hih 551,752,042.48 616,401,042.15
Total &5 6,717,853,612.80 6,121,799,350.16
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ES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

V. NoTES 170 KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
36. Long-term borrowings

B ISR RME(EE)
2019F 12 A31HIEFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

36. RHEIER

31 December 2019

2019 12H31H

6,833,296,369.13
3,998,004,870.00
395,356,751.45
147,000,000.00

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

200,000,000.00
10,011,535,482.40
548,976,751.45
148,000,000.00

Item 18

Guaranteed loans (Note 1 - 12) REBER(FE1~12)
Credit loans ERER

Mortgage loans (Note 13, 14) EHER(GL13 - 14)
Other loans (Note 15) HAER(5F15)
Total &5

11,373,657,990.58

10,908,512,233.85

Long-term borrowings are classified according to maturity dates as

follows:
Maturity EIERH
Due within 1 year 1A EA
Due within 1 to 2 years 122F A2 H
Due within 2 to 5 years 25|5F AR H
Due over 5 years S E

REMEFIRZD AR DT

31 December 2019

2019 12H31H

3,300,247,072.58
2,091,064,663.00
8,888,193,327.58

394,400,000.00

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

1,869,408,950.00
2,808,386,962.40
7,941,125,271.45

159,000,000.00

Sub-total Nat
Less: Long-term borrowings classified as B D BEAE—FA
due within one year FHIR R

14,673,905,063.16  12,777,921,183.85

3,300,247,072.58 1,869,408,950.00

Total A&t

11,373,657,990.58  10,908,512,233.85

As at 31 December 2019, the above loans carried interest at rates
ranging from 0.53% to 5.05% (31 December 2018: 1.20% to
5.05%) per annum.

266 WEICHAI PoWwER Co., LTD. L@ NBRMNERAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) AP ERERMISE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2019F 12 H31HILFE

V. NoTES 7o KEY ITEMS oF CONSOLIDATED - BHIFREEZBIEEFEGE)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

H . £k (43
36. Long-term borrowings (Continued) 36. REIER(E)
Note 1:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR353,000,000.00 equivalent i1 R2019F12H31H » KEEZHF

to RMB2,758,871,500.00 under long term borrowings (31 December
2018: Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong)
International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from
China Development Bank, for which the Company provided guarantee
for joint liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature on 15 October
2024.

RMB684,915,000.15 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, for which the Company
provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long term borrowings will
mature in stages on 7 November 2024. Among others, an amount of
USD49,090,000.00 equivalent to RMB342,457,500.08 (31 December
2018: Nil) will mature within one year.

B T 353,000,000.00 © #1 & A R ¥
2,758,871,500.00 7t (2018 4F 12 A 31
H : #) BERFERTAARGZF
RAJHEEE) ) (BE) BIRR SR AR 2 Al
TEHBIE A - AR R HEEE TR
FIEIR o ZERAIEAXGR20244F 10
H158 28] -

Note 2:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR 263,500,000.00 equivalent i#2: R2019F 1231 H » KEEZHF
to RMB2,059,384,250.00 under long term borrowings (31 December Bt 7T 263,500,000.00 @ #7 & A & #
2018: Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) 2,059,384,250.00 7T (2018 4F 12 H 31
International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from B - %) BBATIRITH B 21T F1 AR
ANZ Singapore, for which the Company provided guarantee for joint REZ FR AT 7 (BE) B #
liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature in stages on 21 November RER A G A B - AL A]fE
2022. Among others, an amount of EUR62,000,000.00 equivalent to BRI REER - ZERBEX
RMB484,561,000.00 (31 December 2018: Nil) will mature within one HR2022F 11 A21 HFI 7 B9 7 45 -
year. H Al 71.62,000,000.00 * HrE A KK
484,561,000.007C (2018 12 H31H -
)R —ERTIE -
Note 3:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR129,000,000.00, equivalent i#3: R2019F 1231 H » KEEZHF
to RMB1,008,199,500.00 under long term borrowings (31 December Bt 7T 129,000,000.00 @ #7 & A K #
2018: Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) 1,008,199,500.00 7t (2018 4F 12 A 31
International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from B : ) 3% BRTT(58) R 2 Al
Bank Of China (Hong Kong) Limited, for which the Company provided ARFZFR AR ) (B8 B
guarantee for joint liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature in RARAFRERER - AR AR
stages on 28 October 2024. Among others, no amount will mature within HEEFREER - ZERBELAR
one year. 20244F 10 A28 H Fi 57 BiZI B - B
—FRTEEHE
Note 4:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR120,000,000.00 equivalent 4 R2019F 12 A31H  KEEZHF
to RMB937,860,000.00 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018: Bl 7T 120,000,000.00 * #f & A & #
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International 937,860,000.007C (20184 124314 :
Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from China /) BEIRFARRITAARRZ FAA
Development Bank, for which the Company provided guarantee for joint HEeB) 71 (B8 ) Bl RIR B IR A AlHE
liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature within one year. BB - AL AR E R E REE
R+ AR —ERTIE -
Note 5:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of USD98, 180,000.00 equivalent to i#5: R2019F 1231 H » KEEZHF

ZE JL 98,180,000.00 + #T & A R
684,915,000.157C (2018412 A31H -
) BB TR R7T (M) BR A AR
AREZFREIHEEE S (FE) BB
HREBRLEIRHAES + AALAE]
FEREBEFT(FIRFIER - ZERLE
FHER2024F 11 57 H B 73 B2 45
H £ 77.49,090,000.00 @ #7 4 A R
342,457,500.087L(2018%F 124314 -
HE) AR — R EHE -
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NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

36.

WEICHAI PoweER Co., LTD.

Long-term borrowings (Continued)
Note 6:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR68,629,000.00 equivalent to

RMB536,369,949.50 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.a r.1.,
a subsidiary of the Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China (Asia) Limited, for which Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd. provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The loan(s)
will mature within one year.

Note 7:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR55,000,000 equivalent to

RMB429,852,500.00 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from China
Development Bank, for which the Company provided guarantee for joint
liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature on 25 June 2021.

Note 8:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR42,500,000.00 equivalent to

RMB332,158,750.00 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from The Export-
import Bank of China, for which the Company provided guarantee for
joint liabilities. The long term borrowings will mature in stages on 21
June 2023. Among others, an amount of EUR8,000,000.00 equivalent to
RMB62,524,000.00 (31 December 2018: Nil) will mature within one year.

Note 9:As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR41,667,000.00 equivalent

to RMB325,648,438.50 under long term borrowings (31 December
2018: Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai (Germany) Real Estate GmbH,
a subsidiary of the Company, from Bank of China Frankfurt Branch, for
which the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long term
borrowings will mature in stages on 13 January 2022. Among others, an
amount of EUR16,666,000.00 equivalent to RMB130,253,123.00 (31
December 2018: Nil) will mature within one year.

Note 10: As at 31 December 2019, an amount of GBP27,767,540.78 equivalent to

RMB254,062,053.56 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Luxembourg Branch, for which
the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long term
borrowings will mature on 2 December 2024.
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B 5 ¥R R it 5E (78)

2019F12A31HILFE

h - SHIBHRETEZIREFRE(E)

36.
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16 -

37

18 :

19 -

10 ¢

R2019F 12 A31H » KREEHF
B L 68,629,000.00 + #T & A K ¥
536,369,949.507T (20184F 12 A31H :
) BB T ERTT (M) BR A AR
ARB]ZFRAIHSEE) ) (ERE) R
BRAGIERIGERN + AARNAZ FA
FJHE5EE) 7 (%) B R A R 2 7]42
HHEF R (TIREER - AR —FAE
gﬁ °

2019 12 A31 H » K HE#
&1 B 7T 55,000,000 @ # A& A K&
429,852,500.007T (20184 12 A31A :
) BEIRFAZERITAARALZ FAA]
HELEB) 7 (B ) BB R B IR A Al
HJE » AR AR E A (T RBIE
R o ZERAIEN 202166 725H
FHE -

R20194% 12 A31H - RHEE#Z+
Bl 7T 42,500,000.00 © # A& A K ¥
332,158,750.00 7t (2018 % 12 A 31
A : ) BF B # 4 O08R 77 R AR A
ZFRAHEE T (BE) B ERE
BRRAGIIEHBER - BARA]IE
HEEEMIRFER - ZERHE
AR 20234F6 521 H BT 5 B2 A
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R20194 12 A31H - KHE#+
Bl 7T 41,667,000.00 -+ # A& A K ¥
325,648,438.50 7T (2018 % 12 A 31
H : ) BHERTER 28577 A
AREZFREIHL(ZE)FHE
BRAGIRHBER - AR AIIEH#
EEEMRFER -ZERPEN
HR2022F1 A 1305 7 B 58 - &
&1 B TT 16,666,000.00 © #7 A& A B #
130,253,123.007T (2018412 A31A :
JE) R —FAZE] -

R2019% 12 F31H - KHEZ+
ZE 4§45 27,767,540.78 © A A R
254,062,053.567T (20184 12 A31A :
1) BHE T B iRITERESTTAAR
A2 F RG] HEEE) (B F) B E
BIRRAEHEL + AR AR
HEITIREER - ZERHBEHAER
2024F1252HFH -
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V.

NoTES TO KEY ITEMS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Long-term borrowings (Continued)

36.

Note 11:

Note 12:

Note 13:

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of RMB200,000,000.00 under
longterm borrowings (31 December 2018: RMB200,000,000.00) was
loan(s) provided to Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from the Shaanxi branch of The Export-import Bank of
China, for which the Shaanxi branch of the Bank of Communications
provided guarantee for joint liabilities by the pledge of fixed deposit of
RMB220,000,000.00 to the Xi‘an Tianshuifing Street branch of the Bank
of Communications. The loan(s) will mature within one year.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of EUR13,000,000.00 equivalent to
RMB101,601,500.00 under long term borrowings (31 December 2018:
Nil) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.a
r.l., a subsidiary of the Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China Limited, for which Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd. provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The loan(s)
will mature within one year.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of RMB528,976,751.45 under
long-term borrowings (31 December 2018: RMB619,972,251.45) was
loan provided to Chongqging Automotive, from the Chongqing Branch
of China Construction Bank Corporation and Shandong Heavy Industry
Group Finance Co., Ltd., and secured by the assets under phase one light-
duty vehicle project of the Company, as stipulated in the loan agreement.
As at 31 December 2019, the assets already invested in the project
included fixed assets with a carrying amount of RMB441,400,511.49
and intangible assets with a carrying amount of RMB242,181,694.04.
The long-term borrowings will mature in stages by 20 September 2024.
Among others, an amount of RMB133,620,000.00 (31 December 2018:
RMB90,995,500.00) will mature within one year.
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Note 14:

Note 15:

As at 31 December 2019, mortgage loans amounting to
RMB20,000,000.00 under long-term borrowings (31 December 2018:
RMB20,000,000.00) were loans provided to Shaanxi Jinding Casting
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, from Rural Credit Cooperative
of Qishan County, Shaanxi Province, and secured by machinery and
equipment with a carrying amount of RMB43,849,214.71 which will be
due within one year (31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of RMB148,000,000.00 under long-
term borrowings (31 December 2018: RMB149,000,000.00) was loan(s)
provided to Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
from CDB Capital Co., Ltd., and the loan agreed in the loan agreement
were used in medium-duty and light-duty gear boxes and new energy
transmission system projects. This long-term borrowing will mature
in stages by 22 October 2030. Among others, RMB1,000,000.00 (31
December 2018: RMB1,000,000.00) will mature within one year.

37. Bonds payable

31 December 2019

#20,000,000.007T &9 # (& 50 (2018
F12H31H AR 20,000,000.00
TT) BB E 1 &R E A E (EH
HEARAZ FRABIKE LRSS
BAFHEHBEFL - LA EEAR
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- WAR—F AR (2018F 12 H31
H : ) -

15 R2019F 12 A31H » RAEFHAR

# 148,000,000.007T (2018 4F 12 A 31
A : A #149,000,000.007T ) A EF
BRELHRRFAARES TR AP
i+ SR ERET R AJRHAE
A B GEAITZEESFR AR
BB RFBERBEZFEE - ZER
HifE A6 R 20304 10 522 A B 5 B %
B - B A K 1,000,000.00T (2018
F12H31H : 1,000,000.007C ) #1—
FERFH

eI &S

RMB
AR

31 December 2018
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Bonds payable ERES 10,295,279,995.18  12,265,020,075.27
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37. Bonds payable (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, balance of bonds payable are listed as
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subsidiary of the Company, issued corporate bonds with registered
amount of USD400 million on 30 September 2015, nominal
interest rate of 4.125%, maturity of 5 years and interest payable
at every six months.
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follows: REAR
RMB
AR®T
Exchange gains
and losses/ Less: bonds
Atthe Fair value adjustment due within
Bond beginning  Issued during  Accrued interest hedging forexchange  Repaid during one year At the end
Item Facevalue Issuing date period  Issued amount of year theyear duringtheyear  adjustments  Amortization differences theyear  (Note V. 34) of year
R -ERIAN
EiEs
L E58R i | 88 AEHEAE faERE  EXEEER
Medium-tem note 7,367,344,000.00 2 feb2017 Note (1) 7,344,731,360.00 7,913,028984.80 - §7,19868153 - 455179200 (31,998,919.30) - 7,885,581,857.50 1
BEEE 07227218 )
Medium-tem note 1,504,120,000.00 Jun 2018 Tyears 1,500,359,700.00 1,615,657,055.11 - 15091914 1953381470 77280000 (6,307,65263)  (160,248,500.00) - 146940751718 ]
RERE 018567 13
Medium-tem note 906,834,800.00 Apr2019 Tyears  905,254,424.00 905,254,424.00  10,403,407.05 - 162,288.00  34,873,908.50 940,290,620.50 3
RERE M9547 1
Corporate bonds 254452000000 30 Sept 2015 Syears 252231795403 2,736,334,035.36 - 113,718,000.00 - 500594978 45,061,080.26 - 1,786,461,065.40 - 4
LxEx 5597308 5
Total
Ait 12,322,818,800.00 12,02,66343803 1226502007507 90525442400  26817,280.00 1953381470 1055282978 4162841683 (160,248,500.00) 2,786,461,065.40 10,295,279,995.18

Note 1:KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes id1: KRE]ZFRAKION - 2017462 A
with total par value of EUR1,010 million on 21 February 2017, 21 H 77 EAEFE 73 10.1 (& B T 69
which will mature in May 2022, April 2024 and April 2027, at HEIZNE - 5 FIR20224F5A 2024
floating interest rate based on EURIBOR (Euro Interbank Offered F4 2027 F4 8 F|H - FllE A
Rate). EURIBOR(BXTTER7T R F HF 15 FI%) 192t

ERNFEIFE o

Note 2:KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes 2 ARAELZFRAIKION © R20184F6 4 %
with total par value of EUR200 million in June 2018 with bond TTREBER2IEB TR ER - &
period of 7 years. Nominal amount of EUR100 million of such FHIRB7F - ZEIEH 1SR T E#E
notes are at floating interest rate based on EURIBOR while the FlIZ 73 LAEURIBOR ([ 7T #R 77 [6] % #r 15
other nominal amount of EUR100 million are at fixed interest rate. FIE) BEERFEFIE - S1{EBT

[ETFE T3 13 BLEFIE -

Note 